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Chairman’s Statement

TR EGA

Following the recovery of global economy and the alleviation
in regional warfare and political tension in 2024, here comes
a wave of tariffs trade wars initiated by the United States in
2025, obscuring economic development around the globe with
uncertainties.

The Group’s shopping malls will continue to optimize their facilities
and management. Through mobile network media and multi-
faceted on-site promotional activities to increase consumer flow
of the shopping malls, the Group will reinforce the revenue of our
tenants and seize the domestic consumer market opportunities
in China. Certain businesses of our tenants are oriented towards
overseas markets. The Group will provide appropriate support to
such tenants in line with national policies with an aim to mitigate
the negative impact of international tariffs war on such merchants.

The export of our flooring materials trading business to the United
States has been under pressure due to the tariffs war. The Group
will closely monitor the development of the situation and adjust its
strategy in a timely manner to actively explore the markets in China
and outside the United States.

Continual progress was made last year in debt restructuring and
asset allocation. Looking forward, we expect a due handling of the
contingent liabilities related to our investment properties in China
in 2025 in order to reflect the intrinsic value of these assets to a
greater extent.

Lastly, | would like to sincerely thank the shareholders,
stakeholders, clients, the professional parties, our directors and our
staff for their support and collaboration over the last year.

Tai United Holdings Limited
Su Shigong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E W ST

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The revenue of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024 (the “Year”) was approximately HK$120.5 million,
representing a significant decrease of 43.1% as compared to
revenue of approximately HK$211.8 million after reclassification
for the year ended 31 December 2023, such decreased was
mainly due to decrease in revenue generated from (i) sales of
medical equipment; and (ii) sales of flooring materials of the
Group. Revenue decreased, so the Company actively implemented
continuous cost saving plan, the Group recorded a loss before tax
of approximately HK$905.3 million during the Year, decreased by
33.8% as compared with the loss before tax of HK$1,366.6 million
in the year ended 31 December 2023, with the combined effect of:

(i)  adecrease in fair value of investment properties in the PRC of
approximately HK$355.9 million;

(i) sale of UK Investment Properties in December this year
recorded loss of approximately HK$30.2 million;

(i) finance costs of approximately HK$163.5 million for the Year,
representing a slight decrease from approximately HK$173.1
million during the year ended 31 December 2023, which was
due to the bank loans of approximately RMB1,345 million in
connection to the acquisition of Guangzhou Shopping Mall (as
defined below); and

(iv) provision for guarantee contracts of approximately HK$329.3
million during the Year, which was due to guarantees
provided by immediate holding companies of the Guangzhou
Shopping Mall and Jinzhou Shopping Mall (as defined below).
The guarantees were provided to onshore banks in the PRC
in relation to third party loans and such guarantees were not
disclosed to the Group by the seller at the time of acquisition
of the holding companies of the two shopping malls.

Income tax credit for the Year was approximately HK$145.6 million
(2023: approximately HK$197.4 million).

Taking into account the income tax mentioned above and
netting of non-controlling interests, the Group recorded the
loss attributable to owners of the Company decreased from
approximately HK$1,168.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately HK$760.3 million for the Year.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

BRI

HE_Z-_mWE+_A=+—RAItFE(XFR])
AARHRELHA1205888 T REEZE-S =
FH+Z A=+ HLFEEHHEENKEL211.8
AEBTAEBRL43.1% c BRI TIEhNAE
ER()HEBESEEENRA  Ki)iHE IR
BHER A ATE - Wasimd - B AR BB RE
BEKAOTE  REEBRAFNERFBRF AT
EER0053EBA T  REE T -_=F+_A
=t+—HIEFERBAEE366.68 &8 TR
33.8% ' WIHARUTEXRLGAFEME

() AFHREREYMELABERDLIZS5.908TT

(i) HEREMERRF+ - AEHEBEEELY
A302B 88T

(iy AFEARUWBEEMNEDTL(EERLTX)E
EHOARE1,345HETRITEFBEEE 2
SR ATERERNLI635BEBT KT
=+ A=+ HIEFENNITZIEHE
BT AR &

(iv) RNFEARERSOELRL3293BE BT 2
> ZERERIAEMNBEDSORBMNEDD
D CEER T MERER AR RS EIRAR
TRE=ZTERREHOER MESTEAEE
WERRBEDDONZERARRRERAEE
REZEER -

AFERNFERIEEN1456B8B (T _=4F :
#4197 4B 8AETT) °

ST A AP AR SO £ IR i - AR E 8RS
AABEBEARGBEREE S _=F+=A4
=t+—HIEFANLI,168.0EEB TRV EARFNA
KI49760.3E &L °



Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
investment, flooring materials and medical equipment trading,
mining and exploitation of natural resources, and financial services
and assets management.

(1) Property Investment

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC

The Group wholly owns three shopping malls in the PRC,
including: (i) a single-storey underground mall (“Jinzhou
Shopping Mall”) located in Jinzhou, Liaoning Province,
the PRC, which is engaged in the shopping mall business
("Jinzhou Shopping Mall Business”); (ii) a two-storey
underground mall (“Guangzhou Shopping Mall”) located in
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, the PRC, which is engaged
in the shopping mall business (“Guangzhou Shopping Mall
Business”); and (iii) a two-storey underground mall (the
“Anyang Shopping Mall”) located in Anyang city, Hunan
Province, the PRC, which is engaged in the shopping mall
business (“Anyang Shopping Mall Business”).

Anyang Shopping Mall Business, together with Jinzhou
Shopping Mall Business and Guangzhou Shopping Mall
Business are the “Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC".

The business and operating model of the Jinzhou Shopping
Mall, Guangzhou Shopping Mall and Anyang Shopping
Mall primarily involves the leasing of stores to retailers and
wholesalers of apparels, accessories, household appliances
and food and beverage and other venue areas in the
shopping malls for marketing and promotional activities.
It derives revenue from rental income and the provision of
property management services to tenants, including mall
security, maintenance and repair and management of the
operations of the three shopping malls. The Company
holds the three shopping malls as investment properties
and conducts day-to-day operations primarily in leasing and
property management services which generate rental and
property management incomes.

IR

AEBTZREMERE RV HRERREE
5 FREEWERRAER  ReRREIEEERE
e

(1) MERE
BT

AEBEFEZERE =EBEYTL - BF()
EhEEEEG SN —EEE TS (@M
B WHEEBYH OB (THRMNED
ROEK ] ()VEPBERSEEMNT —ERE
S ((EMNBYFL])  TREEDH O
i (IREMBWHOER D) © RiEP B
BrEm—ELEL TEYHL((REBYH
M) UREBBFYHOES ([ REBYHOE
%) -

ZEBEWHOER  BZRBMNBYHOER
REMNBYTORY - SR FEBEYHOE
%l e

SINEEIR L - BEMEWTORZZEDF L
MEBRCEENEZ S RARE - B X
EARUERGEER s ZERRILENHEE
EE LB DR EMEAT - LUETTE R
HEETY - EEAS WA RARAFIREDES
BR%(BREESEE  G#EREE B
REY RO EE ) ERURES - ARAFRAE=
MEMPOMERREMERFREES RAE
EYEEBRREHAEEE  EEMSRME
BEERA -

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR

7



Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

¥KEEE e
(1) MERESR)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued)

In addition, as to the Guangzhou Shopping Mall, under
certain contracts with its tenants, the operating rights of the
stores may be transferred to them after a specified period of
the lease. This and the sales promotion and leasing activities
by the leasing team of the Guangzhou Shopping Mall
generate additional revenue from the transfer of operating
rights of the stores. For the Year, there was no further
completion of pre-existing contracts prior to the acquisition
of the holding company of the Guangzhou Shopping Mall in
2021, which led to no revenue recorded (2023: Nil) from the
transfer of the operating rights of store units of the mall.

The Group has been undertaking a diversified business
strategy. The acquisitions of three shopping malls in Anyang,
Jinzhou and Guangzhou that completed in 2021 are in
line with the strategic development of the Group and have
provided an opportunity for the Group to widen its shopping
malls network, expand the geographical coverage and scale
up its shopping mall businesses. It is expected that the
promotional campaigns, marketing activities and branding of
the shopping malls of the Group will become more effective
and cost-efficient. Anyang Shopping Mall is located in the
central region of the PRC while the shopping malls in Jinzhou
and Guangzhou are located in the north-eastern region and
southern region of the PRC respectively. The acquisitions
have allowed the Group’s shopping mall network to have
a strategic presence in central, north-eastern and southern
regions of the PRC and expand geographically across the
above regions in the PRC and potentially grow its market
share.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

HERIEY 0 FETE ()

ok - SEMED R OME - REBEEEHEPH
ETAY  mEmCERTRETHGEE
ZHEMEMEP - B RENEDFONTHEE
EBGETHIEHERAE RS EL R R
FAELE BN - RAFR  R-F
——FREENED P ORI AT 2 AT ST
MEEB A KNS BE—FTEAER - BEUS AR
BEEEVTOAMCERBELERS(ZS
ZEF ) o

AEBE-BERDZTTCEBRE - WEZ
5 SN REMN=EBYT L2 ERER-F
ZFEK ENAAEERRIEER - AL
RASBERHEEEURRBY T OME RIEX
HBEWHOEBN R SESHELRE - 7S
AREBEBYHONHERLS - EHEE RmiE
HREE RBRAERAN R - ZEEWH O
RrpA AR B AR BRI - TSR M AN BB
DRI B b ih [ N F Al & - UKBB IR
BEAEENBEYH OBBEDE DL - R
@ K BRI R R A S L - WA R |k
L3 [ 1T 30 IS PR OR e AT RE SR N AL T 5 10
BB o



Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) KO
(1) Property Investment (Continued) (1) MERE®)
Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued) HEEY O FE R ()

The Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC primarily involve the
leasing and management of operations of Anyang Shopping
Mall, Jinzhou Shopping Mall and Guangzhou Shopping Mall.
As of 31 December 2024, details of the three shopping malls
are set out as follows:

FREVPOESEENEHERERLGE
YRRy~ SR BE YR 0 BN BE R 0 2 EE T
EE -HET-_MF+_A=+—H =&
B OFEENAT

Gross Leasable Leased
Shopping Mall Floor Area Floor Area Floor Area
AT [=F:1]
B BEEE EHEE BEEE
(approximately  (approximately  (approximately
sq.m.) sg.m.) sg.m.)
(475 K) (HF75K) (HFFK)
Anyang Shopping Mall RIFBM PO
Anyang Diyi Shopping Street PR 25t — Y EEY
Shopping Mall in the PRC VI 25,310 24,815 15,843
Jinzhou Shopping Mall SRINEEH P s
Jinzhou First Tunnel Shopping Mall FR ISR i — KB R YI L
in the PRC 40,765 38,809 25,008
Guangzhou Shopping Mall BEMNEE s
Guangzhou First Tunnel Shopping Mall PR E N — KB
in the PRC Phases 1 and 2 RO —HI R —H 89,415 38,879 21,746

For the Year, the revenue generated from the Shopping Mall
Businesses in the PRC was mainly attributable to the rental
income and property management and related service income
from shops and venue spaces tenants of approximately
HK$74.6 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the fair values of investment
properties of Anyang Shopping Mall, Jinzhou Shopping Mall
and Guangzhou Shopping Mall amounted to approximately
HK$271.9 million, approximately HK$518.9 million and
approximately HK$540.5 million respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued)
Litigation Claims, Alleged Guarantees and Pledges

In 2023, the Company became aware of litigation claims
that had been brought in the PRC by two onshore banks
against among others, Jinzhou Jiachi, Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Longain Park Limited (£ % A B2 ‘A &) (“Longain”), all
of which are subsidiaries of the Company. Each of Jinzhou
Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi was alleged to have provided
guarantees as one of the guarantors of, or pledges against
operating rights of underground shopping malls (i.e. the
Jinzhou Shopping Mall and the Guangzhou Shopping Mall)
as one of the pledgers of, bank loans taken out by third party
companies. Longain was alleged to have provided a pledge
against the entire equity interest in Guangzhou Rongzhi
for a bank loan taken out by Guangzhou Rongzhi. As at 31
December 2023, the principal amount of the defaulted bank
loan by the Borrowers was amounted to RMB7,269,900,000
(the “Overdue Amount”). The Company also noted that
onshore bank deposits of Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou
Rongzhi have been frozen pursuant to a civil ruling relating to
one of the aforementioned litigation claims.

Subsequently, the relevant PRC court(s) handed down
judgments regarding five of such litigation claims ordering
the defendants thereto (including, without limitation, Jinzhou
Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi) to pay judgment amounts to
the plaintiff.

At the prevailing times of the above alleged events, neither
Jinzhou Jiachi, Guangzhou Rongzhi nor Longain were
subsidiaries of the Company. The Group acquired the entire
equity interest and/or shareholding interest in Jinzhou Jiachi,
Guangzhou Rongzhi and Longain through an acquisition that
completed in April 2021.

In 2023, the Company also became aware of a litigation
that had been brought in the PRC by a former supplier of
the Group against Jinzhou Jiachi for failing to settle a small
portion of the aggregate construction fees due.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

¥KEEE e
(1) MERESR)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued)
Litigation Claims, Alleged Guarantees and Pledges (Continued)

For further details regarding the aforementioned litigation
claims, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 February 2023, 9 March 2023, 28 March 2023, 4
April 2023, 14 July 2023, 26 July 2023, 13 October 2023, 29
November 2023 and 12 December 2023.

During the year, each of Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou
Rongzhi received notices for enforcement ( ¥ 7 i@ &0 & ),
disclosure orders to report conditions of financials (¥R & B4 &
%) and rulings for enforcement (#11T#7E &) relating to three
judgments handed down earlier regarding the aforementioned
litigation claims from the relevant PRC courts. Such documents
state that, among others, the respective judgments have
become effective and the defendants thereto should pay the
enforcement amount to the relevant PRC courts.

During the Year, the relevant PRC court(s) handed down
judgments regarding six of such litigation claims order the
defendants thereto (including, without limitation, Jinzhou
Jiachi and Guangzhou Rongzhi) to pay judgment amounts
to the plaintiff. Each of Jinzhou Jiachi and Guangzhou
Rongzhi also became aware that their onshore bank deposits
have been withdrawn and transferred to accounts maintain
by court in the PRC for the purpose of enforcing court
judgments. As at the date of this report, an aggregate
amount of approximately RMB10.8 million onshore deposits
have been frozen and approximately RMB41.4 million have
been withdrawn and transferred to accounts maintained by
the court in the PRC.

During the Year, Guangzhou Rongzhi received a letter from
the Claimant Bank (as defined in the announcement of the
Company dated 13 February 2023) requiring Guangzhou
Rongzhi to repay an aggregate of approximately RMB1.7
billion within five days of such letter for settlement of the
Guangzhou Bank Loan.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued)
Litigation Claims, Alleged Guarantees and Pledges (Continued)

For further details regarding the aforementioned events,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 5
February 2024, 4 March 2024, 20 March 2024, 3 April 2024,
22 April 2024, 30 April 2024, 10 May 2024, 21 May 2024,
29 October 2024 and 10 December 2024. PRC legal counsel
has been engaged to advise on the said litigation claims. The
Group reserves all rights and remedies it may have against
seller of Jinzhou Jiachi, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Longain and
other relevant parties.

During the Year, Guangzhou Rongzhi received a notice
for enforcement ( ¥ 17 @ &1 & ) (the “Shenyang Ruifan
Enforcement Notice”) and a disclosure order to report
conditions of financials ( ¥ & 81 & < ) (the “Shenyang
Ruifan Disclosure Order”) from the Intermediate People’s
Court of Shenyang Municipality, Liaoning Province (& % &
&[5 ™ P A RJAFT) in relation to the Shenyang Ruifan
Judgment as referred to in the announcements dated 3 April
2024, 30 April 2024 and 10 May 2024. According to the
Shenyang Ruifan Enforcement Notice, the Shenyang Ruifan
Judgment has become effective, and the relevant PRC court
ordered that the defendants to the said litigation claim
(including, among others, Mr. Dai, other companies in the
PRC and Guangzhou Rongzhi) pay the Other Claimant Bank
a judgment amount in the aggregate of (i) approximately
RMB134.4 million, which is the outstanding principal plus
interest and default interest up to 29 May 2023 payable
pursuant to the Shenyang Ruifan Loan; (i) interest, default
interest and damages accrued from 30 May 2023 up to the
date of payment, subject to the a maximum interest rate of
24% per annum stipulated by the relevant PRC court; and
(iii) execution fees (17T7%#). Pursuant to the Shenyang Ruifan
Disclosure Order, the defendants are also required to report
the current condition of their financials and for the year prior
to the receipt of the Shenyang Ruifan Enforcement Notice to
the relevant PRC court. Should the defendants fail to adhere
to the Shenyang Ruifan Enforcement Notice, the defendants
may face additional consequences, including but not limited
to the recording in credit records and list of dishonest parties
subject to enforcement.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued)
Litigation Claims, Alleged Guarantees and Pledges (Continued)

During the Year, Guangzhou Rongzhi recently received a
notice for enforcement (1778 ANZE) (the “Liaoning Renhe
Enforcement Notice”) and a disclosure order to report
conditions of financials (& B ZE <) (the “Liaoning Renhe
Disclosure Order”) from the Intermediate People’s Court
of Shenyang Municipality, Liaoning Province (& % & /&[5 T
A A RJEBL) in relation to the judgment relating to the
Liaoning Renhe Loan (the “Liaoning Renhe Judgment”)
as referred to in the announcements dated 3 April 2024,
30 April 2024 and 10 May 2024. According to the Liaoning
Renhe Enforcement Notice, the Liaoning Renhe Judgment has
become effective, and the relevant PRC court ordered that
the defendants to the said litigation claim (including, among
others, Mr. Dai, other companies in the PRC and Guangzhou
Rongzhi) pay the Other Claimant Bank a judgment amount in
the aggregate of (i) approximately RMB198.2 million, which
is the outstanding principal plus interest and default interest
up to 29 May 2023 payable pursuant to the Liaoning Renhe
Loan; (ii) interest, default interest and damages accrued from
30 May 2023 up to the date of payment, subject to the a
maximum interest rate of 24% per annum stipulated by the
relevant PRC court; and (jii) execution fees (#1772). Pursuant
to the Liaoning Renhe Disclosure Order, the defendants are
also required to report the current condition of their financials
and for the year prior to the receipt of the Liaoning Renhe
Enforcement Notice to the relevant PRC court.

According to the PRC legal counsel engaged for the purpose
of advising on the relevant litigation claims, the relevant
judgment amount payable by the defendants to the relevant
litigation claims is immediately due upon issuance of the
enforcement notices. Should the defendants fail to adhere to
the enforcement notices, the defendants may face additional
consequences, including but not limited to travel ban,
restrictions on high spendings, public censure and recording
in credit records and list of dishonest parties subject to
enforcement etc.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued)
Litigation Claims, Alleged Guarantees and Pledges (Continued)

As advised by the PRC legal counsel, despite the
aforementioned enforcement notices, the relevant PRC court
is not entitled to taking over the daily operations of the
Guangzhou Shopping Mall pursuant to the Shenyang Ruifan
Enforcement Notice and the Liaoning Renhe Enforcement
Notice. As at the date of this report, to the best knowledge
of the Company and Guangzhou Rongzhi, daily operations
of the Guangzhou Shopping Mall remain normal. However,
notwithstanding (i) Guangzhou Rongzhi is only alleged to
have provided a guarantee for each of the Shenyang Ruifan
Loan and the Liaoning Renhe Loan and the repayment
obligations primarily lie with the borrowers of such loans; (ii)
neither the relevant PRC court nor the enforcement notices
specify the percentage of the respective judgment amount
to be taken up by each defendant to the litigation claims;
and (iii) the enforcement process is still ongoing, in the
unlikely event that Guangzhou Rongzhi is held liable to settle
the entire judgment amount for both claims, the Company
expects there to be an impact on the operating cash flow of
Guangzhou Rongzhi.

Guangzhou Rongzhi will comply with the respective disclosure
orders and collaborate with the relevant PRC court in the
enforcement process. Furthermore, considering all onshore
bank accounts of Guangzhou Rongzhi have been frozen as at
the date of this report, jointly controlled bank account(s) have
been set up by Guangzhou Rongzhi with a bank in the PRC
to support its daily operations.
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BIE R T

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Shopping Mall Businesses in the PRC (Continued)
Litigation Claims, Alleged Guarantees and Pledges (Continued)

Notice of hearing with respect to the Construction
Claimed Amount

During the Year, Jinzhou Jiachi received a notice to attend
a hearing (the “Notice”) from the Higher People’s Court of
Liaoning Province GEZ 4 = A RJAEFT) regarding a retrial
applied by the Former Supplier for Construction Services.
According to the Notice, the Former Supplier for Construction
Services is not satisfied with the initial judgment, and has
applied to the relevant PRC court for a retrial of the case on
the grounds that the initial judgment mis-applied relevant
laws and regulations and was groundless. The relevant PRC
court has invited Jinzhou Jiachi to file, among others, a
written submission within 15 days of receipt of the Notice,
and the date of hearing has not been fixed as at the date of
this report.

Both the Company and Jinzhou Jiachi are seeking legal advice
on the Notice from the PRC legal counsel engaged for the
purpose of advising on the aforementioned litigation claim.

For further details regarding the aforementioned event,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 30
July 2024 and 16 August 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1) Property Investment (Continued)

Real Estate in the UK

The Group held luxury real estate (“UK Investment
Properties”) at 6-9 Buckingham Gate, London, the United
Kingdom, SW1E 69JP, a premium location in central London
within close proximity to the Buckingham Palace. The
property is held leasehold on a term of 999 years from 1
April 2017 with a share of freehold on title NGL852473
(7 Buckingham Gate) and NGL852477 (8 & 9 Buckingham
Gate).

The business and operating model of the UK Investment
Properties involved the leasing and property management of
luxury residential properties in London, which are leased to
high-end tourists and tenants for rental income.

In March 2024, a term loan of the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiary in U.K. was in default. For further details, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 5 March 2024.
The term loan was fully repaid with the proceeds from sale of
the UK Investment Properties as mentioned below.

On 23 April 2024, the Company and C&E Flooring Supply
Limited (the “Purchaser”) entered into the sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to
acquire, all the issued shares of Wide Flourish Investments
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company as of
the date of the sale and purchase agreement) (the “Target
Company”) for a consideration of GBP50,000,000. The
Target Company and its subsidiaries primarily hold and
manages the UK Investment Properties located in London, the
United Kingdom for rental income. The Purchaser is indirectly
wholly-owned by Mr. Pang Da Yong, who is a director of the
subsidiaries of the Target Company and thus the Purchaser is
an associate of Mr. Pang Da Yong and a connected person of
the Company at subsidiary level under the Listing Rules. The
transaction was completed in December 2024. For further
details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated
23 April 2024, 28 June 2024 and 27 December 2024, and
circular dated 11 June 2024.

A net loss of HK$30.2 million is recorded from the sale of
the UK Investment Properties. The revenue generated from
the UK Investment Properties for the Year was approximately
HK$2.3 million, representing a decrease of 32.4% as
compared to approximately HK$3.4 million over the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(1

(2)

Property Investment (Continued)

Real Estate in the UK (Continued)

As such, the overall segment results (excluding loss recognised
on sale of UK Investment Properties) were therefore a
loss of approximately HK$798.1 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 39.2% as compared to the loss
of approximately HK$1,312.9 million in the year ended
31 December 2023. A loss for the year was mainly due to
provision for guarantee contracts of approximately HK$329.3
million, decrease in fair value of China investment properties
of approximately HK$355.9 million, loss of HK$30.2 recorded
for sale of UK properties and finance costs of approximately
HK$161.2 million during the Year, which was due to the
bank loan of approximately RMB1,345 million in connection
to the acquisition of Guangzhou Shopping Mall.

Flooring Materials and Medical Equipment
Trading

The Group's trading business of flooring materials with
overseas customers recorded revenue of approximately
HK$22.3 million for the Year, representing a decrease of
78.9%, as compared to approximately HK$105.6 million over
the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was due to
U.S. and China trade tension. The Group has made sales of
flooring board materials to overseas customers by exporting
to markets including the United States, Australia and Belgium.
Leveraging on the potential synergies with the Group's
Shopping Mall Business in the PRC, we expect to capitalise on
the shopping mall tenants and customer networks to develop
and expand our domestic sales of flooring, ceiling and other
decorative materials.

The Group carries out medical equipment trading and
other commerce business in China for which the majority
customers are hospitals. As the selling products are mostly
general medical equipment, consumable goods and optical
medical devices and the related parts (“Medical Products”),
the Group operates in a highly competitive market. The
revenue for the Year decreased to approximately HK$20.7
million, represented a decrease of 27.4% as compared
with approximately HK$28.5 million of the year ended 31
December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to drop in
sales to hospitals as a results of the government policies of
centralised purchase and adjustments to national medical
insurance. The segment gain for medical equipment trading
and other commerce business for the Year was approximately
HK$2.2 million, as compared to a loss of approximately
HK$4.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

(3)

(4)

Mining and Exploitation of Natural
Resources

Currently, the Group holds four mining right licences
("Mining Rights”) of three tungsten projects in Mongolia.
The segment of mining and exploitation of natural resources
business recorded no revenue during the Year. In view of
various factors including the closure of factories, suspension
of production lines leading to lower market demand, some of
the potential mining partners or investors had limited interest
in investing in this segment during the Year.

The carrying values of the Mining Rights was nil for the Year,
representing a decrease of approximately 100% as compare
to approximately HK$11.0 million over the year ended
31 December 2023. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the value in use is not achievable due to the vast
capital outlay required. An impairment loss of approximately
HK$11 million was recognised during the year ended 31
December 2024 to fully write down the carrying amounts of
the mining rights. The Group is still continuously identifying
potential investors to negotiate the sales of the Mining
Rights.

Financial Services and Assets Management

The segment loss for the Year was approximately HK$4.5
million, compared with the segment loss of approximately
HK$2.2 million after reclassification for the year ended 31
December 2023. The status of each of the business in this
segment is further discussed as below.

Financial Services

The Group holds a money lenders licence in Hong Kong
under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) through a wholly-owned subsidiary.
Due to uncertain market conditions, the commencement of
money lending business will be postponed.

Distressed Debt Assets Management

The business incurred a loss of approximately HK$4.8 million
for the Year, mainly representing the overhead costs of the
business operation, whereas the loss of the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately HK$3.2 million. The
Directors will continue to assess whether the Group should
continue to engage in distressed assets investment.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the consolidated net liabilities of the
Group was approximately HK$1,736.4 million, representing an
increase of approximately HK$769.6 million as compared to that
net liability of approximately HK$966.8 million as at 31 December
2023. There is no shares movement since the end of the last
year. As at 31 December 2023, the Company has 5,250,019,852
shares of HK$0.05 each in issue and the total deficit to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$1,737.2 million (as at 31
December 2023: deficit attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately HK$967.0 million).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank balances and cash
were approximately HK$364.3 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately HK$147.3 million), current assets of approximately
HK$397.5 million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately
HK$212.8 million), current liabilities of approximately HK$3,423.7
million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately HK$3,351.6
million). The current ratio was 0.12 times®™t " (as at 31 December
2023: 0.06 times). As at the end of the Year, the net current
liabilities of the Group were approximately HK$3,026.2 million (as
at 31 December 2023: approximately HK$3,138.7 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the total debt financing of the Group
was approximately HK$1,435.3 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately HK$1,673.5 million), and there was no non-current
debt financing for the Year (as at 31 December 2023: nil).

As at 31 December 2024, net debt®™ote 2 of the Group was
approximately HK$2,269.8 million (as at 31 December 2023 net
debt of approximately HK$2,494.0 million included provision of
financial guarantee contracts and excluded restricted bank deposit)
and the total deficit was approximately HK$1,736.4 million (as at
31 December 2023: total deficit was approximately HK$966.8
million). Therefore, the gearing ratio™°2 as at the end of the Year
was -0.83 (as at 31 December 2023: -1.73).

Notes:
1. Current ratio = Current assets/Current liabilities

2. Net debt = Borrowings included provision of financial guarantee
contracts — Bank balances and cash, excluded restricted bank deposit

3. Gearing ratio = Total interest-bearing borrowings/Total equity
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (Continued)

The objective of the Group’s funding and treasury management
activities is to ensure a sufficient liquidity to meet operational
needs and various investment plans.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no material capital
commitments and was not engaged in any future plans concerning
major investment or acquisition of capital assets (as at 31
December 2023: nil).

Charges on Group Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of
approximately HK$1,430.0 million were secured by certain assets
of the Group, including investment properties and the equity
interest of a wholly-owned subsidiary (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately HK$1,668.2 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired
Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi (collectively referred to
as the “PRC Subsidiaries”) through the acquisition of their
immediate holding company, Sky Build Limited and Superb Power
Enterprises Limited (the “Acquisition”), respectively, from their
shareholder (the “Predecessor Shareholder”).

In 2023, several legal claims were filed against the PRC Subsidiaries
mainly due to the fact that the PRC Subsidiaries pledged the
operating rights of its investment properties (the “Pledges”) to
secured bank loans granted to several companies related to the
Predecessor Shareholder (the “Borrowers”) together with other
guarantors and/or pledgors. The Borrowers defaulted bank loan
repayment. As at 31 December 2024, the principal of the defaulted
bank loan by the Borrowers was amounted to RMB3,400,000,000
(the “Overdue Amount”).

The Pledges were allegedly originated prior to the Acquisition
and the board of directors at the date of the Acquisition has no
knowledge for the Securities. Therefore, no disclosure of pledge
of assets contracts was made in the completion account as of the
Acquisition date.

Since the Pledges were entered into prior to the Acquisition, the
existing board of directors of the Group are unable to ensure the
completeness of the information in relation to pledged assets
contracts entered into.

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated 28

March 2023, 4 April 2023, 29 November 2023, 12 December
2023, 5 February 2024 and 4 March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIE R T

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Contingent Liabilities

During the period from November 2018 to July 2019, two
of the Group's subsidiaries, namely Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Jinzhou Jiachi entered into various financial guarantee contracts
with Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd and Bank of Jinzhou Co, Limited
respectively for the bank borrowings of seven companies
which were related to Mr. Dai Yonggue (“Mr. Dai"”). The
maximum liabilities guaranteed by Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Jinzhou Jiachi were principal amounts of RMB569,900,000 and
RMB3,300,000,000 respectively together with the outstanding
accrued interests and other charges. At the prevailing time of those
financial guarantee contracts entered into, Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou Jiachi were not subsidiaries of the Company, but
companies indirectly controlled by Mr. Dai. The Group acquired
the entire equity interests in Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi through the acquisitions of Superb Power Enterprises Limited
and Sky Build Limited respectively that were completed in April
2021. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group
became aware of those financial guarantee contracts when the
Group received the PRC court notices about legal claims during
the year ended 31 December 2023. Subsequently, the PRC court
had judged on the claims that Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi are jointly are severally liable for the loans guaranteed by
the Group with the other guarantors. Reference is made to the
Company's announcements dated 13 October 2023, 29 November
2023, 12 December 2023, 5 February 2024, 4 March 2024, 20
March 2024, 22 April 2024, 30 April 2024, 10 May 2024, 30 July
2024, 16 August 2024, 29 October 2024 and 10 December 2024.
During the Year, the Group recognised RMB1,116,798,000 (31
December 2023: RMB854,262,000) (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,187,380,000 (31 December 2023: HK$939,688,000))
impairment losses on these financial guarantee contracts based on
the valuation prepared by Messer International Valuation Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group, which was engaged by the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and the Year.

During the course of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for the Year, the directors considered the expected
payments to reimburse the holder of the guarantees were no
longer recoverable from the borrowers and therefore recorded an
impairment of approximately HK$329,289,000 (year ended 31
December 2023: HK$295,321,000) in the profit or loss.

Bt S Bl EE )

HREE

—N\F+—AZEZ=-NF AR +5%E
WWE AR N B K 8% 0 32 5t > Bl B 2% S AR 1T
I8 15 B BR A F) & i8I ER 1T R% 5 B BR A 7] Bt e
HXERE(BEED) EEANARNRITEER
VEMMBERAL o BINENE 88 5= iR
M&EXNBEDHALRE ARKES569,900,0007T & A
R #3,300,000,000 7T & [Fl R (B 2 09 FE TR B R A&
ER - RETLZEMBREREGON  BMNaE
MM B IER RGN B AR - MR L LM
EIEHIR AT o AEE S RE B Superb Power
Enterprises Limited & Sky Build Limited (A =& = —4F
P ASER) - UREEE N RS R 88 N S2 Gt iy 2 BP AR AR -
ARBEERA  AREREBEE-_Z_=F+=A
=+-— EﬁiVWU$I£TWF£E%EMEﬂ
BB EIERAEYN - Bafk - PEVARYR
EEHER %mFMﬂE&%M%m@ﬁ@F%
ALRRERE B AEBIERENEREE - &
RAAQRAPA=-ZT=_=F+A+=H ==
—=F+—A-t+hB ZZE-_=F+-A+=
H—Z-MFE_FRAH  —ZT_WFE=AMA -
TE-NE=ZF-+H  —E-MEMA -+
H - ZZZWWFMA=+H ZT-_WFHA+
H ZZ-M&FtA=+A  ZE-mWFNA+~
H - ZZZMF+AZ+hBERZFE-WF+A
THHRE - RAFR » AEEIREHEANE B I &
BENEY A BN EEGEMBRTFEERAR (R
AARBE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFEEK
FREEZAR)HREMNGE  BRZFWHBER
AHHREEE ARE1,116,798,000 T (HE—-Z
—=F+-A=+—8: AR¥S854,262,0007T) (17
EH#1,187,380,0008 T(HE=-FT-_=F+=A
4;+ H : 939,688,000/87T)) °

E%%ﬁimmfA%ﬁﬁ%Lﬁ¢ EERAE
EEEFREAEANTBEIFRERAWKE - B

%EE SR ER1SIR{E #7329,289,0008 T (B E—F

—=F+=A=+—HILFE :295,321,000/% L) °

AHEZERARAT —T—NEFFR

21



22

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

The impairment for financial guarantee contracts (“FG") for the
Year was estimated based on the valuation of the expected credit
losses ("ECL") of the FG as of 31 December 2024 (the “Valuation
Date”). The valuation methodology was with reference to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9"). The ECL of the financial guarantee contracts was estimated
with three parameters, namely Exposure at Default (“"EAD"),
Probability of Default (“PD"), Loss Given Default (“LGD"). It is
a common and widely used approach to estimate the expected
credit losses, which considered both the expected probability of
occurrence of loss event (i.e. PD) and the expected loss severity in
the event of default (i.e. LGD) based on the financial status of the
borrowers, historical data and market expectation.

There are seven outstanding FGs as of the Valuation Date. The
EAD is estimated with outstanding loan principal amounts, interest
amounts and liquidated damage (& %9 & ) (if any), based on the
latest available court documents, including A2 & ik, FEFF @R &=
and ¥ & = from the relevant courts of the People’s Republic of
China, and the estimated additional interests between the interest
cut-off dates from the latest available court documents and the
Valuation Date on simple interest basis. The EAD amounts ranged
from RMB83,288,000 to RMB2,810,115,000 as of the Valuation
Date.

The PD is considered to be 100%, as the borrowings in relation to
the FGs have been all matured and defaulted by the borrowers as
of the Valuation Date.

LGD is calculated by one minus recovery rate. The recovery rate of
33.9% adopted was based on the annual default research paper
“Default Trends — Global: Corporate default rate to moderate in
2024 but remain near its long-term average” published by Moody’s
Investors Service.

Discount factor is considered to be 1 (i.e. no discounting) as the
FGs was considered overdue already as of the Valuation Date.

Percentage of sharing, which ranged from 20% to 25%, is
estimated based on the number of guarantors of the borrowing. It is
assumed that if the borrower defaults, the outstanding amount of
EAD will be settled among the guarantors equally. References were
made to the gazette of the Supreme People’s Court of the People’s
Republic of China " BRE B ZE AR AMBEERE)VE THER
"
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

Based on the Company’s announcement dated 27 January 2025,
the FGs related to the bank borrowings made to /&5 FIA &
MEERARAET and FEENLLHEZHBEIZER AT (namely FG
3 and FG 4 respectively) would be relieved after considering the
subsequent settlement of RMB236.2 million made in January 2025.
In the ECL assessment of FG 3 and FG 4 as of the Valuation Date,
such subsequent settlement was considered as the expected losses
as at the Valuation Date.

Except for FG 3 and FG 4, the basis and assumptions adopted in
determining the EAD, PD, LGD, discount factor and percentage
of sharing for the ECL assessment of the FGs were consistent
between 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024.

Compared to the valuation as of 31 December 2023, the major
reason for the significant increase in the ECL of the FGs as of 31
December 2024 was the consideration of subsequent settlement
of RMB236.2 million regarding FG 3 and FG 4. Such subsequent
settlement information or relevant proposal/arrangement was only
available to the Valuer for the FG valuation as 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIREwwm R AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

List of Loans Guarantees and Pledges Provided

Bt S Bl EE )
BEMN@mE - SSNEmRBEEERERR

by Guangzhou Rongzhi, Jinzhou Jiachi and =Rk
Longain
Maximum
Exposure as at
31 December
2024:
Principal+
Interests+
Default
Interests/Fair
Value of
Pledged
Guarantors Creditors Borrowers Notes Principal ~ Form Assets
HE-E-mE
+ZB=+-H
BEAERR
FE+FIB+EN
HE/BREEN
ERA EEA famA [iF3 &2 ¥R MERE
RMVB RMB
AR AR
1 Guangzhou Rongzhi  Shengjing Bank BEA - ABARRRERERAA (1) 137,100,000  Guarantee 235,924,879
EMms ERPT iR
2 Guangzhou Rongzhi  Shengjing Bank BERERH—RBAERBERERAR (1) 48,400,000  Guarantee 83,287,874
BMRE BRET R
3 Guangzhou Rongzhi  Shengjing Bank BEENALLEEEBRAT (1) 135,700,000  Guarantee 233,515,666
BMRE BRET iR
4 Guangzhou Rongzhi ~ Shengjing Bank BHENARIREEBRAT (1) 100,500,000  Guarantee 172,942,467
EMms ERP ER
5 Guangzhou Rongzhi  Shengjing Bank BEANMFAMALREEEERAT (1) 148,200,000  Guarantee 255,026,035
BMRE BRET HE
6 Jinzhou Jiachi BMTEREERE EREELARMERERAR 2),8) 1,400,000,000  Guarantee 2,059,378,773
) BRAR iR
7 Jinzhou Jiachi BINTERERLE AHEHAZLERBERAT 2,0 1,900,000,000  Guarantee 2,810,115,207
BNES BRAR ER
8 Guangzhou Rongzhi + BMTEREELE BREMNEHEERCEERERAR () 1,400,000,000  Pledge Fair Value of
Jinzhou Jiachi BRAR ER Pledged Assets
EMNRE 57N 55 BREEN
NEE
9 Guangzhou Rongzhi  RMMEREELE RREMNEREERCEERERAR () 600,000,000  Pledge Fair Value of
EMpE BRAR B Pledged Assets
BIREER
REE
10 Jinzhou Jiachi SNTEREELE BNBEAALRERRERAR B) 1,400,000,000  Pledge Fair Value of
HNE BRAT EH Pledged Assets
BREER
PrfEE
11 Longain BNTEREELE BMRE 6) 1,400,000,000  Pledge Fair Value of
Rk BRAT B Pledged Assets
BREER
NAEE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIE R T

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

List of Loans Guarantees and Pledges Provided
by Guangzhou Rongzhi, Jinzhou Jiachi and
Longain (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Total principal for the loans guaranteed by Guangzhou Rongzhi was
amounted to RMB569,900,000. As at 31 December 2024, the total
principal, accumulated interests and default interests was amounted
to RMB980,697,000.

(2)  Total principal for the loans guaranteed by Jinzhou Jiachi was
amounted to RMB3,300,000,000. As at 31 December 2024, the total
principal, accumulated interests and default interests was amounted
to RMB4,869,494,000.

(3) In March 2025, the Company received notices from Bank of Jinzhou
and SBMTEREELL AR QA (the “Transferee”), a company
with majority shareholding of which is owned by Jinzhou Municipal
Government, informing that all the loans and guarantee liabilities of
Guangzhou Runzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi due to Bank of Jinzhou have
been transferred to the Transferee at original terms of the loans and
guarantees.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s financial statements are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars (“HKD"), while the Group is conducting business mainly in
HKD, United States Dollar (“USD"), Great British Pound (“GBP")
and Renminbi (“"RMB"). Since exchange rates of HKD is pegged
to USD, there is no material exchange risk in respect of USD assets
and transactions. However, the assets, liabilities and transactions
of the UK and the PRC subsidiaries of the Group are mainly
denominated in GBP and RMB respectively, there were exchange
risks during financial settlement at the end of Year in this regard.

The Group has implemented policies and guidelines in relation to
foreign exchange risk management. Meanwhile, the subsidiaries
in the PRC are able to generate sufficient income to deal with
their local currency expenses; therefore, the management of the
Company considered that the Group’s exposure to the potential
foreign currency risk was relatively limited.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 163 (as at 31 December
2023: 187) employees, of whom approximately 8.6% (as at 31
December 2023: 7.5%) were located in Hong Kong and the rest
were located in the PRC and overseas.

The Group recognises the employees as the key element that
contributes to the Group's success. The Group's remuneration
policies are formulated based on the individual performance and
the salaries trends in various regions, which will be reviewed
annually. Apart from mandatory provident fund and medical
insurance, the Company has adopted a share option scheme
under which share options may also award to the Directors and
eligible employees as an incentive with reference to the assessment
of individual performance. The Board believes that the Group
maintains an admirable relationship with the employees.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31 December
2023: nil).

PROSPECTS

In 2025, while there are new favourable factors for global
economic development, some relatively significant adverse
influences still exist, and the world remains in a phase of economic
cycle adjustment. IMF “World Economic Outlook Report” released
in October 2024 forecasts the 2025 global economic growth of
3.2%, which is consistent with 2024 levels. China will continue
to boost its economy in 2025 to maintain a 5% growth target.
The economy is expected to sustain its recovery momentum,
with moderate consumption growth and improving corporate
profitability. However, the trade war initiated by the United States
will pose certain obstacles to this recovery.

China will continue to enhance the convenience and its appeal
of travelling, promoting the opening up of the service sector and
raising the level of openness in fields such as culture, tourism,
education, technology and healthcare. It will also further pilot the
expansion of visa-free countries to attract more foreign visitors
coming to China for sightseeing, study, business and excursion.
Thus, a more favorable business environment will be fostered
for the Company’s shopping malls’ apparel wholesale tenants
targeting overseas customers.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

The Guangzhou Shopping Mall completed a series of optimization
measures during the Year to support business development in
2025. These measures include expanding the scale advantage
of tenants which take overseas orders, and promotion through
participation in trade conventions, so as to build an international
recognition for its apparel wholesale hot spot. Besides, the
lighting style in the main aisles had been upgraded to enhance
the strolling zone atmosphere. Standard rental rates for the zones
have been adjusted to lower entry barriers, attracting tenants
of high-quality women'’s fashion wear and upgrading products’
class in the women’s fashion wear and branded children’s wear
sections. In terms of marketing, the Guangzhou Shopping Mall
has been producing promotional reels for five we-media accounts
registered on platforms including Douyin, Kuaishou, WeChat
Video and WeChat Official Accounts. These will be accompanied
by promotional articles on public accounts, as well as influencers’
check-in events and posts in the children’s wear section, alongside
with videos attracting viewers’ stream to boost tenants’ business
and the mall’s popularity.

In 2025, in addition to reinforcing last year’'s operational
optimization efforts, the Guangzhou Shopping Mall will further
improve its shopping environment, which includes enhancing the
ground level entrance image, improving lighting and restroom
conditions to a higher standard. To target overseas merchandisers,
the apparel wholesale zone will introduce additional amenities for
foreign customers, such as exotic restaurants, coffee breweries
and dessert shops. While incorporating leisure and entertainment
options for foreigners, the mall will strengthen tenant recruitment.

In 2025, the Jinzhou Shopping Mall will reinforce the focus on
university students as its primary consumer base, adjust section
layout and introduce trendy features such as anime merchandise,
handicrafts, boutique accessories and cultural tourism products.
Meanwhile, newly renovated zones will host events of different
themes periodically, integrating elements like matchmaking,
bazaar shopping and street dance performances to create a
vibrant and romantic social entertainment venue. This will enhance
participants’ social experiences and satisfaction, creating unique
and impressive event memories. These initiatives will attract visitors
traffic, boost consumption, and elevate the mall’s recognition and
image, generating significant popularity and economic benefits
for the mall and the surrounding merchants. Next year’s tenant
recruitment focus will leverage on the improved overall business
landscape and increased customer flow following last year’s
adjustments to shift recruitment efforts toward tail-end areas.
Diversity plans will be introduced for new industry mix, including
theme bars, creative bazaars, and interactive entertainment
experiences.
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PROSPECTS (continued)

In 2025, the Anyang Shopping Mall will focus on recruitment of
tenants for entertainment activities like escape rooms and murder
plot games, fostering anime theme and product interaction to
attract anime lovers’ visits and consumption. Targeting on core
female consumers, mainstream items like fashion, trendy items,
nail salons, and light food and beverage will be strengthened,
while recruiting bazaar tenants of taverns, handmade goods,
accessories, and cultural tourism products to create a distinctive
bazaar theme zone. In recent years, anime culture and peripheral
merchandise (“guzi”) stores have become a new consumption
trend in several major domestic cities. In response, the Anyang
Shopping Mall is planning to create an anime zone to host regular
anime exhibitions to promote tenant recruitment for “guzi” stores.
In the entertainment zone, a social space for young people will
be set up to introduce competitive brands. With the opening of
nearby night market, the mall will take this opportunity to attract
tenants for light dining, bistros, lounges and music bars, building a
new mingling hub for young people. The mall will also utilize we-
media promotion, and plan to convert online and offline traffic
into membership resources. Apart from directly sending events
infos and discounts to members, the mall will also collaborate with
tenants to post videos or comments on platforms like Douyin and
Xiaohongshu to generate consumption traffic for the mall.

The flooring trade business is expected to be affected by the
trade war initiated by the United States. The Group will closely
monitor the developments, recalibrate business strategies in a
timely manner, and actively explore other markets to mitigate the
negative impacts of the trade war on this business.

One of the main focuses for the Group in 2025 will be debt
restructurings for the Guangzhou and Jinzhou Shopping Malls. By
proactively communicating and negotiating with creditor banks
and stakeholders, the goal is to reduce the debt and guarantee
obligations of these two subsidiaries, and to ensure the malls’
normal operations and income. These initiatives will unlock the
intrinsic asset value of the two shopping malls, improve the
Group's overall assets structure, remove obstacles to long-term
development and lay a new foundation for stable and sustainable
operations of the Group.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

Payment of refurbishment work for UK
Investment Properties

During the Year, the Company entered into a very substantial
disposal and connected transaction for the disposal of the entire
interest in a subsidiary which holds the UK Investment Properties
for GBP50 million. Deposit of approximately GBP19 million from
the transaction was used to repay defaulted loan in UK. The
transaction was completed in December 2024. Pursuant to certain
warranties given by the Company under the sale and purchase
agreement of the transaction, the Company paid approximately
GBP3 million to the buyer in January 2025 for the refurbishment
work to restore the London properties into good condition.
For further details of the related matters, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 23 April 2024, 28 June 2024
and 27 December 2024 and circular dated 11 June 2024.

Payment by Guangzhou Rongzhi to settle
litigation claims by Other Claimant Bank

In January 2025, the Group made payment of RMB236.2 million
(the “Payment”) in response to the enforcement notice and/
or judgment orders granted by the PRC courts in respect of the
guarantee liabilities of Guangzhou Rongzhi with respect to the
loans of Shenyang Ruifan and Shenyang Shenghe under the
abovementioned litigation claims brought by the Other Claimant
Bank as disclosed in the announcements dated 14 July 2023, 26
July 2023, 20 March 2024, 30 April 2024, 30 July 2024 and 16
August 2024 (the “Announcements”).

The Payment was made by the Group taking into account (i)
that the Other Claimant Bank has issued letters of chasers to
Guangzhou Rongzhi on fulfilment of its guarantee obligations; (ii)
the advice from the PRC counsel about the potential risks that the
Company might be exposed to (including potential enforcement
actions such as freezing orders on the operating rights of the
shopping malls owned by Guangzhou Rongzhi) if it fails to comply
with the letters of chasers, enforcement notices and/or judgment
orders in time; and (iii) a consensus with the Five Borrowers
that Guangzhou Rongzhi will be relieved of any remaining debt
responsibilities after the Payment.

For further details of the related matters, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 27 January 2025.

REERER
XN RERENEBH KRR

RAFERA - RAFIFIFFEANLEFIEREER
5 SORE B RBLE—BARBEEME M
BAEEHEZ - RHZXENI9BEEHFEARN
EREEBZENER - ZRXHR_T_MF+=A
TR ﬁﬁEE%#ET AR ETRE A
AR E-_AF—AREARASZNA3AEREZY
%ﬂ%ﬁmﬁ% B EME R AR - BEEIE
E—FHE #FRHARRZE-mFENA=-+=
A —Z2-mN&EXA=Z+N\AER=ZE-_NMF+=A
ZTtEBEZAERBEHAZZS _NFEAT—HZ
B -

BEMNBENRAS N EMRBRITZR
RE

HRARFBHA-—Z-_=FtA+mWmA -
—=Ft+tA=-t+RH - ZE_NF=H= %Ei
TZoNFENNA=+H —ZE-WMFE+LA=1+H
Z_NFENATNEBRRAE(ZEAE DK E
AEMERITIRHA LM EFARE - ¢l%ﬁﬁ
BEINEE 5B G E N AE S R FIE SR AR R
EATETRHBANER SRHRBNE  AEH
KER-_ZE-AF— ARHMERRITEENLRA
R¥236.288 (AR B ESFBME N, =
HRBAE o

IMIM

AEBETHNR  BREEIOEMRBRITEEN
EINERES S YK - BSREITRERET ¢ ()T
BEMANEREH - AABNRNREETERKEK -
MITBHMER,SFRBHIE - BrAARELR
R (BIREENNTITE  HIENBREEBEYRE
%mm“%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬂ?&mﬁﬁuﬁﬁA%
FRRIRIRE: - EE N BETTR - EMNBE R ERR
HHNWEBEE -

HEAEEE—PFHE  F2MARR T -_AF—
A=-++tBz2Ra% -

AHEZERARAT —T—NEFFR

29



30

Management Discussion and Analysis

BIE R T

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Transfer of loans and guarantee liabilities due
to Bank of Jinzhou

In March 2025, the Company received notices from Bank of
Jinzhou and RN THEEIREEL LB R AT (the “Transferee”), a
company with majority shareholding of which is owned by Jinzhou
Municipal Government, informing that all the loans and guarantee
liabilities of Guangzhou Runzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi due to Bank of
Jinzhou have been transferred to the Transferee at original terms
of the loans and guarantees.

Settlement Agreement with seller of the
Guangzhou and Jinzhou Shopping Malls

On 25 March 2025, a settlement agreement (the “Settlement
Agreement”) was entered into among the Company, Stone
Wealth Limited (“Stone Wealth”, being the seller under the
acquisition of Guangzhou Rongzhi by the Company, details
of which are set out in the circular of the Company dated 26
March 2021) and Mr. Dai, being the ultimate beneficial owner
of Stone Wealth). Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, Stone
Wealth and Mr. Dai have, in consideration of Guangzhou Rongzhi
making the Payment and with a view to compensate Guangzhou
Rongzhi, undertaken to within 12 months of the date of the
Settlement Agreement liaise with the debtor of Guangzhou
Rongzhi and conduct necessary action(s) such that the external
debt of Guangzhou Rongzhi would be reduced by an amount
of at least approximately RMB280.6 million, which is the sum of
(i) the Payment; and (ii) the amount of onshore bank deposits
of subsidiaries of the Company that have been withdrawn and
transferred to accounts maintained by the court in the PRC.

For further details of the related matters, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 25 March 2025.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR
(Continued)

Qualified Opinion

KTC Partners CPA Limited ("KTC") has issued a qualified opinion
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Qualified Opinion”),
the text of which is set out on pages 90 to 93 of this annual report.

Pursuant to discussions between the Company and KTC, subject to
the achievement of events stated below, it will be in a position to
consider the removal of the audit qualification on the completeness
of financial guarantees:

(i) settlement or clearance of all currently known financial

guarantees in favor of Bank of Jingzhou/s§ /I i1 #=8R & EEAS &
APBRAF] and/or the Shengjing Bank; and

(i)  recovery or compensation of all losses incurred by the Group
as a result of the aforementioned financial guarantees from
the Five Borrowers and/or Mr. Dai.

In the event that KTC is satisfied with the audit evidence for the
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2025,
except for the audit modification on (1) the opening balances
and comparative figures to be stated in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2025,
and (2) the comparative figures to be stated in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ending 31
December 2026, there would not be other audit modifications in
respect of the matters referred to above. In respect of the Group's
consolidated financial statement for the year ending 31 December
2025 and 2026, any audit modifications should solely relate to
the comparability of 2024 and 2025 figures. Accordingly, under
such circumstances, the issues giving rise to the Qualified Opinion
are not expected to have any continuing effect on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2027 and the subsequent years.

Neither the Audit Committee (as defined below) nor the
management of the Company holds a different view to that of KTC
regarding the qualified opinion. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the management’s position and has no objections thereto. The
Company will instruct relevant personnel of the Group to actively
implement the action plan set out above in a bid to remove the
Qualified opinion in the Company’s audited financial statements
for the year ending 31 December 2025.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. SU Shigong (“Mr. Su”), aged 55, was appointed as the
executive Director on 11 September 2024. Mr. Su was appointed as
the Chairman of the Company on 31 October 2024. Mr. Su served
as the senior manager of Sino-Conflux Insurance Company Ltd.
(“Sino-Conflux”), where he was primarily responsible for handling
the company’s legal affairs, from February 2015 to February 2024.
He concurrently served as the manager in asset management at
HK Bellawings.jet Limited (“HK Bellawings”), where he was
responsible for business aircraft management and operation, with
a focus on domestic leases, from May 2019 to August 2024. Prior
to joining Sino-Conflux and HK Bellawings, Mr. Su held multiple
managerial positions at Shengjing Bank Co., Limited (“Shengjing
Bank") in the asset protection department and various branches
from October 2002 to February 2015. From June 1990 to October
2002, he served as the credit section chief at the Shenhe Branch of
Shenyang Commercial Bank* (&[5 & 2 4R 1T/% 7 32 77), currently
known as Shengjing Bank. Mr. Su completed tertiary courses in
information at the school of finance at Shenyang University in July
1990, and in financial management at the Party School of Liaoning
Provincial Party Committee in July 1997. He subsequently obtained
his Bachelor of Laws (online education) from Peking University
in January 2009. He was also certified as a mid-level financial
economist by the Ministry of Personnel of the People’s Republic of
China in October 1996.

Ms. YANG Yuhua ("Ms. Yang”), aged 61, was appointed as
the executive Director on 11 September 2024. Ms. Yang was
appointed as the chief executive officer (“CEO") and Authorised
Representative of the Company. Ms. Yang has served as the chief
financial officer at Saizhi (Tianjin) Properties Co., Ltd.* (& & ( X
) B ¥ FBR A A since June 2006. From August 2015 to June
2023, she served as the chief financial officer of HK Bellawings.
From January 2013 to March 2017, she held the position of
deputy manager of the financial department of Beijing Zhaotai
Group Co., Ltd.. From December 2001 to June 2006, she served
as the deputy manager of the inter-bank market department and
the senior investment manager of the investment management
centre at New China Life Insurance Company Ltd.. She successively
served as the deputy head, the head, and the deputy chief of the
funds division and the international business division of the Inner
Mongolia branch of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
from August 1983 to December 2001. Ms. Yang graduated with
a master’s degree in finance from Shaanxi Institute of Finance
and Economics* (PR 75 BF & £2F2) in October 1999. She has been
a senior economist as accredited by the Ministry of Land and
Resources of the People’s Republic of China since May 2003.

* The English name is for identification only
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. WANG Hongfang (“Mr. Wang"), aged 65, was appointed
as the executive Director on 7 January 2021. Mr. Wang was
appointed as the Chairman and chief executive officer (“CEOQ") of
the Company on 20 May 2021 and 31 January 2022 respectively.
He retired on 31 October 2024.

Mr. Wang has over twenty nine years of management experience.
From 2003 to 2018, Mr. Wang served in China Dili Group
(formerly known as Renhe Commercial Holdings Company
Limited (“Renhe”) AFIEZIEARFR A F*, Stock Code: 1387, a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)). In 2003, he was appointed as
the vice president of China Dili Group and became the executive
president in 2006. He was then appointed as an executive director
on 14 December 2007, the executive president (Investments and
Financing) on 26 February 2008 and the chief executive officer on
30 June 2014, and resigned from all the positions on 4 September
2018.

Mr. Wang has extensive experience in shopping malls management
and property investments. Prior to joining China Dili Group, Mr.
Wang held management positions in a number of companies in
China during the period from 1994 to 2000. From 2001 to 2003,
Mr. Wang was the president of Harbin Jurong New Power Co.,
Ltd. in which he was responsible for the overall planning and
management of its business.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in automatic control
mechanics (B B#EHIEH %) in 1982 and graduated with a Master's
degree in politics and economics in 1991 from the Harbin Institute
of Technology ("8 f/E T3 KE).

* The English name is for identification only
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EEEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. ZHENG Yuchun (“Mr. Zheng"), aged 58, was appointed
as the executive Director on 20 May 2021. Mr. Zheng was
appointed as Executive President and Authorised Representative
of the Company on 31 January 2022. He resigned as executive
Director and Executive President on 31 October 2024. Mr. Zheng
has over twenty years of experience in corporate management
and investment. He has experience in analysis, investment and
management in several investment banks and large corporate
groups in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Mr. Zheng was a senior researcher of Guosen Securities Co., Ltd.
between April 1997 and March 2001, senior vice president and
chief financial officer of Sun Media Investment Holdings Ltd. and
chief executive officer of Observer Star (HK) Co. Ltd between April
2004 and November 2006, Deputy General Manager (Investment
and Operation) of China Dili Group (formerly known as Renhe
Commercial Holdings Company Limited AR 24 R B R A F*),
Stock Code: 1387, a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange) between November 2008 and June 2010,
executive director and deputy chief executive officer (president)
of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (formerly known as Culture
Landmark Investment Limited) (Stock Code: 674, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) between July 2010
to June 2013, executive president of China Alliance International
Holding Ltd between July 2013 and December 2015, and the chief
executive officer of China Sky Financial Holding Ltd between March
2017 and May 2021.

Mr. Zheng has also served as a corporate financial consultant for
a number of companies proposed to be listed directly or indirectly
in Mainland China or Hong Kong, and was responsible for capital
operations and providing guidance for the listing of companies.

Mr. Zheng graduated from the department of physics of Peking
University in 1989 with a bachelor’s degree in science and from the
school of management of Harbin Institute of Technology in 1997
where he obtained his master of business administration degree.
He also graduated from the school of economics and finance of
The University of Hong Kong in 2004 where he obtained a PhD in
finance. Mr. Zheng is a member of the CFA Institute.

* The English name is for identification only

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

BEERw)
HITES®)

MEZEE([EEE]) 585 RZ_E_—F 1
AZ+REZARTES IR ZZE=-_=_F—A
=+ —HEZEARMTRIEREERE - B#RZ
ToMETA=T—HBETRTES RAITES -
BAEATCEERRIGE T EEFR20FLRH o 1
AR BIRRE R BEBHRIEERITRAT S EEE R
BT RERERLER -

BEERN—NANEFNAE_ZZT—F=Z AHIR
EESFERARRAMEE RZEZENFWOAE
ZEERFT-ALEBRERREERERAR]
SRBAEEEEVEEUARERE (BB)ERA
REFHTE  RZZEEN\GF+—AZE=Z—ZTF
NALEPEBFISE(FIEAAFEEERERA
Al PSR 1387 0 —RIRBRFTEIR ETTZA
AEIBEIE(REREE) RZE—ZEF A=
T—=FARARAFREEEIERBRAR (FITEAX
{EHAZIREBRAF] RO NRIE : 674 - — R E
REAEREMZ AR WTESRENEFNITE (L
) R T ZF+AE-_T—AF+-AHIH
BEEIERERAGRITEAEURR T —+F =
ARE_Z-—FRALEFPRERIERBRAFE
EBMITE °

BRENEEZHRNTPRAESFTEERAME
ETZARBEELEMBER  YAREAZER
REAF LHIES|

BREEN-N/\NFEXRIERASYEER - &
BELEM R-ANEFEXRNBRETLREAS
ERE  BIRHERELTRNM IR _TTNEF
EXNRBEABKERCREN  ReRSBBELE
i o BSEAEDFRTEROITENCFAMEEE -



Biographical Details of Directors

EEEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. LU Yunsong (“Mr. Lu”), aged 58, was appointed as non-
executive Director on 11 September 2024. Mr. Lu has served as the
general manager of Tianheng Tongli (Beijing) Investment Co., Ltd.*
(REBFI(AER)LEBFRAF]) since May 2009. Prior to this, he
founded Harbin Hailongzhou Catering Co., Ltd.* (\AEE GREINE
SRABRAT]) in 1998. From 1993 to 1998, he served as the general
manager of Harbin Jingiao Catering Co., Ltd.* ("Fa /& £ 18 & &%
BB A 7). From 1985 to 1990, he held the position of general
manager at Beijing Fuhua Food Co., Ltd.* (It REER R AR A
Al). Mr. Lu completed his high school education at Beijing No. 149
High School* (3L E5—PU LA &) in 1983.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. GAO Bin (“Dr. Gao”), age 62, is the independent non-
executive Director. Dr. Gao has extensive knowledge and rich
experience in foreign exchange, fixed income, equity and
commodity investment. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Space
Physics from University of Science and Technology of China, an
MA from Princeton University in Astrophysics and Master and a
PhD Degree in Finance from New York University. Dr. Gao currently
serves as chief executive officer and director of Kaifeng Investment
Management (Hong Kong) Limited. He has been serving as the
chief economist of Shenzhen Kaifeng Investment Management
Limited since January 2019. He has been serving as a special
term professor at PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University
since December 2014. He has been serving as independent non-
executive director of Sunshine Insurance Group (stock code: 6963)
since May 2018. He served as a senior vice president of Lehman
Brothers from 2004 to 2005. He served as a managing director
of Bank of America Merrill Lynch from 2005 to 2014, in charge
of interest strategies in Asia Pacific. He was a tenured associate
professor of the finance department at University of North
Carolina-Business School, USA before joining this industry.

* The English name is for identification only
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LEUNG Ting Yuk (“Mr. Leung”), aged 50, was appointed as
the independent non-executive Director of the Company on 15 July
2023. He obtained a bachelor’'s degree of commerce with major
in accounting from University of Wollongong, Australia. Mr. Leung
is a member of the Certified Practicing Accountants, Australia
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Leung has over 20 years of experience in financial management,
accounting and auditing.

Mr. Leung is an independent non-executive director of Yanchang
Petroleum International Limited (stock code: 346) since December
2009, Most Kwai Chung Limited (stock code: 1716) since March
2018 and Xinyi Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 3868) since
November 2018, all of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange.

Ms. SONG Yanjie (“Ms. Song”), aged 58, was appointed as
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 18 August
2023. She has over 30 years of experience in tertiary education
and she is currently an associate professor of the Department
of Mathematics and Information Technology at the Education
University of Hong Kong.

Ms. Song obtained a bachelor’'s degree of arts from the Qigihar
Teacher’s College (now known as the Qigihar University) in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") in July 1988. She obtained
a master’s degree of arts from Jilin Technology University (now
known as Jilin University) in the PRC in March 1993. She obtained
a master’s degree of education and technology from University of
Leeds in the United Kingdom in November 2002. She obtained a
doctor’s degree in educational technology from the University of
Hong Kong in December 2009.
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Tai United Holdings Limited (together with its subsidiaries
hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or "We") incorporates
sustainable development in its corporate planning and operation
as part of our efforts to create long-term value for the Group's
stakeholders. The Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG")
Report (“ESG Report”) has been prepared in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Guide"”) as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), to inform all stakeholders about our ESG
policies, measures and performance.

The ESG Report mainly covers the Group's business segments,
comprising (i) properties investment; (ii) flooring and medical
equipment trading; (iii) mining and exploitation of natural
resources; and (iv) financial services and assets management, from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (“Reporting Period” or
“Year"). Management and staff of all major functions participated
in the preparation of this Report, to assist the Group’s review of
our operations and identification of relevant ESG matters, as well
as assessing the materiality of the relevant matters to our business
and stakeholders. A summary of the ESG matters material to the
Group contained in this Report is set out in the following table:

AFZEBRBRABICGEREKBABIATHE &
H| [FAEE]KRADUATBELR AT ERE
HEEES  BRAARENFSHEREIERER
BE ARSEHENE THASENIRE HERE
JA(TESGL) Z R ~ e RKRIE - BIMIRIEE B
ERGHAR AR EMAR( EHRA D HERC2ET
BHIRE e RERHREESI([ESGIES| ) R
TARE - e RERHE ([ESGHRE ) -

AESGHREXTEREB -_T-_MF—A—HE=Z
ZMFE+ZA=+—RA(HREHBE] - [RFEEE
MEBDBRIBOWERSE © (IR REER
HBES  (INFERMERAER  &(v)E#RE R
EETEES SFEWMeEmEEERETIHES
HREARE - Ui EER BB RER
HRAESGEE - W HEBEEHH M EB UK
ERHBENEEN - TRALAREMEALEBE
AESGEEZHE :

ESG Guide Summary

Significant ESG Matters

ESGIESIIRE EKRESGEH

A. Environmental
RE

Al. Emissions . Waste Treatment and Carbon Emission
iZ133167) [BEE Y BR IR KR BERT

A2. Use of Resources . Energy and Water Consumption
B IR BEIR S KOE#E

A3.  The Environment and Natural Resources o Environmental Implication Management
BRELRAER REXEER

B. Social
HeE

B1. Employment o Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities Policies
=4 EEFBRFERIBER

B2. Health and Safety o Occupational Health and Safety
fEREZ S BEREELE

B3. Development and Training . Employee Training Plan
EEYseEE] 8 Ti5FIEHEl

B4. Labour Standards o Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour
&5 TXER| 7 122 T a8 |55 T

B5. Supply Chain Management o Sustainable Supply Chain
HrEEEE AR R MR

B6. Product Responsibility o Customer Service, Marketing and Customer Privacy Security
EmAE B RY - misHEENREPILERE

B7. Anti-corruption o Prevention of Corruption and Fraud
R&A DINI= VPS8 73S

B8. Community Investment o Contributions to Society
HRiE RN
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STAKEHOLDER PARTICIPATION

As a responsible enterprise, it is necessary for the Group to
understand the expectations and concerns of our stakeholders
with regards to our business development strategy, risk
management measures and internal control system. In order to
facilitate cooperation with our stakeholders, the Group actively
communicated with our stakeholders through various channels
during the Reporting Period to exchange opinions and ideas as well
as discuss and review ESG targets with stakeholders, with a view to

help the Group build key business strategies that will drive future
growth and tackle future challenges. Stakeholder participation
activities conducted during the Reporting Period is as follows.

Stakeholder
&

Communication channels

BRERE

K ESH

ERBEENDE  AEEVNATRENEHER
HREREE - RREEEREMABEERGOSNE
REDE - RIBEREFNHENRIERE  ARER
BEHNEBZRREEASNERREBAZIRE
RMIEE - MBI ENHBRRFTESGRR
RAEERBEZA S ANIER L EE BRIENE
REBRE - RREHRRNETORNESEEBHN
T

5

Views/Concerns

BER BEsE

Government and market
regulators
B RS EEE

Employees
8T

Shareholders and investors

BREEE

General public and the
community

NRAL Mt R

Customers

B

° Regular communication
TEHISIRE
o Forums and conferences

LAURT Ty 2
RiE A

e Performance assessment
BT

° Employee training and programmes
EEIEIRERE

e Staff activities

BT5%)

e Annual general meeting and other
general meetings
ERBFARG MHAMBRRAES

e Annual report and financial results
announcement
FREMBEERS

e Announcements and circulars
NERBEK

° Company website
NGIF A

o Community services
#t[& ARFS

° Social media
RS

° Email
B

e  Telephone conversations
B

° Opinion and complaint channels
BRRKFRE
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Compliance with laws and regulations
BPED AR B

Safe working environment

ZE2 TIERIR

Remuneration and benefits

H R AE A

Training and development opportunities
Bl R RES

Health and safety

fERER e

Sustainable profitability and shareholder
returns

AR R AN ) R AR B 2R
Information disclosure and transparency
EREE ERE

Stable corporate governance
BEGRER

Charity and social investment
BERMGRE

Corporate social responsibility
EFEEE

Sustainable development and responsible
business practices
AREER R B ELEEEN

Quality and reliable services
=B R KA SERK
Customer data security
RERFEIR

Business ethics

[EESELE
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STAKEHOLDER PARTICIPATION (continued)

The Group understands the expectations and concerns of our
stakeholders. Feedback received allows the Group to make smarter
decisions and better assess and manage the relevant impact.
Our management and employees regularly communicate with
stakeholders to determine the material ESG matters. In doing so,
we identify aspects for improvement in our daily operations, in
order to progress towards environmental and social goals.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1 Emissions

The Group is committed to sustainable development
and corporate social responsibility and strives to monitor
and implement emissions reduction measures in its daily
operations with regards to process management, energy
and resource management, in order to prevent any
unnecessary pollution and minimise any adverse impacts
on the environment. No exhaust and effluent was
generated by the Group’s segments under development
in daily business operations during the Year.

In addition, in terms of mining and exploitation of
natural resources business, the Group holds four mining
right licences (“Mining Rights”) of its three tungsten
projects in Mongolia. During the Reporting Period, these
tungsten projects were still at the exploration stage,
thus discharge of exhaust, sewage and waste during
the mining process are not applicable. No revenue
was recorded by the mining and exploration of natural
resources business segment during the Reporting
Period.

BFHESHEw)

AEETHRIFHENNERDT - MEGHER
EEEAEBEEESELERERORE - W E T
EREERLELENTE - RANEEERESR
REEFZNEBR  UHEEEAESGHE - BBt
B HMACHEAFEETHTELENERE - UE
REREIMERRE -

A. BE
A1 BERY

AEBATHEERICELGEERD
F BORABRLEETHEZEREE
B BUREERE IR E hh B SR EE
EiE - ATRDI ERA L EH)) SR K
RIFERNBEZE - AEEAFHRZ
R BB FEFH W RELRER R
TEIKBEIR o

BESN - PR R R AR ERES I E -
AEEFAR G B = [EH51RE B & ER
TR Al R ([ R ) - ELLiRIRA AR
WEMREADER R TIERE - AR
FIEREE L BIZPEER - Tk REEYH B
AL REHEE NER - RELHEXR
RERER D BN AN S L AREAF I
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A1 Emissions (Continued)

Waste Treatment

In the Year, the total waste generated in the Group'’s
daily operations was only 2.73 tonnes, including 1.405
tonnes of non-hazardous waste (paper and single-use
office supplies), as well as 0.762 tonnes of hazardous
waste (spent fluorescent tubes, cleaning agents and
other chemicals).

The Group does not generate any chemical waste,
clinical waste and hazardous waste in our daily
operations. Non-hazardous waste generated during
operations mainly include general office supplies which
do not have a significant impact on the environment.
The Group promotes the transmission and cultivation of
environmental awareness in daily operations among our
employees. Numerous policies have been implemented
in our offices to improve energy saving and reduction
of waste generation, including reducing the usage
of single-use items and paper, promoting paperless
operations and meetings, adopting electronic circulation
of documents, and encouraging employees to adopt
double-sided printing and to reuse paper, in order to
minimise waste paper generation.

The Group recognises the equal importance of waste
recycling and reduction at the source to environmental
protection. Accordingly, the Group actively promoted
various environmental recycling initiatives during the
past financial year. For garbage disposal, the Group
sorted all waste from its offices into five categories
(paper/plastics/non-recyclables/decoration waste/
gardening waste) according to regulations and
conducted disposal and recycling of each category in
accordance with government regulations. During the
Reporting Period, 0.563 tonne of papers was recycled
due to our successful implementation of the above
environmental protection policies.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)
A1 Emissions (Continued)

Carbon Emissions

In the Year, the total carbon emissions of the Group
was 80.26 tonnes, and the carbon emissions density
was 0.03 tonnes of carbon dioxide per square metre of
office space™t V. The above carbon emissions were
mainly generated from the usage of various energy
sources by the Group, including electricity, gasoline and
natural gas. Please refer to A2 Use of Resources —
Energy consumption®™t 2 in this ESG Report for details
on the usage and consumption of the respective energy
sources.

To promote environmental protection awareness among
our employees, the Group encourages the usage of
new energy vehicles and public transportation, as well as
teleconferencing to reduce employee travel. Moreover,
we utilise electronic technology such as email for written
communications, DingTalk office software as an instant
messaging platform and electronic approval process
management, in order to reduce carbon emissions and
at the same time increase work efficiency.

All the departments of the Group have strictly complied
with the internal management system related to
environmental protection of the Group. There were
no incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to the emission of exhaust
and greenhouse gas, discharge into water and land,
generation of hazardous and harmless waste during the
Reporting Period.

Notes:

1. The above carbon emissions are calculated with reference to the
2024 Government GHG Conversion Factors For Company Reporting
published by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy (BEIS) of the UK, Emission Factor of Mongolia issued by the
Joint Credit Mechanism of Japan, Environmental Key Performance
Index Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange and China
Regional Grid Baseline Emission Factor issued by the National
Development and Reform Commission of China.

2. The above calculation of carbon emissions covers both Scope 1
and Scope 2 emission activities according to the Environmental Key
Performance Index Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A2 Use of Resources

The Group emphasizes saving resources and
environmental protection and is committed to minimise
possible risks of impact on the environment arising from
business development by utilising resources effectively
and advocating commercial acts accountability to the
environment. During the Reporting Period, the Group
achieved various energy-saving targets and successfully
implemented green energy policies, and actively
participated in office energy-saving and environmental
protection activities organised by the property
management of the office building, such as resources
recycling activities, with a view to improve employee
awareness in energy conservation and emission
reduction.

Energy Consumption

The Group actively implemented various energy saving
policies and measures in order to meet our energy
saving objectives, which helped to reduce 3.79% of
total energy consumption during the Reporting Period.
The Group's office has fully installed energy efficient
LED lighting and other electronic equipment with high
energy efficiency. Air conditioning temperature is set at
environmentally friendly levels. The Group also monitors
electricity consumption of our offices. Employees are
required to turn off lighting, air conditioning and
office equipment after office hours to reduce electricity
consumption. Further, the Group provided regular
training and interactions for employees on saving
electricity, in order to raise environmental awareness
among employees.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

A.

BB

2 ERFEA

AEBTBRFRHOLIRERE - BB
BRHARERMREHREARENE
ETR - BEEBERAEEIRTR RN
BERE - AEENRE RREBEZ IR
BERRRAERIRECR - WEHRSERA
REMEEREMETNE B AEENEE
RRRITE - HIINEREYORS - #EULIR
=B THERERBEEH

BEBEFE

RERERRERIITE - ARBERIBET
RIREREIRR N fE e - W& B —
BB #)3.79% 7588 - REBBH L
ECEHEERSUEEELEDE B E M
HERRENETFRE - WHERRE
REERFRKF o FEEMAERIEHMA
BIER - BRE IR AREERBEFR
B AR ARE AR AE o 1t
O REBEEBRH GO AENTEY
EIREERES  URSEEMNRRE
# e



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R e RERRE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (continued) A. BEFE@)
A2 Use of Resources (Continued) A2 ERER#E)
Energy Consumption (Continued) BEFEFE ()

Set out below is the Group's total energy consumption
and total energy intensity in the Year:

Consumption

Energy category (daily office work)

T R AR B 0B AR FE R R85
B

Total Energy Intensity
(office space per unit)

BB MEERRE
HERES (BEBRRD) (SEARLAEE)
Electricity 84,037 kWh 34.98 kWh/m?
5 84,037 T BB 3498 F B85,/ F 5K
Gasoline 10,528 L 4.38 I/m?
YU 10,528 AF+ 4.382FFHK

Note:  The above consumption only covers the consumption
that directly controlled and utilised by the Group,
including the Group’s offices in Mainland China,
Hong Kong, Mongolia and the UK, and excludes
consumption arising from other third parties.

Water Consumption

The Group’s water consumption during the Reporting
Period was generated from daily office water utilisation.
Although the Group’s business activities do not consume
a large volume of water, the Group has formulated an
internal system and standards to encourage employees
to adopt water conservation practices, in order to
promote water conservation awareness among our
employees. Steps which the Group has taken include
installation of water saving devices in the office, placing
notices and posters in all offices to remind employees
not to waste water, monitoring water usage in the
office to ensure that there are no leaky taps, and to
report any malfunctions as soon as possible to arrange
repairs. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
aggregate water consumption in its offices was 131
cubic metres, and density of water consumption
calculated using office area is 0.0545 cubic metres of
water consumed per square metre of office space. Total
water consumption in the Year decreased by 1.36%
compared to the previous year. Such decrease was
mainly due to our water conservation.

Mz BgERReEmEREREERE
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (Continued)

A3 The Environment and Natural

Resources
Environmental Impact Management

The Group is deeply aware of the importance of
environmental protection, social responsibility and
governance, and will continue to promote a green
office environment through the 4Rs of reduction,
reuse, recycling and replacement. Although the core
businesses of the Group do not have a significant impact
on the environment and natural resources, the Group
has always strictly complied with laws, regulations
and national standards relating to environmental
protection, and incorporates the impact of its operation
on environment as one of its significant considerations
and endeavours to minimise the impact of Company’s
operation on environment.

Besides, the Group constantly conducts assessment
and supervision on environmental risks during daily
operation, and immediately formulates mitigation
measures upon identification of potential environmental
risks to keep such risks under control.

Impact of Climate Change

In the past few decades, the global climate has
experienced significant change, as temperatures have
risen around the world, extreme weather events
have become more frequent and severe, potentially
disrupting business operations worldwide and adversely
impacting the macro economy. The Group is principally
engaged in property investments and trading, and is
not involved in manufacturing. Rising temperatures may
result in increased energy consumption by the offices
of the Group. The Group will continue to monitor
potential risks of climate change and its impact on the
Group's operations and customers, and formulate and
implement corresponding preventive and emergency
response measures.
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B1 1EfE

B. SOCIAL B.
B1 Employment

Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities
Policies

The Group believes that talent is a key factor for
enterprise competitiveness and human resources play
a vital role in the Group’s long-term development and
success. Therefore, the Group strives to introduce talents
through multi-channel and cultivate talents through the
adoption of an incentive mechanism. During the Year,
the Group had a total of 163 employees, all of which
were full-time employees. The number of male and
female employees was 106 and 57, respectively. 140
employees worked in Mainland China, 14 employees
worked in Hong Kong, and 9 employees worked in
Mongolia. The total staff turnover rate was 33% during
the Year.

To attract and retain talents, ensure smooth business
operation of the Group and in line with continuous
expansion needs, the Group has its human resources
management policy in place to regulate matters
relating to staff recruitment, promotion, dismissal,
working hours, holidays, remuneration packages and
benefits. The remuneration of the Group’s employees is
determined with reference to market standard, industry
practice and staff's qualifications and experience.
Meanwhile, the Group distributes bonuses to employees
to the extent possible according to profitability as

BEESHFBERFEREHE

REBBELERT INBRERAAS -
ANBEREAEBNREREREKNINER
FZ ARAEBBROANRSZERESIEA
T WHRABEESIFEAT - REAREE
HEBT163A 2HAZBET - Bk
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B ARETERE TIE140A » EHET
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Ao REMBRE TRAER3IZ% o
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BEEGIEREA TRE2FE A%
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B BT BRE - TR RED - M
FBRENEEEE - ARBEREFHM
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B - BB R E — A& o A%
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incentives for the contributions they made to the BERE - BIMRR - BIERL - BEERH
Group and provides staff with on-the-job training and (R "R ER #FER BR =
development opportunities to assist them to show their AEBE) o BT TIERHEMEBAN LS

talents in the positions. The benefit plan of the Group's
staff comprises MPF, medical insurance, accidental
insurance, employees’ benefits, paid holidays (annual
leave, sick leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marital
leave and examination leave). Both staff’s working
hours and holiday schedules have rigorously complied
with national and local laws and regulations to make
sure staff can demonstrate their abilities in a favourable
working environment.

BB E ST BRI T HOERER - AR
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B1 Employment (Continued)

Employee Benefits and Equal Opportunities
Policies (Continued)

The Group takes a fair and open principle on
recruitment policy, adheres to the basic principle of
merit and capabilities, open position recruitment, equal
competition, two-way selection and engagement of
the excellent in recruitment. All candidates are required
to undergo an objective orientation examination and
interview to assess whether their abilities can meet
our development requirements. At the same time, the
Group is also required to ensure the fairness of the
overall recruitment process through stringent approval
procedures. In addition, the Group provides staff with
good promotion prospects and opportunities. The
Group established an annual performance appraisal
system to review staff performance and remuneration
policy regularly, intending to reward and motivate the
contribution and performance of employees and assist
them in their career development and promotion within
the Group.

In the meantime, the Group is committed to providing
staff with a fair and equitable working environment with
no discrimination. The Group prohibits the occurrence of
any form of discrimination in its working environment,
avoid any form of discriminating recruitment,
redesignation, remuneration and promotion. The Group
establishes the reporting and complaint mechanism
system to report or submit complaints to the head of
the human resources department immediately in case
of any biased treatment, and the task force will conduct
an investigation and take appropriate follow up actions.
If our employees have any problems or opinions, they
could give feedback through the communication
channels established by the Group.

As teamwork is one of the core values of the Group, we
understand the importance of maintaining a suitable
work-life balance for our employees, hence the Group
arranged a series of corporate and social activities for
employees to enhance the corporate culture and their
sense of belongings. By doing these, the Group aims
to strengthen the connection between employees and
promote the balance between work and life.

During the Year, there was no significant breach of
any relevant laws and regulations such as Labour Law
relating to human resources.

No forfeited contributions may be and by employer to
reduce existing level of contributions.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B2 Health and Safety

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group regards staff’s occupational health and
safety as our foremost responsibility, and endeavours
to provide staff with a satisfactory and safe working
environment. As regard to fire control safety, the Group
provides all staff with detailed guidelines on fire escape
routes and escape procedures and requires staff to
participate in fire escape drills of office buildings. In
addition, the Group also encourages staff to report
various accidents that occurred during work and other
unsafe factors. Staff may seek assistance from the
human resources and administration department in case
of an accident during work or within the working arena.
The Group gives priority to staff’s safety under adverse
weather conditions (such as a rainstorm, typhoon).
Staffs are required to comply with the guidelines for
the staff’s working arrangement under adverse weather
conditions to safeguard staff safety to the greatest
extent.

Besides, the Group also pays high attention to the
staff’s physical and psychological health. The Group
organises various sports and recreation activities from
time to time. In addition to building up a healthy body,
staff may develop team spirit to promote a harmonious
working environment.

For tungsten mines exploitation in Mongolia, as
no active mining operation of the Group has taken
place yet, the guidelines on providing a safe working
environment and protection of employees from
occupational hazards were not applicable during
the Reporting Period. Once the exploitation of the
mines commences officially, apart from making sure
meeting the business compliance with local laws and
regulations on production safety, the Group will also
formulate a code of practice and safety guidelines in
place to standardise business processes, and detail the
safety precautions for different mining procedures. At
the same time, the Group will also conduct regular
occupational safety training on mining staff, require
staff to get equipped with protective equipment and
conduct on-going monitoring regarding the mining
environment to ensure working environment safety.
Besides, the Group will also adopt advanced technology
to enable more efficient and more secure mining
operations.

During the Year, the Group did not have any violations
of laws and regulations related to employee health and
safety.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B3 Development and Training

Employee Training Plan

The Group believes that talent development is an
enterprise’s development foundation. Hence, the
Group pays high attention to the staff's occupation
development and training. The Group has established
systematic training regimens and training systems to
support staff’s continuous development, among which
it comprises induction training, on-the-job training and
external training. At the end of each year, the human
resources and administration department collects
the training and developing requirements from each
department and formulates training plans based on
the information and opinions collected. Apart from
induction training, newly employed staff will continue to
learn and improve themselves during the mentoring by
experienced staff. Besides, the Group will also arrange
on-the-job training and external training tailored to
staff’s needs according to their operation post, personal
ability and aspiration to promote staff’s continuous
growth and development at work. After completing
the training, the Group will also collect staff's feedback
to constantly improve our training quality. The Group
started to set up special education allowances in
the Year to encourage potential staff to commence
continuing study relating to current works or for long-
term career development purposes to meet the business
development goals of the Group.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B4 Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour

The Group is always committed to creating harmonious
labour relationships with staff and strictly complies
with the employment laws and regulations and labour
law of the region where it locates to ensure the staff's
interest was fully safeguarded. The Group establishes
a rigorous and comprehensive recruitment review
process and upholds the principle of fairness, openness
and voluntariness for staff employment. At the time of
the interview, candidates should provide identification
documents and valid employment visas for us to conduct
a due diligent investigation on their basic information,
sign a legal labour contract. The recruitment for all staff
is on an optional and legal basis. In addition, the Group
pays equal attention to the implementation of labour
standards in subsidiaries and outsourcing companies.
The Group will regularly conduct a random inspection
on subsidiaries and outsourcing companies to make
sure no violation of relevant laws and regulations.

During the Year, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to the prevention of child
labour or forced labour.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B5 Supply Chain Management

Sustainable Supply Chain

Given that supply chain management is the key factor
of sustainable development, such that the Group has
stringent requirements for supplier management. Each
department is required to purchase according to the
“Guidelines for Procurement Process Standard of Office
Supplies and Fixed Assets” prepared by the human
resource and administration department. In addition,
Group's purchasing department sets up a dedicated
department task force to formulate and complete the
procurement process standard, conducts an annual
review and update on the procurement process to make
sure the Group adheres to the principle of openness,
fairness and transparency for supplier selection, and
conducts procurement at reasonable price and quality.
In the coming years, the Group will continuously
plan and develop the supplier selection mechanism
to reinforce suppliers’ requirements and focus on
environmental protection, labour safety and staff
protection.

In the Year, the Group had a total of 20 suppliers,
which locate in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The
Group will also supervise supplier performance. The
Group will suspend supplier service if its performance
is unsatisfactory. Meanwhile, the Group also intends
to carry out regular annual assessments regarding
supplier performance and requires all suppliers to
satisfy the Group’s requirements in the environmental
protection and social responsibilities aspects, such as
adopting green materials, prohibiting employment of
forced labour and child labour before continuing the
cooperation relationship.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)
B6 Product Responsibility

Customer Service

The Group attaches great importance to our service
quality and customer experience. The Group built
customer satisfaction through constantly improving our
service standard for customers to make sure providing
customers with quality products and services and set
up an effective customer complaint mechanism to
constantly improve service experience through customer
feedback. The Group dedicates to provide accurate
information for customers to make wise investment
decisions, provides customers with sufficient advice and
coaching to help them understand and select products
and services required through offering products and
services with clear descriptions and provisions.

(i) Customer Satisfaction

The Group regularly conducts annual customer
satisfaction investigations to continuously
improve our products and services and analyses
in detail the investigation results in accordance
with indicators of the established service, which
includes management service quality, service and
product safety, customer service and product
support. The Group will also improve its customer
service performance next year by establishing an
action programme.

(i) Customer Complaint Follow-up

The Group attaches great importance to client
feedback for improving its service quality
continuously by humbly accepting customers’
opinions. The Group has set up a professional
customer service team to address and follow up
on customer complaints. Every complaint will be
investigated and followed up by a special person
in charge and the whole process will be monitored
by management. After the reasons for the
complaints are identified and responding progress
is completed, the special person in charge will
contact the complainant to offer our resolutions
for the proper handling of the customer complaint.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B6 Product Responsibility (Continued)

Marketing

Integrity management is the essential merit of our
business operation. The Group endeavours a responsible
marketing strategy with no exaggerated marketing
tactics. All sales, promotion documents and data are
required to be approved by management before rolling
out to make sure complying with the requirements of
relevant advertisement laws and regulations.

Customer Privacy Guarantee

The protection of the privacy of customers or consumers
is crucial for the Group’s operation. Except for the
public documents as specified in laws and regulations,
the Group strictly follows the relevant privacy ordinance
in relation to the usage and confidentiality requirements
of customers’ or consumers’ private information and
never allow information disclosure without the approval
of data owners. Group has a “Staff Code of Practice” in
place to standardise the principle of management, usage
and abide by the confidentiality of business data and
prohibits casual management and storage of customer
information. In addition, the Group emphasise the
importance of protecting customer data, and provide
guidance on customer data processing in staff training
and devote all our efforts to prevent the leakage of
customer information.

During the Year, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to privacy, product, service
quality and marketing.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B7 Anti-corruption

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud

The Group propagandises an enterprise culture of
honesty, integrity and righteousness and commits
to building an anti-fraud and anti-corruption
corporate culture environment. The Group requires
staff to stringently comply with the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and strives to maintain the clean
management and operation structure of the Company.
Meanwhile, the Group set up the “Staff Code of
Practice” and disseminated it to all staff. The Practice
standardises the staff’s code of conduct and the
guidelines on conflict of interests and requires staff to
report regularly on any conflict of interests. Besides, the
Group also establishes a series of anti-fraud measures,
among which include propaganda and training of
antifraud policy, fraud risk assessment mechanism and
complaint reporting mechanism.

Under the guidance of anti-fraud policies and related
measures, the Group regularly organises and invites
professionals to conduct training on laws, regulations,
integrity and ethics. Employees are taught how to
identify and correctly handle conflict of interests at work
and resist the temptation of improper interests. Under
the fraudulent risk assessment mechanism established
by the Group, it is regularly conducted fraudulent
risk identification and assessment at the Group's
and department’s level to assess the importance and
possibility of fraudulent risk and formulate resolutions
to address fraudulent risk as required. The Group
also established a set of comprehensive complaint
channels, investigation mechanisms and accountability
mechanisms. Any staff, supplier and customer of the
Group may report any undue staff behaviour through
the channel provided for assisting the Group to
supervise staff’s ethical character and penalise staff for
any misconduct. Complaints matters include but are
not limited to the violation of laws, regulations and
the Group’s policy requirements, or undue behaviour
relating to internal monitoring, operation, accounting,
auditing, finance and undue conduct, illegal act or
fraudulent matters.
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B. SOCIAL (continued)

B7

B8

Anti-corruption (Continued)

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud (Continued)

The above policy regarding bribery, conflict of interests
and whistle-blowing forms part of the Group’s Code
of Conduct for employees and is clearly set out in the
Employee Handbook. All employees are required to
follow stringently.

During the Year, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to the prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community Investment
Contributions to the Society

The Group always attaches importance to the corporate
social responsibilities, adheres to the concept of
repaying the society while its business is developing
and devotes ourselves to the social and public welfare
to make contributions in facilitating social harmonious
development. At the same time, the Group also actively
encourages its staff to participate in various social
and public services to cultivate their sense of social
responsibility, strive to build a harmonious community,
and make greater contributions to society.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Group acknowledges the importance of a healthy corporate
culture, which is vital to attain the Group’s vision and strategy. The
Board is responsible for fostering a corporate culture in accordance
with the core principles of integrity, commitment, sustainable
returns to Shareholders and high ethical standards.

The Board continuously review and adjust, if necessary, the
Group's business strategics and keep track of the changing market
conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken
to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to foster
the sustainability of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adhering to the principles of corporate governance
with emphasis on transparency, independence, accountability
and responsibility. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of Shareholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) throughout
the year ended 31 December 2024 as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules, except for certain deviations disclosed in this
corporate governance report (“CG Report”).

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"),
as amended from time to time, as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by its Directors. Having made specific enquiry, all
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2024. The Company’'s Model Code also
applies to all employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code was noted by the Company during the year ended
31 December 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All
Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman of the board
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The roles of the Company’s chairman of the Board
(“Chairman”) are to provide leadership to the Board and
formulate the Group’s business strategies. This aimed at striking
a balance of power and authority, job responsibilities are not
concentrated on any one individual. The Chairman is responsible
for ensuring the Board works effectively, in particular, ensuring all
Directors receive reliable, adequate and complete information in a
timely manner. The Chairman may communicate with the Directors
directly or through the assistance of the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”) to discuss or clarify any
issues concerning the Group from time to time, and to provide any
supporting information and documents to them. The Chairman
assumes the primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established.

CEOQ is responsible for the conduct of day-to-day operation of
the Group and accountable to the Board for all aspects of the
corporate performance. He recommends policies to the Board
for consideration and approval, and keeps the Board informed of
any material developments of the Company’s business. The CEO
may delegate his duties to any other management members or
responsible officers of the Company but he assumes the principal
responsibility.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adhering to the principles of corporate governance
with emphasis on transparency, independence, accountability
and responsibility. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Part 2
of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, except for certain deviations
disclosed herein.

The CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman of the board
and chief executive officer (“CEQ") should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wang
Hongfang performs both roles of chairman and CEO during the
period starting from 31 January 2022 to 31 October 2024 and
was responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Group.
The Board believes that it was in the best interests of the Group
to have Mr. Wang Hongfang taking up both roles for effective
management and business development. In addition, the Group
operations were also supervised and managed by the rest of the
Board, comprising one other executive Director, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors, who
provide balance of power and sufficient checks to protect interest
of the Company and shareholders as a whole. Following retirement
of Mr. Wang, Mr. Su Shigong and Ms. Yang Yuhua were
appointed as chairman of the board and CEO of the Company
respectively and the Company has been in compliance with the CG
Code since then.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Composition

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, one
non-executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors. The Directors during the reporting year and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Su Shigong (Chairman)
(appointed as Executive Director on 11 September 2024 and
appointed as Chairman on 31 October 2024)

Ms. Yang Yuhua (CEO)
(appointed as Executive Director on 11 September 2024 and
appointed as CEO on 31 October 2024)

Mr. Wang Hongfang (Chairman and CEQ)
(retired on 31 October 2024)

Mr. Zheng Yuchun (Executive President)
(resigned on 31 October 2024)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lu Yunsong
(appointed on 11 September 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs")

Dr. Gao Bin
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk
Ms. Song Yanjie

Both Mr. Wang and Mr. Zheng retired and resigned respectively

so as to devote more time to their personal and other business
commitments.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

INEDs and their independence

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with at least
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term subject to re-election.

INEDs are not appointed for a specific term while NED is appointed
for a term of three years. However, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws. Each
of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all INEDs are independent.

Independent view and input

In order to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board, the Board has developed the following mechanisms,
including but not limited to:

(i)  atleast one-third of Board members are INEDs;

(i) every INED is appointed for a specific term and subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years;

(iii)  INEDs possess professional knowledge and Board experience;

(iv)  no INED has served the Company for more than nine years;

(v)  no INED holds more than six listed company directorships
to make sure that each of INEDs has sufficient time to make

contributions to the Board;

(vi) every INED has made an annual confirmation of his/her
independence to the Company; and

(vii) the Board, each of its Board committees or every Director is
able to seek professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company'’s expenses.

The implementation and effectiveness of relevant mechanisms have
been reviewed by the Board and will further be reviewed annually.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors” on pages 32 to 36 of this annual report, which
demonstrates a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications.

Pursuant to Bye-law 85 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the
Directors shall retire by rotation at each annual general meeting
of the Company provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at the annual general meeting of the Company at least
once every three years. All retiring Directors shall be eligible for
re-election.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board and has more than one-third in number of its
members comprising INEDs.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. Each executive Director is suitably qualified for his/
her position, and has sufficient experience to hold the position so as
to carry out his/her duties effectively and efficiently.

Legal advice to newly appointed Directors

Each of Mr. Su Shigong and Ms. Yang Yuhua was appointed
as an executive director, and Mr. Lu Yunsong was appointed
as a non-executive director of the Company on 11 September
2024, respectively, and each of them had confirmed that
he/she understood his obligations as a director of the
Company after obtaining the legal advice referred to in
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 9 September 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the executive
Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and each Director
is able to request inclusion of items in the agenda. The Board
schedules at least four regular meetings a year and also meets as
and when required. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Board held sixteen meetings. All such meetings were convened in
accordance with the Bye-laws.

Adequate and appropriate information are circulated to the
Directors normally three days in advance of Board meetings or such
period accepted by them. In addition to regular Board meetings,
the Chairman should at least annually hold a meeting with the
INEDs without the presence of other Directors pursuant to the CG
Code.

Minutes of all Board and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors.
Draft minutes of all Board and committee meetings are circulated
to all Directors and committee members for comments within the
period accepted by them after each meeting.
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TEEAWME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Attendance of Directors at various meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the attendance of each
individual Director at the Board meetings, committee meetings
and the annual general meeting held on 31 October 2024 (“2024
AGM"), are as follow:

EER®)

REENESHESR
BE-—T-—mat-—A=t+—BIEE SEEH
FEEREH ZECQERN-_T-_MEL+A
St-REArREREAS((CE-NERRE
EXG|)ZHEEROT -

Attended/Eligible to attend

g/ RERLRE
Audit Nomination  Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
EZREE BNZESSE REZR0EE FWzseeE BRRAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Su Shigong (Chairman) Mt BRtt- A 5E A4 (35 ) 5/5 N/A RNEF N/A TiEF N/A TNE A 11
Ms. Yang Yuhua (CEO) Mete? BEERL 5/5 N/A T EF N/A T EF N/A g N
(TrB#az;) "
Mr. Wang Hongfang TR, (LEE 13/13 N/A i@ N/A & F N/A iE 1N
(Chairman & CEQ) Mote? T M=)
Mr. Zheng Yuchun BE=REE 13/13 N/A RNER N/A NEF N/A TNEFA 11
(Executive President) o4 (B77483%) M
Non-executive Director FHTEE
Mr. Lu Yunsong Mte3 BERE LM 4/4 N/A i A N/A i F N/A i "
Independent Non-executive ~— BUHHTEZE
Directors
Dr. Gao Bin =ERT 9/12 2/4 3/3 33 "
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk REE KA 1212 4/4 33 33 11
Ms. Song Yanjie REEREZL 11/12 4/4 23 23 11
Notes: ks

1. Appointed on 11 September 2024
2. Appointed on 11 September 2024
3. Retired on 31 October 2024

4. Resigned on 31 October 2024

5. Appointed on 11 September 2024
According to the CG Code, all independent non-executive directors

and non-executive directors should attend general meetings of
listed issuers.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

The Company provides regular updates on the business
performance of the Group to the Directors. The Directors are
continually updated on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable statutory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeeping of good corporate governance
practices.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh knowledge and
skills. The Company has received confirmation from all Directors of
their respective training records for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Corporate governance functions

Pursuant the CG Code, the Board is also responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as set out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the CG Report.

This CG Report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge of its
corporate governance functions.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and
indemnity

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in
the execution of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto,
the Company has arranged insurance cover for this purpose.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee"”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) stipulating the composition of the Board. The Company
seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualification,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The appointment of
the members of the Board will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board
has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and considers that the
composition of the Board satisfied the Board Diversity Policy and
the Company has not set any measurable objectives.

The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management)
is: male 65% and female 35%.

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) with the aim of ensuring the Board has a balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business. When considering
a candidate nominated for directorship or a retiring Director’s
proposed re-appointment, the Nomination Committee will
have regard to, among other things, (i) age, skills, knowledge,
experience, expertise, professional and educational qualifications,
background and other personal qualities of the candidate; (ii)
effect on the Board’s composition and diversity; (iii) commitment
of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively carry out
his/her duties; (iv) potential and/or actual conflicts of interest
that may arise; (v) independence; (vi) in the case of a proposed
reappointment of an INED, the number of years he/she has already
served; and (vii) other factors considered to be relevant by the
Nomination Committee. Having due regard to the Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
will identify and consider each suitable candidate or retiring
Director and make recommendation to the Board. Subject to the
provisions of the Bye-laws, each the appointment of new Director
and re-appointment of Director will be stand for re-election at the
general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Nomination Committee are:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk
Ms. Song Yanjie

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held three meetings. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 62 of this annual
report.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2024 included:

(@) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

(b) identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendation to the Board on their
appointments;

(c) assessed the independence of the INEDs;

(d) made recommendations to the Board on the retiring Directors
for re-election at the 2024 AGM; and

(e) reviewed the Nomination Policy.
Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the composition

of the Board, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee"”) was established with a specific written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board, among other things, on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
all Directors and senior management of the Company. No
individual Director is involved in decisions relating to his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
model under the CG Code to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the
Remuneration Committee were:

Dr. Gao Bin (Chairman)
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk
Ms. Song Yanjie

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held three meetings. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 62 of this annual
report.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2024 included:

(@) reviewed the performance of executive Director and specific
staff and recommended to the Board specific adjustments in
reward payments;

(b) reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management for the year
ended 31 December 2024;

(c) reviewed and recommended the remuneration packages of
the newly appointed Directors and senior management for

the year ended 31 December 2024; and

(d) reviewed and approved the matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) was
established with a specific written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising
the financial reporting process, assisting the Board to ensure
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and providing advice and comments to the Board. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
its duties and may access to independent professional advice if
considered necessary.

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprises three
Directors, all of them are INEDs. The members of the Audit
Committee are:

Mr. Leung Ting Yuk (Chairman)
Dr. Gao Bin
Ms. Song Yanjie

Mr. Leung Ting Yuk, the Chairman of Audit Committee, possesses
relevant professional qualifications and financial management
expertise and meets the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee held four meetings. The attendance of each member
during the reporting year is set out on page 62 of this annual
report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the work performed by
the Audit Committee included:

(a)

reviewed with the Company’s auditors the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
reviewed the unaudited interim financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2024, with recommendations to
the Board for approval;

reviewed the risk management report on monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group;

reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and
statutory requirements;

reviewed with the management of the Company the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

reviewed the term and remuneration for the appointment
of Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) for accounting for
accounting advisory service on the interim results for the six-
months ended 30 June 2024;

reviewed the term and remuneration for the appointment
of KTC Partners CPA Limited (“"KTC") as external auditor to
perform the agreed-upon procedures of the final results for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and accounting advisory
service on the interim results for the six-months ended 30
June 2025;

reviewed Elite’s independence as external auditor (especially
on non-audit services);

reviewed KTC's independence as external auditor (especially
on non-audit services); and

nominated the appointment of KTC as the auditors of the
Company at the 2024 AGM.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and may access to independent professional
advice if considered necessary.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remunerations
paid and payable to Elite and KTC for audit services and non-audit
services regarding the review of interim financial statements and
other assurance and non-assurance engagements rendered to the
Group are as follow:

Services rendered for the Group

BTN &

REBEE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HILtEE  gtANKX
SBERH I EZRBE LT AN BHREER R MMZ
FBNIEZE T ENIEEZRGEN REMN FRITK
FinzMenT

Fees paid/
payable to
Elite/KTC
2B

B HEmHE A
HK$'000

AAEEREZRE TETT

Audit services (KTC)
Non-audit services (Elite)

Total @Et

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity of
KTC and has recommended to the Board the re-appointment of
KTC as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and
cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the year ended 31
December 2023, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently.

The responsibility of the auditors with respect to these financial
statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 90 to 99 of this annual report.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

The Directors draw attention to Note 3.1 in the consolidated
financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a
loss of approximately HK$759,743,000 during the year ended 31
December 2024 and, as of that date, the Group has net current
liabilities of approximately HK$3,026,174,000 and net liabilities
of approximately HK$1,736,432,000, including the overdue bank
borrowing of approximately HK$1,430,004,000 and accrued
interest of approximately HK$536,797,000 which have not yet
been successfully renewed, extended nor repaid during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to date of this report.
Additionally, certain legal claims filed against the Group related to
certain pledge of assets and financial guarantees up to the date of
this report remain in default. As stated in Note 3.1, these events
or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3.1,
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

After considering the following factors, the Board believes that the
Group has sufficient capital to operate on going concern basis:

(i) various business segments of the Group are either self-
sustained (e.g. the shopping mall business in the PRC and the
business of flooring materials and medical equipment trading)
or inactive (e.g. the business of mining and exploitation of
natural resources) as at the date of this report;

(i) audited bank balances and cash of the Group as at 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$353 million;
and

(i) even after the payment made to Shengjing Bank in relation
to financial guarantee settlement, the Group still has bank
balances and cash available for use, which amounted to
approximately HK$91 million as at 31 January 2025.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE

The Board takes overall responsibility for ESG strategy, overseeing
senior management in developing the approach, execution and
associated reporting. The Board continues to adopt enhanced
measures to reduce energy and other resource utilisation, minimise
waste and increase recycling, encouraging its employees to adopt
environmentally responsible behaviours whilst also promoting
environmental protection to the Group’s customers. During the
Year, the Board received and reviewed the ESG report. Details of
the Group’s ESG performance in 2024 are disclosed in the 2024
ESG Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining a sound
risk management and internal control system within the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness. This risk management and
internal control system is received annually. However, such system
was designed only to manage various risks of the Group within
certain acceptable risk level, rather than completely eliminate the
risk of failing to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or losses. The Audit Committee assists the
Board to oversee the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has a risk management and compliance department to
perform the internal audit functions. During the year under review,
the internal auditors of the Group carried out an analysis and
independent appraisal regarding the adequacy and effectiveness
of its risk management and internal control systems. In addition,
the Group has developed an internal control model which follows
the principle of Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO"). It consists of five elements,
namely control environment, risk assessment, control, information
and communication, and monitoring. Under this control
model, the Group’s management is responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control measures and
its effectiveness, and the Board and Audit Committee will supervise
the appropriateness of internal control measures as designed by
the management and the effective implementation of internal
control measures. Meanwhile, the internal control has adapted to
the Group's scale of operation, scope of business, competition and
risks, and is subject to prompt adjustments according to changes
in circumstances. It will be a long-lasting and continuous work
to improve the internal control system, implement the regulated
system and intensify the supervision and examination of internal
control.

Bk E R A Ep R

EXREERAEHRYREREZNEREIRR
NESEIE R A - UARIEERR - ZERAREE N
NEEIE R G EFIENE - A - AERHREHE
AEAERINERSEANEERAEENRR - M
FETERBRAEB AR EDEBK B ENRR - MA
R T e ERNAERAREEIELAIEMIE
BUEMRTE - BRZESHPESREEEEEY

[\ B IR & A BREE IR RATRORRET - BB ERE -

REERAREERERESHITFIABITRREZI
B o NEIEFE - AEERNIZEE YRR EE
RABERERFRE BHMAMIEL DT RIELET
iy o AR AEBERBRBEE2ERERUEVBREEES
244 (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission » 45 % ([ COSO J)) £y
FRAGIEABEZEER  HERELE  &ER
% AbgEtE - BEIE  BAEER ULER
Tt BEREXT  A5EEEEATR:
BEHMARFALEFEELEERE  MEER/R
EREE SR ERERITNNMEREEERE
g AREEBEINERENIT - R - A EBEEHIE
BAREBKERE  EBEHE - 5 F IR X
FEERE - WREZBE RS R IAEE - 5T
ZEBIRGIHIE - AR E K1 E BT LA K sa (b P BB
MEBRE  HE—ERAMBSENIE-

AMFRERAT — S _MFFR

71



72

Corporate Governance Report
TEEAWME

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (Continued)

The risk management and compliance department also prepared
a risk management framework of the Group, including the
construction of the architecture for the aforementioned
organisation and definition of the responsibilities of all parties
concerned, and prepared risk management policies and processes
and clarified the risk assessment procedures, which, specifically
include risk identification, risk analysis, risk control and risk report.

Step 1: Risk identification — identify risks currently exposed to the
Group and business and its existing management and
control measures.

Step 2: Risk analysis — analyse the possibility of risk, extent of
influence and its existing management and control
measures, identify risk exposure, and propose further
countermeasures.

Step 3:  Risk control — implement and periodically detect the
identified risks to ensure effective operation of risk
countermeasures.

Step 4:  Risk report — summarise the results of risk management
analysis, prepare action plans and report to the
management, Audit Committee and the Board. During
the year under review, the risk management and
compliance department has updated and revised the
Group's risk management system in light of its actual
conditions with the assistance of individual business units
and departments to review and provide their feedbacks.

During the year, through this risk management system, the risk
management and compliance department selected the major
business units and departments of the Group to complete three
major risk control activities, including its assessment, scoring and
ranking, and prepare risk countermeasures to ensure that each
significant risk has adequate corresponding risk countermeasures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board considered
the Group’s current risk assessment system was effective and
adequate. Periodical reviews will be performed to improve and
safeguard the effective operation of the Group'’s risk management
system. In addition, in view of the enhanced control on listed
companies in recent years by regulators such as the SFC and
the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange, backed by the
consolidated corporate systems and procedures and internal
control manual, the risk management and compliance department
conducted sampling check on major compliance control activities
and procedures of the Group during the year under review and no
material internal control deficiencies was discovered.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
has reviewed the findings and impartial opinion of the risk
management and compliance department on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The Board is of the opinion that the available resources and staff
qualifications of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions are adequate and sufficient. Based on the information
furnished and upon its own observations, the Board is satisfied
with the present internal controls of the Group.

The Group regularly reminds the Directors and employees on
compliance policy regarding inside information, and provides
them updates in relation to the appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure complying with regulatory requirements. The Group
is aware of its obligations under the SFO, the Listing Rules and
overriding principles and that inside information should be
announced timely and conducts its affairs in strict compliance with
the prevailing applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
All Directors should make decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing, and coordinating the daily operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Yick Pang, Philip (“Mr. Poon”) is a full-time employee
company secretary of the Group. He is responsible for facilitating
the Board process, as well as the communications among the
Board members, Shareholders and Management. He also prepared
detailed minutes of each meeting and such minutes would be
sent to the Board for comments as soon as practicable. Mr. Poon
reports directly to the Board. All Directors are able to access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Poon undertook no

less than fifteen hours of professional training to update his skills
and knowledge pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
all Shareholders. The annual general meeting of the Company
is a valuable avenue for the Board to enter into direct dialogue
with Shareholders. The Chairman and the members of Board
committees will attend the annual general meeting to answer any
question raised from the Shareholders.

The interim and annual reports of the Company are despatched
to Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid
by statutory and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective
communication with Shareholders.

All the Shareholders are given at least twenty clear business days’
notice before the date of the annual general meetings and at
least ten clear business days’ notice for all other general meetings
pursuant to the provisions of CG Code applicable during the
reporting period.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and
notices of Shareholders meetings as required under the Listing
Rules are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the requirements concerning
voting by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the poll voting
procedures and the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll are
included in circulars to Shareholders despatched by the Company
and explained by the chairman of general meeting at the meeting.
All resolutions proposed at general meeting are voted separately.

The Board has reviewed the implementation of the shareholder’s
communication policy and considers its implementation as
effective.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for convening a special general
meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. Pursuant to Bye-law
58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company may send
a written request to the Board to request for a special general
meeting; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholder(s)
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Unit 2101-02, 21/F, Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or at the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would
be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto
in accordance with the requirements under Section 74 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”) once a valid
requisition is received.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.

A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by the Directors.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall
be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings

The following Shareholder(s) is/are entitled to put forward
a proposal (which may properly be put to the meeting) for
consideration at a general meeting of the Company:

(@) any number of members representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company on the
date of the requisition; or

(b) not less than one hundred Shareholders holding shares in the
Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned, together with a statement of not more
than a thousand words with respect to the matter referred to
in the proposal must be deposited at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 2101-02, 21/F, Emperor
Group Centre, 288 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or at
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The Company would
take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
and the Shareholder(s) concerned would be responsible for the
expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with the
requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act once
valid documents are received.

Dividend policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and
payment) under the Companies Act and the Bye-laws. In proposing
any dividend payout, the Board shall take into account, inter alia,
the Group's actual and expected financial results, the economic
conditions and other factors that may have impact on the Group;
the Group’s business strategies, current and future operations,
liquidity position and capital requirements and any other factors
that the Board deems appropriate. The dividend payout ratio will
vary from year to year. There is no assurance that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Procedures for directing Shareholders’
enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board in writing via the following channel:

In respect of the corporate affairs:

The Board of Directors/Company Secretary
Tai United Holdings Limited

Unit 2101-02, 21/F

Emperor Group Centre

288 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: ir@taiunited.com

Facsimile: (852) 2667-2667

In respect of the other shareholding/entitlement affairs:

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

No significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Report of the Directors
EF WS

The Directors are pleased to submit herewith their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group was principally engaged in (i)
properties investment; (i) medical equipment trading; (iii) flooring
materials trading; (iv) mining and exploitation of natural resources;
and (v) financial services and assets management.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 43
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2024 by segments are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 100 to 101. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 and a discussion on the Group’s further
business development are provided in the sections headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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EXZRWE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group include
strategic, operational and financial risks. Each of them is discussed
briefly as below:

Strategic risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge
to the external environments. The Group will invest in projects
and investments based on the strategic plan in order to cope with
the market demand and expectation. Given the rapid change
of unforeseeable external environments in the financial and
equity markets, the Group is facing significant strategic risks on
its investments when changing the strategic plans to adopt the
unexpected changes of external environments.

Operational risks

Management regularly reviews the Group’s operations to ensure
that the Group’s risk of losses, whether financial or otherwise,
resulting from fraud, errors, omissions and other operational and
compliance matters, are adequately managed.

Financial risks

The principal financial risks are set out in note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report headed
under “Financial risk management objectives and policies”.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial reporting periods is set out on page
227 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024, together with the reasons, are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has no reserves available
for distribution to equity holders of the parent, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act, (2023: nil).
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EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report, no equity-
linked arrangements were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at year ended 31 December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no convertible
securities, options (including share options under the Share Option
Scheme), warrants or similar rights was issued or granted by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, nor was there any exercise
of any conversion or subscription rights of such aforementioned
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and investment properties during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in notes 17 to 18 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of the Group’s borrowings are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATION

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTIONS OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company'’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares). As at
31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any treasury shares.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Su Shigong (Chairman)
(appointed as Executive Director on 11 September 2024 and
appointed as Chairman on 31 October 2024)

Ms. Yang Yuhua (CEO)
(appointed as Executive Director on 11 September 2024 and
appointed as CEO on 31 October 2024)

Mr. Wang Hongfang (Chairman & CEQ)
(retired on 31 October 2024)

Mr. Zheng Yuchun (Executive President)
(resigned on 31 October 2024)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lu Yunsong
(appointed on 11 September 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Gao Bin
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk
Ms. Song Yanjie

Pursuant to Bye-laws 85 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Leung Ting Yuk and
Ms. Song Yanjie shall retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the INEDs had made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all INEDs are independent.

The Nomination Committee has assessed and reviewed the annual
written confirmations of each of Mr. Leung Ting Yuk and Ms. Song
Yanjie based on the independent guidelines as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and confirmed that each of them remains
independent. As each of Mr. Leung Ting Yuk and Ms. Song Yanjie
has provided a wide range of perspectives and contributed insights
and independent views to the Board during his/her tenure and
has devoted sufficient time to the Company, the Nomination
Committee believes that each of such independent non-executive
Directors will continue to provide a diversity of experience,
skills, expertise and background to the Board. The Nomination
Committee considered that the proposed re-election of each of Mr.
Leung Ting Yuk and Ms. Song Yanjie would enhance the diversity
of the Board having regard to his/her expertise, background and
experience.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The Director’s biographical information are set out on pages 32 to
36 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Bye-law 165(1) of the Bye-laws provides that, among others, every
Director and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices and related matters provided that the indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which
may attach to any of them.

In this connection, the Company has arranged directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, (a) no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance, to which the Company
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest directly
or indirectly; and (b) no contracts of significance between the
Company or its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or its
subsidiaries or contract of significance for the provision of services
to the Company or its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or
its subsidiaries, subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates was interested
in, apart from the Group’s businesses, any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or were in existence during the year ended 31
December 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Reference is made to note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report for related party disclosures.
None of these transactions constitutes a connected transaction
discloseable under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and/or related
party transaction under Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24.

On 23 April 2024, the Company and C&E Flooring Supply Limited
(the “Purchaser”) entered into the sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to sell,
and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, all the issued
shares of Wide Flourish Investments Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company as of the date of the sale and purchase
agreement) (the “Target Company”) for a consideration of
GBP50,000,000. The transaction was completed on 27 December
2024. The Target Company and its subsidiaries primarily hold and
manages the properties located in London, the United Kingdom
for rental income. The Purchaser is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr.
Pang Da Yong, who is a director of the subsidiaries of the Target
Company and thus the Purchaser is an associate of Mr. Pang Da
Yong and a connected person of the Company at subsidiary level
under the Listing Rules. For further details, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 23 April 2024, 28 June 2024
and 27 December 2024 and circular dated 11 June 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

EEREBRITBAEBRAQIF RS
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NRIRBRZ Tz Ems AR (BIEREESFRPEEK
BlEBIGESES W E ESR AR 2 EEsAR)
(R IEE S L EEFI 3528 M EAERLRR AR
RIFE 2 &Mz iEsssoR R skipiRiE E™iRA|
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RAERXTRRDNER

Approximately
percentage of

Number of issued share

ordinary capital of the

Name of Director Nature of interest shares held Company®ete

A FE

BRITERAZ

EENE ERME FrFEBROEE SRl AL

Ms. Yang Yuhua Personal interest 320,000 0.01%

BEELLT EARER

Note: fFEE -

1. The percentage represented the number of shares held over the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2024 of
5,250,019,852 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (iii) required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.
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FERRREMALTAERRTRS K
MERGHERR AR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

RZEZNF+—A=+—08  RELARAIESK
T BITRABATAGE @ RIEFH RS EAEXVED
FLRFEIDBZAEX AR R EEE - WELRRE
FH R EEIEOIE33615RTE BT E 2 B ([ BRE
TR R RAA R B RAB B AR (5 A {rE
HHAR ZEEREANFEBET

As at 31 December 2024, so far as it is known by Director or the
chief executive of the Company, the particulars of the corporations
or individuals who had any interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO (“Register of Shareholders”)
were as follows:

RAERXTRRDNER

Capacity and nature of interest

SO RERNE

Long position in the shares of the Company

Percentage of the

Interests of Number of Company'’s issued

Controlled ordinary share capital

Name Beneficial Owner Corporation Shares held (approximately)

(Note 1)

ZEHEE FREERE EARARE BT

=L BEREEA 2R RHEE BRAE 2 e (BE40)

(Bt

Satinu Resources Group Ltd. - 3,937,234,889 3,937,234,889 74.99%
("Satinu ") Note2

Satinu Resources Group Ltd.

([satinu )2

Songbird SG PTE. LTD. 3,937,234,889 - 3,937,234,889 74.99%

(“Songbird SG")
Songbird SG PTE. LTD.
([songbird SG )

Notes: MH3E -

1. The percentage represented the number of shares held over the total 1. BOERZZ-NF+=A=1+—HRHFRGHEE
number of issued shares of the Company of 5,250,019,852 shares as AR BB BT (D48 2K5,250,019,852/% 2 LL Al
at 31 December 2024.

2. Satinu indirectly wholly owns Yellowbird Capital Management 2. Satinuf®# 2 & # A Yellowbird Capital Management

(GP) Limited, which is the general partner of Yellowbird Special
Opportunities Fund, L.P. (“Yellowbird Fund”). Yellowbird Fund
indirectly wholly owns Songbird SG, which in turn owns 74.99% of
the issued shares in the Company.

(GP) Limited - ffYellowbird Capital Management (GP)
Limited % Yellowbird Special Opportunities Fund, L.P.
([ Yellowbird Fund |) 2 & i@ & # A ° Yellowbird
Fundft$Z 2 & %4 Songbird SG * M Songbird SGI#EA
RRRIBEITRN 274.99% S

BREXFEEEIN  R-F-_mMFE+_A=1+—
B BEAL(RRAREFHEZTRABRINR
AR E P 1 S AR R A 1) Fh A IR B AR /R e Bk ER
MB5% A £ 2 HESBORAE ©

Save as disclosed above, there is no person (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) as at 31 December 2024,
had 5% or more interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the Register of
Shareholders.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Board recognises the employees are the most valuable asset
of the Group. The Group provides the staff with competitive
remuneration packages as well as a safe, harmonious and
discrimination-free working environment.

Details of which are set out in the section headed “Employees and
Remuneration Policies” in this annual report on page 26 and the
sections headed “B1. Employment” to “B4. Labour Standards”
under the ESG Report contained in this annual report on pages 37
to 54.

RELATIONSHIP WITH MAJOR CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the percentages of
the Group’s turnover attributable to its largest customer and
five largest customers were approximately 15.9% and 33.6%
respectively. The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
99.2% of the Group's total purchases and the amount of purchase
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier was approximately
62.7% of the Group's total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, or their
respective associates, or Shareholders owning more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital had any beneficial interests in
any of the five largest customers or suppliers during the year ended
31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 55 to 78 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that had significant impact on it.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve a
balance between the quality and efficiency of our services and
the minimisation of greenhouse gas emissions and environmental
degradation. Accordingly, the Group has taken a proactive
approach to effect internal and external communications by means
of telephone, emails and conferences or such other communication
means which are efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the
Group are able to minimise physical travelling and printing.

More details regarding the Company’s environmental policies,
practices and performance are set out in the section headed “A.
Environmental” under the ESG Report on pages 37 to 54 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
annual report, there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the
Company's issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW ON THE
FINAL RESULTS

The Company has established the Audit Committee with a specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Audit
Committee is responsible for, among others, reviewing and
supervising the Group's financial reporting process, assisting the
Board to ensure effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and providing advice and comments to the
Board.

As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the
Audit Committee comprised all three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Dr. Gao Bin, Mr. Leung Ting Yuk and Ms. Song
Yanjie. Mr. Leung Ting Yuk is elected as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee together with the management and the external
auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee is satisfied that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards
and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021, 2022 and 2023 have been audited by Elite
Partners CPA Limited.

On 6 August 2024, Elite Partners CPA Limited, Certified Public
Accountants did not seek to be reappointed as the auditor of the
Company. On 2 October 2024, KTC Partners CPA Limited (“KTC")
was appointed as the auditor of the Company on the same day to
fill in the vacancy.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors
of the Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024 were audited by KTC, whose term of
office will retire at the close of the forthcoming annual general
meeting ("AGM"). A resolution for the re-appointment of KTC as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Su Shigong
Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2025
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KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

PRAEEHMEBRMARAF

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TAI UNITED HOLDINGS LIMITED
AMEZERBRDF

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tai
United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group"”) set out on pages 100 to 226, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Room 1305-07, 13/F., New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Limitation of scope - accuracy and
completeness of financial guarantee contracts

As disclosed in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of the
auditor’s report of the auditor of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2023 (the “Predecessor Auditors”) and in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements:

—  During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
acquired Guangzhou Rongzhi Public Facilities Investment
Co., Ltd. ("Guangzhou Rongzhi”) and Jinzhou lJiachi Public
Facilities Management Co., Ltd. (“Jinzhou Jiachi”) (collectively
referred to as the “PRC Subsidiaries”) through the acquisition
of their immediate holding company, Sky Build Limited
and Superb Power Enterprises Limited (the “Acquisition”),
respectively, from their shareholder (the “Predecessor
Shareholder”).

—  During the year ended 31 December 2023, several legal
claims were filed against the PRC Subsidiaries due to the
fact that the PRC Subsidiaries pledged their investment
properties and provided financial guarantees (the “Securities”)
to secure bank loans granted to several companies related
to the Predecessor Shareholder (the “Borrowers”) together
with other guarantors. The Borrowers defaulted in the
bank loans’ repayment together with the interest and other
charges. As at 31 December 2023, the principal and interests
of the defaulted bank loans by the Borrowers amounted to
RMB7,269,900,000 (the “Overdue Amount”).

—  The Securities were allegedly originated prior to the
Acquisition and the board of directors of the Company as
at the date of the Acquisition had no knowledge of the
Securities. Therefore, no disclosure of the pledge of assets
and provision of financial guarantee contracts was made as
of the Acquisition date.

—  Since the Securities were entered into prior to the Acquisition,
the existing board of directors of the Company are unable
to ensure the completeness of the information in relation
to pledged assets and financial guarantee contracts entered
into.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

Limitation of scope - accuracy and
completeness of financial guarantee contracts
(Continued)

— In respect to the identified financial guarantee contracts
resulted from the legal claims filed during the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group recognised the financial
guarantee contracts amounted to HK$939,688,000 and
HK$664,394,000 as at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
respectively, representing an initial recognition amount of
HK$664,394,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
further provision of HK$295,321,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023.

- However, with respect to the legal claims, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the court issued a statement
which stated that all guarantors, including the PRC
Subsidiaries, are liable for the Overdue Amount but did
not specifically indicate the portion to be borne by the PRC
Subsidiaries. The court also stated that the pledged assets
were seized by the court to settle the outstanding bank loan
with guarantees provided by other guarantors, however,
the amounts to be borne by the Group have not yet been
determined by the court. In the opinion of the directors,
no credibility information of the other guarantors was
available, therefore, the potential exposure in relation to the
pledged assets and financial guarantees for bank loans now
determined as in default cannot be determined.

The Predecessor Auditor was unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain the completeness and
valuation of the Securities, in which the financial guarantee
contracts amounted to HK$939,688,000 as at 31 December
2023 and HK$295,321,000 of expected credit loss on financial
guarantee contracts was provided in the year ended 31 December
2023.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

Limitation of scope - accuracy and
completeness of financial guarantee contracts
(Continued)

As a result of the matters described above, we have been unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves that
the financial effects of the Securities, including the effects on the
recognition and measurement of the financial guarantee contracts
issued by and the investment properties pledged by the PRC
Subsidiaries as securities, have been properly accounted for and
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. Any adjustments
found necessary might have significant effects on (i) the carrying
amounts of the provision for financial guarantee contract
liabilities of approximately HK$1,187,380,000 and approximately
HK$939,688,000 as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023
respectively and the investment properties pledged by the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group of approximately HK$1,059,479,000
and approximately HK$1,404,370,000 as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 respectively included in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group as of these financial
reporting dates; (i) the amounts recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss of the Group as expected credit loss on the financial
guarantee contracts of approximately HK$329,289,000 and
approximately HK$295,321,000 for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 respectively; (iii) the amounts
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss of the Group as loss on
changes in fair value of investment properties pledged by the PRC
subsidiaries of approximately HK$344,891,000 and approximately
HK$655,421,000 for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 respectively; and (iv) the related elements making
up, and related disclosures in, the consolidated financial statements
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

Any adjustments found necessary to the consolidated financial
statement line items described above might have a consequential
effect on the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023, its financial performance and cash flows
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023
and the presentation and disclosure thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss
of approximately HK$759,743,000 during the year ended 31
December 2024 and, as of that date, the Group has net current
liabilities of approximately HK$3,026,174,000 and net liabilities
of approximately HK$1,736,432,000, including the overdue bank
borrowing of approximately HK$1,430,004,000 and accrued
interest of approximately HK$536,797,000 which have not yet
been successfully renewed, extended nor repaid during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to date of this report.
Additionally, certain legal claims filed against the Group related to
certain pledge of assets and financial guarantees up to the date of
this report remain in default. As stated in Note 3.1, these events
or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3.1,
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgments, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty Related to
Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREITER

FEREITEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B E NAEERAREN SR

Impairment assessment of intangible assets — customer relationship

B ERETE - EFBF

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
F2HFE Y mERME9 -

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position
is intangible assets — customer relationship balance
of HK$26,846,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$42,039,000). An impairment loss of HK$11,334,000 was
recognised for the year.

RZZBZWF+_A=+—R  SKEUBRARBERETLE
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BIT) o ENIERRAERE11,334,000/8 7T °

For intangible assets with useful lives, the Group is required to
review these for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be
recoverable, and at least annually, review whether there is any
change in their expected useful lives.
HEBERAFHNBLEEMS  ERFHENREET
HEREEAEMERDE - 8] SEEAZFFHERERR
WAEI>GFEFEANERFHER B EAMEY -

The recoverable amount of intangible assets — customer
relationship is supported by value-in-use calculations which
are based on future discounted cash flows.
BRUEE-—RPBARNAIKESEDENRRKMBRBGRE
B ABEAERKE -

Management concluded that the intangible assets were
impaired as of 31 December 2024.

ERERG BE_T-_NF+_HA=+—80 BFEED
HIRRIE °

We focused on this area as the assessments made by
management involved significant estimates and judgments,
including revenue contribution, WARA rates and profit rates
used to estimate future cash flows and discount rates applied
to these forecasted future cash flows of the underlying
intangible asset. These estimates and judgments may be
affected by unexpected changes in future market or economic
conditions or discount rates applied.
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We understood, evaluated and validated management'’s
key controls over the impairment assessment process.
BT AR - BT HERE B B R ER E AR AR R BV R T
e

We compared the methodology used (value-in-use
calculations based on future discounted cash flows) by the
Group to market practice.

B BEREMRBONFE(ERARREERIRSIRAE
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We obtained management’s future cash flow forecasts,
tested the mathematical accuracy of the underlying
value-in-use calculations and agreed them to financial
budget and future forecasts. We also compared historical
actual results to those budgeted to assess the quality of
management's forecasts.
HMEERERENARR SRR - AEIEACRERE
STEMEEERN  WRBKEMNAMBEE RARKE
Al BAPIMKIE S BRR AR ETEF A RETTER - T
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We also assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions
used in the calculations, comprising discount rates. When
assessing these key assumptions, we discussed them with
management to understand and evaluate management’s
basis for determining the assumptions.
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We evaluated management’s assessment on whether any
events or change in circumstances indicate there may be a
change in the expected useful lives of intangible assets.
HMEHEEREUN TR EAE 4B AR~ E
HEENTEREREEA e LIRS ER R

We found the Group’s estimates and judgments used
in the impairment assessment and review of useful lives
of intangible assets to be supported by the available
evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. Because of the
possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section of our report, we are unable to conclude whether
or not the other information is materially misstated with respect to
this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who
expressed a qualified opinion on those statements on 12 June
2024, in respect of the limitation of scope as described above.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: P04686

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

fret8am ME MR W

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
Notes —E-ME TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
g FET FAT
Revenue Wz 5
Contracts with customers BEFPEH 88,120 183,095
Leases HE 31,814 27,499
Interest income IISEPN 614 1,192
Total revenue U428 120,548 211,786
Other income EAUgA 7 1,194 1,948
Impairment losses under expected credit FEEMEEEIEENIE T HIRIE
loss model, net E518 - B8 8 (323,049) (324,271)
Other losses, net HEfbEi855 9 (22,764) (6,750)
Purchases and changes in inventories GFEZHEBENRED 12 (35,368) (120,280)
Employee benefits expenses EERAFAX 12 (35,895) (35,510)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBARMER 44 (30,253) -
Other operating expenses Hib &R 10 (60,399) (62,097)
Changes in fair value of investment KEMENNEEH
properties 18 (355,870) (858,305)
Finance costs AR AK AR 11 (163,462) (173,130)
Loss before tax BT RIS 18 12 (905,318) (1,366,609)
Income tax credit FiiSfi & 13 145,575 197,352
Loss for the year FEFE (759,743) (1,169,257)
Other comprehensive income/(expense): ~ Efh2EWz,(Bis2) :
Item that may be reclassified HRE e EF 72 Em o B -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Reclassification of exchange difference  HEEGINFBREIEHEFH HEE
to profit or loss arising on disposals of fEN ZEEER
overseas subsidiaries (20,621) -
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEREE BN ETE
translation of foreign operations 10,731 (20,110)
Other comprehensive expense FEHMEAEMRS
for the year (9,890) (20,110)
Total comprehensive expense FEXEMXEE
for the year (769,633) (1,189,367)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ek EMEEIEs
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
Notes —E-mE TECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FHTT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable LLF A +FEGFEE (BE),%F
to:
Owners of the Company KAREER A (760,267) (1,167,985)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R M A 524 (1,272)
(759,743) (1,169,257)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ UTATEEFEFEZE(BEX)
income for the year attributable to:  UWZE4%E :
Owners of the Company VIN/NETEZEWN (770,163) (1,188,016)
Non-controlling interests FEVER AR 530 (1,351)
(769,633) (1,189,367)
Loss per share SRER 16
— Basic (HK cents) —EARGEW) (14.48) (22.25)

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Are BRI ERE

At 31 December 2024 A=Z—NF+=-A=+—H

2024 2023
Notes —E-mE —EC-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
MosE FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - WE REE 17 1,642 3,417
Investment properties B 18 1,331,445 2,275,479
Intangible assets BEEE 19 31,001 46,194
Mining rights PRUEHE 20 - 11,010
Right-of-use assets EREEE 22 2,547 1,888
Non-current deposits EmBILE 25 363 -
Other non-current assets HEMIERENEE 26 6,000 6,000
1,372,998 2,343,988
Current assets REBEE
Inventories TE 23 1,751 194
Accounts receivable FEUER SR 24 5,525 41,682
Other receivables, deposits and HAbEURIE -« 12d RIER
prepayments KIA 25 25,910 23,661
Restricted bank deposits R HIERITER 27 11,444 28,011
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 28 352,861 119,261
397,491 212,809
Current liabilities REBAE
Accounts payable FERBRK 29 7,719 16,108
Accrued liabilities and other payables ERtBEREMERNFIA 30 770,647 618,634
Borrowings B8 31 1,435,320 1,673,546
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 1,108 1,532
Tax payables FERHIIR 21,491 102,045
Financial guarantee contracts IERE A 46 1,187,380 939,688
3,423,665 3,351,553
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (3.026,174) (3,138,744)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABAR (1,653,176) (794,756)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FERIA S F 32 81,745 171,744
Lease liabilities HEAE 33 1,511 299
83,256 172,043
Net liabilities 8EFHE (1,736,432) (966,799)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RN B OV

At 31 December 2024 W —ZE—F+-A=+—H

2024 2023
Notes —E-ME TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
g FET FAT
Capital and reserves B fE S
Share capital &N 34 262,501 262,501
Reserves G (1,999,653) (1,229,490)
Deficit attributable to owners of the RARIEE AFEIGEA
Company (1,737,152) (966,989)
Non-controlling interests eSSl 720 190
Capital deficiency =N (1,736,432) (966,799)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 226 were
approved and authorised for issue the board of directors on 31
March 2025 are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Su Shigong
BHHQKE
DIRECTOR

EBEF

F100E 226 B A MBMRER_ZE-_AF = A
T+ RAEEERIERBETE  YAHUTES

HREEE

Ms. Yang Yuhua

BEELL
DIRECTOR
EF

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
o~ PP

BARRBDE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREARL
Other
Contributed capital Non-
Share surplus ~ Translation ~ Statutory ~contribution  Accumulated controlling
capital reserve reserve  reserves reserve losses ~ Subtotal interests Total
B4 it

Rx  BHRE  EXRE  AERE  TERE  EER N FERER 45
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
ThL TEL TEL TR ThL TEL TEL ThL TEL

(Note 34) (Note (3)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(W) (Waka) ) G i )
At1 January 2023 \"8-=%-8-H 260501 2,334,076 95,602 71,786 302848 (2,885,786) 21,027 1541 222,568
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - (1,167,985 (1,167989) (121)  (1,169,257)
Bichange diferences arising on BREBNSHEECENZE
translation of foreign operations - - (20,031) - - - (20,031) (719 (20,110)
Total comprehensive expense 2ERTLE - - (20,031) - - (1,167,985 (1,188016) (1351)  (1,189367)
At 31 December 2023 and A S gy
at 1 January 2024 ZECmE-F-R

(Loss)profit for the year EE(5E) /87

Reclasifcation of exchange differences &S/ HE R FEHEH
toprofitorloss arsing on dsposals~~ HEEZZEEER
of overseas subsidiaries

Bxchange differences arising on BREBNEHEECENZE
translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive (expenselincome 28 (% %)/ Wzed

At 31 December 2024 R-B-RET-A=1-H




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

,\/\

SRESEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

Notes:

(a)

The contributed surplus reserve of the Group (i) arose as a result
of the Group reorganisation prior to its public listing on 2 October
1995 and represents the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of the former holding company of the Group acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation, over the nominal value of
the shares of the Company issued in exchange therefore; (ii) it
also comprised the entire amount of share premium amounting
to approximately HK$4,926,818,000 transferred to contributed
surplus reserve on 30 October 2017; and (iii) it is net off by
the dividend amounted to approximately HK$1,050,004,000
distributed during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
a company may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus reserve, if there are
reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the company is, or
would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or (ii) the realisable value of the company’s assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium accounts. Otherwise the
contributed surplus reserve is distributable.

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), each of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries shall transfer 10% of their net profit after tax, based
on the subsidiary’s PRC statutory accounts, as statutory reserves,
until the balance reaches 50% of the respective subsidiary’s
registered capital. Further appropriations can be made at the
directors’ discretion. The statutory reserves can be used to offset
any accumulated losses or convert into paid-up capital of the
respective subsidiary.

The other capital contribution reserve comprised the initial fair
value adjustment of approximately HK$7,312,000 on other
loan from a third party, which was under common control by a
former director of the Company who resigned on 5 December
2018 and the reserve as a result of the Group’s disposal of its
listed equity securities to Solis Capital Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the ultimate holding company of the Group, at a
cash consideration of approximately HK$2,359,817,000, where
the consideration received over the quoted price of the listed
equity securities at completion date amounted to approximately
HK$335,536,000 was recognised in other capital contribution
reserve in August 2018, while the related loss in fair value of
these listed equity securities as at the date of disposal was
recognised in profit or loss and included as changes in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

e

()

AEBEBZEHAESBREEORAAEER—NANARE
+A-—B A MEmAETEESEEMES - T)
EREAEBEAMBRERNEENERAAZ
BHEE - BHEZRENETZARRRGE
B8 (WHIeER-_Z—tF+A=+H
EREEHEGHEIRDEEZEHBEELD
4,926,818,000/7C : M(iVEWREE-_ZT—hF
+ZA=F+—HIEFERIEAIZI1,050,004,000/#
TLZ R BAREY o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

== =
%/\/\ i/)lbii‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
Notes —E-mE TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
g FHET FHTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES F—F 304
Loss before tax ML RIE B (905,318) (1,366,609)
Adjustments for: KRAETYEIE
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESE 19 2,475 2,523
Changes in fair value of investment WEMEZ AREE
properties 18 355,870 858,305
Depreciation of property, plant and Y WEREEBEZITE
equipment 17 1,875 1,968
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 22 3,057 3,805
Finance costs BTG R AR 11 163,462 173,130
Bank interest income RITALEUA 7 (877) (1,094)
Impairment losses under expected credit JBEME EEBENIE TARIE
loss model, net B8 - 38 8 323,049 324,271
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEREREE 19 11,334
Impairment loss on mining rights IR R AR 18 20 11,010 7,706
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEME A REE 44 30,253 -
Operating cash flows before movements 2B & & E &P 2 ELHERE
in working capital (3.810) 4,005
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGEm, B (1,557) 1,928
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable FEUBRFR A, (34 HN0) 38,489 (21,299)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, ~ E M EWGRIE « & RIE R
deposits and prepayments (i'a‘ﬂl])//WQ\ (300) 49,992
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable — JEfRFBRFRCRLA), 140 (8,389) 3,550
Decrease in accrued liabilities and other Vﬁﬁt\&ﬁi\fﬂfﬁ RIE R A
payables (6,442) (31,422)
Cash generated from operations KEFBRE 17,991 6,754
Income tax paid BTSN (5.866) (1,813)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REXBRE2REFHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 12,125 4,941
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeaRTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-E T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEH
Acquisition of property, plant and WHEMIZ - BB LB
equipment (43) (638)
Bank interest income received BUERTTHLB U A 877 1,094
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal H &M E R BELMNIREEHA
of subsidiaries FEE 484,619 -
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank SEHERITEIORD (3G 0)
deposits 15,031 (28,011)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ RETBHE(FAB)zRE
(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEE 500,484 (27,555)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RESEE
Repayments of bank borrowings EBIRITEE (188,670) (76,187)
Interest paid EFE (8.132) (15,082)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEERR (3.881) (4,270)
Proceeds from bank borrowings raised ~ ZEEITEE ZFEHE = 40,539
Repayment of financial guarantee EEMERERED
contracts (45,344) -
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING REFTHMAZRESFE
ACTIVITIES (246,027) (55,000)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERERBRLER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS g, G ) F8E 266,582 (77,614)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS NENZHEREGRSIER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 119,261 222,941
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE MEERSH S
RATE CHANGES (32,982) (26,066)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZRERERRLIEE
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 352,861 119,261
REPRESENTED BY Ep
Bank balances and cash IRITEBRIRS 352,861 119,261

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A BTSRRI 5

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tai United Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Company’s immediate holding
company is Songbird SG PTE. Ltd., a company incorporated
in Singapore with limited liability and its ultimate holding
company is Satinu Resources Group Ltd., a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") with limited
liability. The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda and the principal place of business of the Company
is Unit 2101-02, 21/F Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries (together
with the Company, collectively referred to “the Group”)
are property investment, sales of medical equipment, sales
of flooring materials, mining and exploration of natural
resources and financial services and asset management.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. BRI REBITEEVBERE
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG HA((HFBMHEHREZEL ]
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are RAEAFERFERZEBMERE
mandatorily effective for the current year EAMEIT A

The Group has applied the following amendments to RAFE  AEERER T _NF—HF—H
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Ftgz FREREHMEERA T HESSHMA
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for its annual reporting ([ BHBGTMAE ) 2B B EREERNE
period commencing 1 January 2024. The adoption of these RN o AN E BB IS ERNS T AL B
amendments to HKFRSs did not have any impact on the FARAHECERZ 2 BEILEEMFZE - INE
amounts recognised in prior and current periods and are not AR ENEATE -

expected to significantly affect the future periods.

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
EEEHERIE 19 (BRTR) HEESERRE SR
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
BEMIEREERE 165 (BFTA) BEREENEERR
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
EEEFHERIE 19 (BRTAR) MR IERE B E
HKAS 7 (Amendments) and Supplier Finance Arrangements

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)
BAGERBIETR R BB HIER B E 2Bk

WEERIE7R(ERTA)

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

Certain new and amendments to HKFRSs have been
published that are not mandatory for the financial reporting
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2024 and have
not been early adopted by the Group. Except as mentioned
below, these standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

P& R#TR] R ST BRI B R E
ZA([EBYBREER D)

C PR E o R A U2 7 R] RAAERT
BEMBREER

ETHE REERT BRI IRE £RIE RHE
WIFN—F - NFE—— B2 &R
HEHEREER  BXREAEERPR
e BT E SN - TR E R H A
S BRI SRR G B LB A AR AR RAZZ
SEREATE -

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after

AU BHIsR

Z &%
FEHBEN

HKAS 21 (Amendments)

ARG ERE215(BETA)

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

BBV HEMEEREIR KB BN RS
AERIET75 (1BEFTA)

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

BB B ELERNFEIR RE BV BHRE
AERIE75 (BFTA)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments)

BB HREERE 105 REB ST ER
28R (IERTA)

HKFRS Accounting Standards
(Amendments)

BANGRE EUNGTER(EFTA)
HKFRS 18

BB RS AERIZE 1858

Lack of Exchangeability

= A] W

Amendments to Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments
SMIANERAEZEE

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
Electricity

W IRAKRE B AR ENNED

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an
investor and its Associate or Joint Ventures

REEEHBENT e EREHNEE
HEFTE

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

BBV BHEEEERINFEE
HuE—F 1111

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

B HmERN 27 R EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS
1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7.
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

P& R#TR] R ST BRI B R E
ZA([EBYBREER D)

B MEM{E B R E R FTE] RA&IEET
ERMKREED &)

EBYBHEERZ 185 MBHRFNZIR
#E

BEMBHREENE1BRYBRER 2T R
WEHINBIHRERZ 2 RIRERTE - WHR
REBGHENFIVRM BRI 22 - UeF
AEENBMEEN G ENEEERT LSS
FERIE 1P ZIARE R - 5| ARB&ER
R E2PEERBNER D ZHRE - U
BRAEPEREBARAE 2 RRAERERER
BEFBERRPETREZELRDFHAEER
ke thh - BEEHERF IR 2MARED
BEEBGEAFESRRBEMBRELER
F7% - BEGHEUNETRRSRERLEE
GEHERIE IR BB TMELEMIEET

BRMEHRE LR E 1858 R EM AR Z EFTA
BR-ZB A F— A Bz &MAB 2 FESR
AR - WrAIZRER - EAMEREREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the
following conditions. The Group incurred a net loss
of approximately HK$759,743,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and as of that date, the
Group has net current liabilities of approximately
HK$3,026,174,000 and net liabilities of approximately
HK$1,736,432,000 including overdue bank borrowings
of approximately HK$1,430,004,000 and accrued
interest of approximately HK$536,797,000 which have
not yet been successfully renewed, extended or repaid
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of approval for issuance of these consolidated
financial statements. Additionally, certain pledge of
assets with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,059,479,000 and financial guarantees provided
by two subsidiaries established in the PRC, namely
Guangzhou Rongzhi Public Facilities Investment Co.,
Ltd.* (B BRES A H R I E B R A Al) (“Guangzhou
Rongzhi”) and Jinzhou Jiachi Public Facilities
Management Co., Ltd.* (381 52 5t1 A H R EEIZ AR
2 A]) ("Jinzhou Jiachi”) (collectively referred to as the
“PRC Guarantor Subsidiaries”) for the bank borrowings
of companies outside the Group. The PRC courts have
judged that the Group is liable for the amount of
approximately RMB9,700,199,000. Furthermore, the
bank loans of these companies comprising the principal
amount and the unpaid interests and default interests
amounting to approximately RMB9,700,199,000

*  The English name is for identification only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

in aggregate in relation to the pledge of assets and
financial guarantees provided by the PRC Guarantor,
Subsidiaries and mentioned above as at the date of this
report remain in default as at the date of this report.
These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis as the directors
of the Company are satisfied that the liquidity of the
Group can be maintained in the coming year taking into
the consideration of the following matters:

(i)  The Group is actively negotiating with creditors
regarding debt restructurings for the guarantees
provided by the PRC Guarantor Subsidiaries.

On 25 March 2025, a settlement agreement (the
“Settlement Agreement”) was entered into among
the Company, Stone Wealth Limited (“Stone
Wealth”, being the seller under the acquisition of
Guangzhou Rongzhi by the Company, details of
which are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 26 March 2021) and Mr. Dai Yongge (“Mr.
Dai”, being the ultimate beneficial owner of Stone
Wealth). Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement,
Stone Wealth and Mr. Dai have, in consideration
of Guangzhou Rongzhi making the payment and
with a view to compensate Guangzhou Rongzhi,
undertaken to within 12 months of the date of
the Settlement Agreement liaise with the debtor
of Guangzhou Rongzhi and conduct necessary
action(s) such that the external debt of Guangzhou
Rongzhi would be reduced by an amount of at
least approximately RMB280.6 million, which is
the sum of (i) the payment of RMB236,200,000
in response to the enforcement notice and/or
judgement orders granted by the PRC courts (note
48); and (ii) the amount of onshore bank deposits
of subsidiaries of the Company that have been
withdrawn and transferred to accounts maintained
by the PRC court. Details of the Settlement
Agreement is disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 25 March 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

(i) The Group is exploring the possibility of disposing
of or liquidating the PRC Guarantor Subsidiaries in
order for the Group to discharge the guarantees
they have provided, which have fallen due; and

(i) The Group will try to seek other financing
resources to meet its liabilities and obligation as
and when they are fall due.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the
cash flow projections of the Group prepared by the
management covering a period of not less than 12
months from 31 December 2024. Taking into account
of effectiveness and feasibility of the above measures,
the directors of the Company consider the Group would
be able to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the forecast period. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis. The Group's ability
to continue as a going concern still depends on the
eventual successful outcome of the measures mentioned
above, which cannot be determined with reasonable
certainty. Should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
the consolidated financial statements to adjust the value
of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and
to reclassify non-current assets as current assets and
non-current liabilities as current liabilities respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers
Information about the Group’s accounting policies

relating to revenue from contracts with customers is
provided in note 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases
The Group as a lessee
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes in relation to employees of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), and United Kingdom (“UK") and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in relation to
employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Long service payment

The estimated amount of future benefit in respect
of LSP obligation is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from relevant employees.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at
the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale, except for freehold land, which is
always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale
or settle the carrying amount of its asset and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be used by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
investment properties is included in profit or loss in the
period.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately and in business
combination with finite useful lives are carried at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Mining rights

Mining rights that are acquired separately are carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and
are subject to amortisation upon commissioning of the
mine for production. Amortisation of mining rights is
recognised using the unit-of-production method based
on the actual production volume over the estimated
total recoverable reserves contained in proven and
probable reserves at the related mine.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets with
finite useful life and mining rights to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining rights and
intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro-rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for accounts receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including accounts receivable, other receivables and
deposits and bank balances) and financial guarantee
contracts which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of accounts receivable, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
accounts receivable using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for accounts receivable are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past
due information and relevant credit information
such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of accounts
receivable and other receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contructual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire. On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts payable,
other payables, borrowings and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired.

The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Contingent liabilities (Continued)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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e e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s material accounting policies,
which are described in note 3.2, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experiences
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from these
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties in the PRC

The Group recognises deferred tax in respect of the changes
in fair value of the investment properties located in the
PRC based on directors’ best estimate assuming future
tax consequences through the usage of such properties
for rental purpose, rather than through sale. The final tax
outcome could be different from the deferred tax liabilities
recognised in these consolidated financial statements should
the investment properties are subsequently disposed of by
the Group, rather than consumed substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
by leasing over time. In the event the investment properties
are being disposed of, the Group may be liable to higher tax
upon disposal considering the impact of land appreciation
tax.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer. The determination of the fair value involves certain
assumptions of market conditions which are set out in note
18.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuation is reflective of the current
market conditions. Whilst the Group considers valuation of
the Group’s investment properties are the best estimates.
Changes to these assumptions, including the potential risk of
any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes
or other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions implemented
by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount
of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The directors of the Company have performed internal
assessment on the risks of change in macroeconomic
environment through performing sensitivity analysis in
relation to the Group’s investment properties.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group'’s
investment properties is approximately HK$1,331,445,000
(2023: HK$2,275,479,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for accounts receivable and other
receivables

Accounts receivable and other receivables are assessed for
ECL individually and collectively.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on accounts receivable which are not assessed
individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates
are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the Group’s historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL are disclosed in note 38(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE 5 W&
Set out below is the revenue from contracts with customers HE-Z-_MFR-_T-_=F+-A=+—H
with the amounts disclosed in the segment information for WEFE - UTEINS B ERFEE 2 EFE L
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: Was
2024 2023
—EmE TECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers ERHMEREEAE15REE
within the scope of HKFRS 15 RREEFEHANERR
— Sales of medical equipment —IHEBERR 20,718 28,482
— Sales of flooring materials — S E AR AR 22,341 105,603
— Properties management and related —MEEIR KBRS
services 45,061 49,010
88,120 183,095
Rental income from leases HENHAS KA 31,814 27,499
Interest income from loan financing EXREERE 2 AMEWA
services 614 1,192
Total revenue Pl 120,548 211,786
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SR
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue for

(i)

contracts with customers

5 W=
(i) BEFANWEHAD

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Geographical markets WET S
Revenue from sales of goods and services BB LRI ZE 1557
within the scope of HKFRS 15: HENKBHEEER K
AR ey Uz
— The PRC — 65,779 77,492
— Hong Kong — &% - 1,194
— United States of America (“USA”") —EFEERE([EER ) 918 103,141
— Australia — BN 17,515 1,017
- Belgium — L B 3,908 251
Revenue from rental of properties: REHEDFR I
— The PRC — 29,520 24,079
- UK —E 2,294 3,420
Interest income from loan financing REESRBESBHFE
activities: N
—The PRC —HE 614 1,192
120,548 211,786
Timing of revenue recognised from REBFEHNNKEER
contracts with customers B R
— Over time — E R [ 45,061 49,010
— At a point in time —RE—m2 43,059 134,085
88,120 183,095

Performance obligations for contracts

with customers

(i) BEFENZENER

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good

or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Refund liability

A refund liability is recognised for the expected returns
and rebates, and is included in other payables. A right
to recover returned goods (included in inventories)
and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales are
also recognised for the right to recover products
from customers. This right to recover returned goods
is measured at the former carrying amount of the
inventory less any expected costs to recover goods
(including potential decreases in the value of the
returned goods).

Sales of medical equipment

The Group sells medical equipment to medical
institution in the PRC. Contracts with the Group's
customers are fixed price contracts. The revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to the
customers’ specific location (delivery) on which the
customers obtain control of the goods. Following
delivery, the customers has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the goods
and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods. The contracts grant customers a right of
return of 7 days for full refunds unconditionally. In the
opinion of the directors, the Group is acting as principal
in accordance with HKFRS 15.

The Group recognises the revenue on a gross basis as
the Group is acting as a principal in these transactions
and is responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide
the specified goods. The performance obligation is
satisfied upon delivery of the products.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Sales of flooring materials

The Group sells flooring materials to customers which
are fixed price contracts. The revenue is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being when
the goods have been shipped to the customers’ specific
location (delivery) on which the customers obtain
control of the goods. Following delivery, the customers
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and
price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility
when on selling the goods and bears the risks of
obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. The
contracts grant customers a right of return of 14 days
for any non-compliance with respect to the quality and
quantity of the goods delivered. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group is acting as principal in accordance
with HKFRS 15.

The Group recognises the revenue on a gross basis as
the Group is acting as a principal in these transactions
and is responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide
the specified goods. The performance obligation is
satisfied upon delivery of the products.

Revenue from properties management and related
services

The Group recognises revenue from property
management and related services (including utilities
income) over time, as the services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits. For the utilities income, over time at fixed rate
is charged. The Group measures progress based on the
right to invoice method, as this corresponds directly
with the value transferred to the customer for the
Group's performance to date.

Since these services extend beyond 12 months, revenue
is recognised monthly in line with contractual billing
cycles, reflecting the satisfaction of performance
obligations as they occur. There are no material
unsatisfied performance obligations at the end of each
reporting period, as services are fulfilled continuously.
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5. REVENUE (continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the

remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The Group has no remaining (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) performance obligations as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

5 W&

(i) PEFEFEHANBRTEYNE
ENRZEE

RZZEZNFER—FE-_=F+=A=1+—
B ANEBMESRTEBOET(RERK
P RIEZR) o

(iv) Leases (iv) &
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue arising from operating leases: & HEEELE IS :
Lease payments that are fixed BT HER 31,814 27,499

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, being the Chief Operating Decision Maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or rendered.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8
are as follows:

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Properties investment segment — properties investment,
development of shopping mall, leasing of properties,
and property management;

Sales of medical equipment segment;
Sales of flooring materials segment;

Mining and exploitation of natural resources segment —
mining and production of tungsten resources activities
in the Republic of Mongolia (“Mongolia”); and

Financial services and assets management segment by
aggregating different operating segments including
trading equity securities and derivatives and managing
of assets arising from acquisition of distressed debts
assets.

7 HRPER

MARBITHAAR  EELERKE(TEE
EEREE |) 2MUADBLE R LGS BRI
ZER  SThRENEHCRTEZEMHRS

B -

ﬂ\@

ﬁE%F%/%ﬁM“#&

BmE AERE-SE - A
E2 A 2M|AIAT

%FF /Iﬂﬂ

() MERBEDHB-—MERE HEEDT
O HEMEEMEREE

(i) BEREHEDE

(i) IOARMELHE D ED

(iv) BRBERBERRAERD B—REH A
(REDZREREESEERLS &

(v) ZRREMEEEEDE - TRKLED
%@@ﬁ%ﬁ;—iﬂx$ﬁ%&m$1,ﬂ\ s R
ﬁ%$ﬁf§%ﬁ§ﬁ§$2ﬁ§%i@ g
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEBER @)
Segment revenue and results oEBUN S K AR
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and NN R R 2O EHE 5 2 A EBEWE
results by operating and reportable segments. RZEEZ D -
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-EZ-NE+ZA=T—HLEE

Segment revenue A

Segment results PHEE

Net foreign exchange loss R ERFE

Unallocated interest income K2 EF BIBA

Unallocated finance costs KA EEBRA

Unallocated administration KA EATHEY
costs

Loss before tax BRHAEE
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Sales of

Properties medical
investment equipment
HE

HK$'000 HK$'000

DEER )
DI R R EE ()
BHE T =F+-"A=+—HI&FE

Mining and Financial

Salesof exploitation services

flooring of natural and assets
materials resources  management Total

HEHR  RBREE  2RRBR
H RRER AEER @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEr TEL TEx T TEL TEL
Segment revenue FEME 76,509 28,482 105,603 - 1,192 211,786
Segment results S (1,312,876) (4,732) (7,936) (8,469) 2219 (1,336,232
Net foreign exchange gain 0 X i F 956
Unallocated interestincome A2 EFI BUA 854
Unallocated finance costs FOEHBRA (74)
Unallocated administration
costs AARTHHEX (32,113)
Loss before tax RHAIEE (1,366,609)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales during both years.

Segment result represents the profit earned or loss incurred
before tax by each segment without allocation of central
administration costs including directors’ emoluments and
legal and professional fees, net foreign exchange gains/
losses, unallocated interest income, and unallocated finance
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

EXFRER 2 D EBREIIRINBELEE 2K
& o RMEFER  HED BEHEE -

DEEBTVERARDEFRITHAX (BIEE
EHFMREEREXER) B KEEER
FE - RO BRA TR D B RS AN
B RRIARR T AT AT IRE 2 A S EE A 2 518
HERDELRFEDBRRME - IAEE
BERREZRZIIE °
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER )
Segment assets and liabilities ITHEERAERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and REBREERAIZWMOFE D 2 EEREE
liabilities by operating and reportable segments: AT
2024 2023
TECIF —Eo=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Segment assets DEEE
Properties investment WERE 1,381,566 2,378,077
Sales of medical equipment HERERE 8,521 7,236
Sales of flooring materials SHE M AR AR 12,555 54,611
Mining and exploitation of natural resources %8 & B 22 KR E R 50 11,091
Financial services and assets management CRREREEEIR 351,337 89,020
Total segment assets HEEEBTE 1,754,029 2,540,035
Unallocated right-of-use assets ROMERAEEE 2,110 1,066
Unallocated property, plant and equipment KO E % - BE KEE 872 2,443
Unallocated intangible assets ROMEREE 4,155 4,155
Other unallocated corporate assets HEMARDEEAREE 9,323 9,098
Consolidated assets LEBE 1,770,489 2,556,797
Segment liabilities pan: =R
Properties investment MERE 3,443,931 3,425,009
Sales of medical equipment HEBERE 5,782 6,345
Sales of flooring materials SHE R R 7,719 16,108
Mining and exploitation of natural resources  £¢8% & B2 KR E R 523 523
Financial services and assets management TRBRBEREEER 26,618 687
Total segment liabilities DEPEELREE 3,484,573 3,448,672
Unallocated lease liabilities ROEHEE] 2,245 971
Unallocated tax payables ROBERNTIIE = 62,621
Other unallocated corporate liabilities HittRHEARIEE 20,103 11,332
Consolidated liabilities REBE 3,506,921 3,523,596
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. THEPER#)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) ITHMEEREEH)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MEEDHBRBEAES L 2B EEERNE

allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating and reportable o BRADEGREEE  AHOEDE - WE
segments other than unallocated right-of-use assets, LR RoMBFEEEREMARS IR
unallocated property, plant and equipment, unallocated AEE(EZZRERSRRTESRLIIRS)
intangible assets and other unallocated corporate assets I MEEENSRELERAZ®RD
(including primarily unallocated bank balances and b -
cash).

e all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable o BRAPEMESE KHEEFNTIERE
segments other than unallocated lease liabilities, tARDERATAEIN  FIEEEEIHER
unallocated tax payables and other unallocated LR A 2D o
corporate liabilities.

Other segment information Hib &R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BZE-—E-_ME+-_HA=+—HILEE

Mining and Financial
Sales of Sales of exploitation services
Properties medical flooring  of natural  and assets
investment  equipment ~ materials  resources management Unallocated Total
#HE  HEWR FEREE SRBRER
NERE  BRRG wR RRER  EEEE KB @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TEL TEL THET TEL
Additions to non-current ANEFERBDEE
assets = = = = = 3,704 3,704
Depreciation of property, plant 1% - BiE R ENE
and equipment - 270 - - - 1,605 1,875
Depreciation of right of use (¥ FEEENE
assets = 105 - - 333 2,619 3,057
Amortisation of intangible B/ EEEH
assets 2,475 = = = = - 2,475
Impairment loss of intangible &R/ & ERI(EESE
assets 11,334 - - - - - 11,334
Impairment loss onmining ~ SFEEER(EESE
rights = - - 11,010 - - 11,010
Change in fair value of WENEDABEY
investment properties 355,870 - - - - - 355,870
Impairment losses/(reversal of ~ BEIEEBEEA T
impairment losses) under HESE/ (RES
expected credit loss model,  1EA&E)F5E
net 327,467 (2,778) (1,627) - (13) - 323,049
Finance costs BHERRA 162,386 119 - - 41 916 163462
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries &M B A AIIEE 30,253 = = = = = 30,253

AFERERDT — = —WFEFR
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER )
Other segment information (Continued) B oEpER 2)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T =F+-A=+—HIFE
Mining and Financial
Sales of Salesof  exploitation services
Properties medical flooring of natural ~ and assets
investment  equipment materials resources  management  Unallocated Total
HE BENR  FERER  SRRBR
NERE BERE R KRER  AEER LS @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL ThEL THL TAL TAL TAL THL
Additions to non-current AEFRBAE
assets - - - - - 638 638
Depreciation of property, plant  #1% * BiE R ENE
and equipment - 126 - - - 1,842 1,968
Depreciation of right of use ~ (FFEEENE
assets - 106 - - 443 3,256 3,805
Amortisation of intangible B EEHH
assets 2,523 - - - - - 2,523
Impairment losson mining ~ REEREFIEEE
rights - - - 7,706 - - 1,706
Change in fair value of REMFLABED
investment properties 858,305 - - - - - 858,305
Impairment losses under BEEERBEAT
expected credit loss model,  REEEFE
net 311,762 5,860 6,252 - 397 - 324,271
Finance costs BHRR 172,409 7 - - 49 601 173,130
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. ZHER@
Geographical information &SR
The Group operates in four principal geographical areas — the AEFBRNETSE —hE - 55  =HER
PRC, Hong Kong, the UK and Mongolia. S EITAE o
Information about the Group’s revenue from external BN EERIHE LB 25 5B AER
customers is presented based on the location of the relevant W INIRE B WS B R R AR 2 A AL A i Bh
operations of external customers and information about 2hEEAEEIERTEENER o

Group's non-current assets is presented based on physical
location of assets.

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

REIIBEFE W FRBEE
Year ended 31 December At 31 December
BE+-A=t—HLEE R+=-A=+-—8
2024 2023 2024 2023
—ECoNE —To=F  ZE@E T o=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET FET FAT
The PRC ey 95,913 102,763 1,358,382 1,782,231
USA ZH 918 103,141 - -
Hong Kong BB - 1,194 14,616 13,985
The UK < 2,294 3,420 - 536,762
Mongolia B - - - 11,010
Australia BN 17,515 1,017 - -
Belgium alliss 3,908 251 - -
120,548 211,786 1,372,998 2,343,988

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group as

6. DHWER =)
FEEFZ2ER

BRIAERAUE10% A FWREFEEPK

mEFIAT

follows:

2024 2023

—ENF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHxT FET

Customer A BPEA 17,515’ -
Customer B ZFB - 75,4672
Customer C BPC - 27,6752

! Revenue from sales of flooring materials for the year ended 31
December 2024 and revenue contributed less than 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

2 Revenue from sales of flooring materials for the year ended 31
December 2023 and revenue contributed less than 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

7. OTHER INCOME

! FEHE T -NFE+-_A=+—BILFEH
EHRMENKE  mMBE-S=-=F+_A4
=t HALFENERKE DR AREBBEUA

#910% °

’ REBE-F_=F+-_A=1t—HILLFEH
EHARM B - MAE—Z_WNE+ A
=t RLEFEENERRE I NAEEZEA

#910% °

7. HAlgA

2024 2023

—EE T =4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Bank interest income RITHBUA 877 1,094
Others Hiph 317 854
1,194 1,948

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 8.

RHEEERENE T RRIERS

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET = JEIDE 2 -C |
2024 2023
—E-mE B4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Reversal of impairment losses/ P T FIEE R RERE
(impairment losses) recognised on: BECREssa) -
— accounts receivable — FEUAR IR 4,405 (9,386)
— other receivables — E b e U R IE 1,835 (19,564)
— financial guarantee contracts —MBEREL (329,289) (295,321)
(323,049) (324,271)
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 38(b). AR AEFIEH R M E38(0) ©
9. OTHER LOSSES, NET 9. HituE5aFHE
2024 2023
—ECUE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gain [E 5, (E518), Mok e (431) 956
Impairment loss on intangible assets BIVEEREEBE (11,334) -
Impairment loss on mining rights HigiE R EREE (11,010) (7,706)
Others Hiph 11 -
(22,764) (6,750)

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR
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10. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 10. Hb Q&R

2024 2023
—EE —E - =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERH 2,475 2,523
Advertising and marketing expenses & K& H R X 2,428 1,885
Sales commission HERE 2,474 2,603
Electricity and water KE 10,746 10,270
Consumables FEM 986 1,148

Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB KRBITE
equipment 4,932 5,773
Legal and professional fees FENBEER 8,856 12,847

Registration, license fee and other office 2t R B REMRATER

expenses 7,134 5,726

Short-term leases and property management % H8iFHE R YEERE
fees 5,187 7,454
Repairs and maintenance HERIRE 9,192 8,323
Other taxes HAbFIE 2,928 2,026
Others Hit 3,061 1,519
60,399 62,097

11. FINANCE COSTS 1. R

2024 2023
—EMEFE —T=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Interest expenses on: T EENF SR
— bank borrowings —RITIEE 162,499 172,974
— lease liabilities —HEaE 963 156
163,462 173,130
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12. LOSS BEFORE TAX 12. RBLAIE R
2024 2023
TECImE —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss for the year has been arrived at after RNEFFBIETER (GTA) T
charging/(crediting): RIAIEER
Directors’ emoluments (note 14) EEM<e (ME14) 6,661 7,376
Other staff costs: HAb B TR :
— Salaries, allowances and benefits —FH& - R REF 25,360 24,075
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions ~ —iRRIEF 5T 3k 3,874 4,059
Total staff costs BT ANE5E 35,895 35,510
Purchases of and changes in inventories FEREE LEE
— medical equipment —BRERE 13,344 20,760
— flooring materials — AR 22,024 99,520
35,368 120,280
Auditor’s remuneration %S EM BN 1,400 3,000
Amortisation of intangible assets mILEESE 2,475 2,523
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BRERERETTE
equipment 1,875 1,968
Depreciation of right-of-use assets REEEZINE 3,057 3,805
Total amortisation and depreciation BisRITEERS 7,407 8,296
Rental income from leases and revenue from FHEE4AMTSWA RYHEEIE KR
properties management and related services R ARTE YA (76,875) (76,509)
Less: directly attributable expenses for B EEES WA RMEEERIE
investment properties that generate BREWMARIEEMENE
rental income and revenue from R
properties management and related
services 48,094 51,423
(28,781) (25,086)
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13. INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FiI8HiiIKR

2024 2023
a1 5 —EBo=%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT")
— Overprovision in previous years (Note)
Withholding Tax on dividend declared by
PRC subsidiaries
Deferred tax (note 32)

Note: A subsidiary of the Group, iR =8t & EE E AR A&, has
completed its deregistration process and its deregistration status
has been confirmed. As a result, the previously recognised tax
payables have been reversed this year.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law"”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, except for certain preferential
treatments available to the Group, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% on their respective taxable income. During
the year, certain subsidiaries of the Group obtained approval
from the relevant PRC tax authorities and were entitled to
preferential corporate income tax rates or corporate income
tax exemptions.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity are taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying
group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. No provision
for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the Group’s
income neither arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

FEIER A (M 5E32)

PRI SR ([DEMER])
—BEFE B (M) 58,176 988
REINE A 7 IR S A FEHIRL

(2,283) (1,737)
89,682 198,101
145,575 197,352

Wi AEEMBAREREAREEEEERARD
ARG AR - WE MRS MR -
Hit - BERRBNENHED N AFRRE
=

BREFEARANMEALECEMESTE( B
FREBE]) REEMEBARIERD] - A%
EREAETEEGFEI  PENELRZH
EREBERTIBMAB% « R - AEEE
THBARESTRMAENREEELE =8
EMSRESHERDEMEHHL

RIBERBHIFIEREGE  aERE@EER
H 2,000,000 7T i F1l 1% 8.25% B Bt =& H
i 235 2,000,000% 7T #934 F1/1% 16.5% K FH &
B o TEAFEHMAHEENEEEER
i PR AB216.5% M S — B RN ANFLTE -

EHit - @ EREEEENEBHERIZGTE
R 5% F B 2,000,000 7TH28.25% 5 E LA K
B E 882,000,000 7T &Y 1 51 FE SR B0
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13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 13. TEHIEE =)

Under the tax laws of the United Kingdom, the standard
corporate tax rate for companies is 25% for the financial
year 2024, applicable to taxable profits. However, certain
subsidiaries within the Group may qualify for preferential
tax treatments, such as reduced rates, exemptions, or
other incentives, subject to approval by the relevant UK
tax authorities. These preferential treatments are typically
available to companies meeting specific criteria, such as
engaging in research and development activities, operating
in designated enterprise zones, or qualifying for other
government-backed initiatives aimed at promoting innovation
and economic growth.

Subsidiaries incorporated in Mongolia are subject to
Mongolian income tax which is calculated at the rate of
10% on the first 3 billion Mongolian Turgrik (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,700,000) of estimated taxable income
and 25% on the amount in excess thereof. No provision for
Mongolian income tax has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as there were no assessable profits for
both years.

RIBHBERE - — T MR ENIRE
ERERD25%  BERARERTOGH o 28 -
AEBARETHEARAEAEEREZEEEN
B8 PIIBERE - He R E MR E
I - MRS RBIARRI T IS B L - XFE
BRREBETERARTARERENDE - fiin
RRAHED  NIEELEXEBEEERTAEM
BRI MG E IS ROBF SR E RN E
1%

REHEMKZOMNE R AN & E
a8 ZAEMIOAGERB KA
H3,000,000,000 5 H BB 27w (HHE KL
6,700,000/ L) 12 10% M B L8 - #B L H
R25% T EETE o AR MEFE W EELRE
REEF AT ARRGEMBREART S
BIFTSTA/E L Bt -
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13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the

13. BRI RE @)

AEEREHERBEEEEN

Hith 2 E R

loss before tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss FRZGBHAIEESROT
and other comprehensive income as follows:
2024 2023
—E-ME T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Loss before tax BrEERTE 18 (905,318) (1,366,609)
Tax calculated at the domestic income tax RAM BB RAE 2 BIE
rates (223,967) (341,471)
Over-provision in previous years BEFEmERE (58,176) (988)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax NAJFFLF S 2 Fiig £
purpose 17,361 46,280
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BARRINAZ RIGF &
purpose (4) (142)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERDIEE B MBS E 34,183 14,238
Utilisation of tax previously not recognised BRI AMER 2 TiIA (770) -
Tax effect of temporary difference not RERYRFEHF o MBE
recognised 83,515 82,994
Withholding tax paid [RERBEE L) 2,283 1,737
Income tax credit for the year REZMMEHER (145,575) (197,352)
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’

emoluments

The following table sets forth certain information in
respect of the directors of the Company during the
reporting periods and as of the date of this report:

14. B - FETHAEREEME

(a) EEREETHAEME

TRUFINBEHARBEARE A8
BAAREEZ BTER

Date of appointment as

Date of resignation/

Name Position the director of the Company  retirement as director
<] Bifr BZIAXLAESZEH ESRME RHRBH
Mr. Su Shigong Chairman and executive director 11 September 2024 N/A
ZRuN it IRFRUTES —EmEAAT-H ikt
Ms. Yang Yuhua Chief executive officer and 11 September 2024 N/A
executive director
BEERL THEBHFNTES “ZomEAAT—R i
Mr. Wang Hongfang Chairman, Chief executive officer 7 January 2021 31 October 2024
and Executive director
FEMEE IR TREHFATES —T--%¥-A+H “Z-mE+A=1+—H
Mr. Zheng Yuchun Executive president and 20 May 2021 31 October 2024
Executive director
HEERE HITRERNTESR —ZZ-FRA=-t+H “ECUE+A=T—H
Mr. Lu Yunsong Non-executive director 11 September 2024 N/A
BERFE FRTES “2omEAAT-R i
Mr. Xiao Yiqun Non-executive director 20 May 2021 27 June 2023
Hmprist FHTES ZE--FRAZ+H —Z-=%xA-t++tA
Dr. Gao Bin Independent non-executive 20 November 2015 N/A
director
mEEL BAUFRITES —T-hF+—AZ+H T
Mr. Leung Ting Yuk Independent non-executive 15 July 2023 N/A
director
RERFAE BAUIETES “Z_=4+A+AR T
Ms. Song Yanjie Independent non-executive 18 August 2023 N/A
director
RERERLE BAFRTES —Z-=F/\A+/\R i
Ms. Liu Yan Independent non-executive 18 June 2015 4 August 2023
director
il e BAFRTES —E-RERATAR —ZT-=F/\RMA
Mr. Tang King Shing Independent non-executive 1 February 2017 15 July 2023
director
R AL BAUJEITES —Z2—+%-f—H “Z_=4+A+AR
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14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES" AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)
Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules

and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

14. B - FETHAEREEME

(%)

(a) EERFETHAEME 2

FENEFREIETHAE ZHSRIEE
A LETRAIRERRRHERIRENT

BE-_Z-_NF+-HA=1+—HLEFE

Mr. Su Ms. Yang Mr. Wang Mr. Zheng
Shigong Yuhua Hongfang Yuchun Total
HHEAKXE BEEZLT  IEREE  BEERE HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET THERT TERT T TERT
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS  #{TEE
Fees we - - - - -
Other emoluments HibEi e
Salaries, allowances e ZULEY
and benefits in kind &= 318 318 3,250 1,650 5,536
Retirement benefit RINEFFTEIMER
scheme contributions 6 6 15 15 42
Subtotal Nt 324 324 3,265 1,665 5,578
Mr. Lu
Yunsong
BEREE
HK$°000
FERT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHTES
Fees e 183
Other emoluments Hibie -
Subtotal NEE 183
Ms. Song Mr. Leung Dr. Gao
Yanjie Ting Yuk Bin Total
REREL L REBKE SEEL FEE-G)
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THExT FHET FHET FHET
INDEPENDENT BYFEHTES
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
Fees we 300 300 300 900
Other emoluments H i< - - - -
Subtotal NET 300 300 300 900
Total 4%y 6,661

160 Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND 14. EE - T ETHAERESHNE
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) )

(a) EERFETHAEME 2

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023 BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
Mr. Wang Mr. Zheng
Hongfang Yuchun Total
FTRMEE BEIZFRE FE]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET R

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES
Fees Fiakey — - -
Other emoluments Hib 2

Salaries, allowances and e EAREY

benefits in kind A 3,900 1,950 5,850
Retirement benefit scheme RIREFIFT B3R

contributions 18 18 36
Subtotal NEE 3,918 1,968 5,886
Mr. Xiao
Yiqun
SEREES e
HK$'000
FAT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHTES
Fees we 600
Other emoluments E e -
Subtotal /NEF 600

Ms.Song  Mr. Leung Dr. Gao Ms. Liu Mr. Tang
Yanjie Ting Yuk Bin Yan  King Shing Total
FEREZET REBRE REERL A4MkE BERE4LE Fak
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THL THL THL THL
INDEPENDENT NON- BYFHTES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Fees ik 111 139 300 178 162 890
Other emoluments Hi e - - - - - -
Subtotal Nat 1M1 139 300 178 162 890
Total k) 7,376

AMFRERAT — S _MFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The non-executive
director and the independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
as the directors of the Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office during both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director

or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

14. B - FETHAEREEME

(%)

(a) EERFETHAEME 2

ERATITEERIZTHAEMET
ETIRMEEARRR RAEERHRZE
BRI » ERPIRZIFMITERR
B FRTER M T E T RR I ERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND 14. EE - T ETHAERESHNE

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) (#&)

(b) Five highest paid employees’ (b) EEBREHMEEE
emoluments
The five highest paid employees of the Group during REAR - AEEREHE=HESBREM
the year included two directors (2023: two directors), ZER(ZZE=F - MEES)  H#=®
details of whose remuneration are set out in the FIBENEXER - FABRT=R(=ZF
disclosures above. Details of the remuneration for the Z=F = R)EaHEES (WIERAF]
year of the remaining three (2023: three) highest paid ERRFETHRAR) ZMEFFBNT :

employees who are neither director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-OEF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Salaries, allowance and other benefits ~ #& - 2B K M EF| 4,446 4,030
Retirement benefit scheme RKEFFTEIMER
contributions 54 53
4,500 4,083
The number of the highest paid employees who are WIARRREEFHEZITHAE BREN
neither directors nor chief executive of the Company FRIEEzEEHMNESEHENAT
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:
No. of employees
EE®A
2024 2023
—EmEF —ET-=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 L2 1,500,000/ 7T = 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L 22,000,000/ 7T 2 1
3 3
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e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

15. DIVIDENDS 15. K&
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend EERTAEEREEZE T -_NF+ A
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). —t+—ALEFEINFARE(ZE==F:
;) o
16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BIREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the RATHEA ANEENEREREETHRE TS
owners of the Company is based on the following data: HEREE
2024 2023
—ENE —E =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Loss BB
Loss for the year attributable to owners of FARFTEBREAREEBHALQT
the Company for the purpose of basic HB ANELRFAEE
loss per share (760,267) (1,167,985)
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares RGHEHR
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose AR T E G E A BB E @A
of calculation of basic loss per share 2 5,250,020 5,250,020
Loss per share BRER
Basic loss per share (HK cents) TRREA R GBI (14.48) (22.25)
No diluted loss per share for both years were presented as R MEFE A E DB T/EBE S BAR - W
there were no potential ordinary shares in issue during both 25| B FE ) AR EEE o
years.
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e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 9% - BMERRE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor

improvements equipment Machinery vehicles Total

B

EREER
BERE  BOERE B& AE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iR iR TR ThEn ThEn

cosT A

At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%#-F-H 5,407 11,795 1,784 14,955 33,941
Additions hE 98 536 4 - 638
Exchange realignment EnRz 3) (144) (4) (18) (169)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZBZ=F+ZA=T-AR

“E-mE-A-H 5,502 12,187 1,784 14,937 34,410
Additions HE - 43 - - 43
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 44) HERBAR(H3E4) = (128) = = (128)
Exchange realignment EnAZ (4) (66) (15) (28) (113)
At 31 December 2024 RIB-mET-A=+-H 5,498 12,036 1,769 14,909 34,212
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2iTE
At 1 January 2023 R-F-=F-F-H 2,275 10,350 1,761 14,784 29,170
Provided for the year FdE 1,431 441 4 9 1,968
Exchange realignment [ (3) (123) (5) (14) (145)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RoE-ZE+-A=+-8k

“S-mE-A-H 3,703 10,668 1,760 14,862 30,993
Provided for the year Fhik 1,369 412 yE} A 1,875
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 44) HERBAR (M) = (78) = = (78)
Exchange realignment ERRE (4) (178) (14) (24) (220)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZME+=A=+-H 5,068 10,824 1,769 14,909 32,510
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 December 2024 RZEMETZA=T-H 430 1212 = - 1,642
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=1-A 1,799 1,519 24 75 3,417
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

wh |3

17.

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated, after taking into account of their estimated
residual values, on a straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Over the shorter of lease term
and 5 years
20% t0 33.3%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment
Machinery 20% t0 33.3%

Motor vehicles 20% t0 33.3%

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group leases out residential property units and shopping
malls under operating leases with rentals payable weekly/
monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1
week to 4 years (2023: 1 week to 4 years) and no unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by the
Group and lessees.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash
inflow for leases is approximately HK$31,814,000 (2023:
HK$27,499,000).

17.

18.

M - BERRZRE=

Ltz - BB RRERETAREZ MR R
BERABREZATFENRFE

THEA R 54 (ABAE & R2E)

AL BEEREE 20%%E33.3%
IS8 N
122 20%%33.3%

i 20%%E33.3%
REME

REEZZ-_NER_FT_=F+=A=1+—
ALEFER  AEBRBCEHEHHATED
EBNREDRS  AeR®E /SAXMH-
HMEMVILHRATEAMIERZ4F (2T ==
FAZ4F) BEEFTEEMNSHELR
EAREE RATEAPTREE R ZERLASN

HRFBHEIUNEEERE BT E T
B HASEAEEEERHEMAZINEE
(% - BEANTRERBREEERK HEME
AEHEHRBEZMEAEEE -

REBEE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HLEFE -
HERSRALTES431,814,0008 T (=F
=4 : 27,499,000/ 7T) °

HK$'000
FHT
FAIR VALUE ARIE

At 1 January 2023 R—EBE_=F—H—H 3,174,568
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss REBmPRER Z A BEZE) (858,305)
Exchange realignment PEH T (40,784)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-ZE_=F+—_A=+—BK
—TmFE—A—H 2,275,479
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 44) BT A ml (P 5E44) (524,969)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERPERZ A EZS (355,870)
Exchange realignment HE 3 a2 (63,195)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZNFE+=—A=+—~8 1,331,445
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wh |3

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

18. REWMH* »)

Changes in fair value recognised PEmT R

in profit or loss

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties located
in the PRC at 31 December 2024 have been arrived at on
the basis of valuations carried out by Messrs. International
Valuation Limited (2023: Messrs. Norton Appraisals Holdings
Limited), an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group for properties located in the PRC.
The independent qualified valuers hold recognised relevant
professional qualifications in the jurisdictions in which they
valued the Group’s investment properties and have recent
experience in the locations and types of investment properties
valued.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties located in
the UK at 31 December 2023 had been arrived at the basis
of valuations carried out by Messrs. International Valuation
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group, has recent experience in the
locations and types of investment properties valued.

In determining the fair value of the investment properties, the
Group engages the independent qualified professional valuer
to perform the valuation. The management of the Group
works closely with them to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model and explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the investment properties to
the directors of the Company.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
In estimating the fair values of the investment properties for
financial reporting purpose, the highest and the best use of
the investment properties is their current use. The fair values
of investment properties have been adjusted to exclude
prepaid or accrued operating lease income to avoid double
counting.

2024 2023
—ES-E —EC-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
&g
(355,870) (858,305)

REEURFREZRENER_T_MF+=
A=+—B2ZRARET)HEARE E R
BYAERBEXMEMBERTEERAR(Z
L — =4 : Messrs. Norton Appraisals Holdings
Limited) IR A EEELETE - BHIZ A EREERM
RESREEKREYEETHENRDEERA
hﬁmemﬁﬁiéﬂ BEMAENIRE
PRI BE K SR EL R A AR B

REBURREZREMER T _=F1+=
A=t—RZAaRETHEREEHN @
BIUABRBEMEMBERFEER QBRI
BEEEETF - ZBLABMEXELERME A
ENREY R IR AT IR -

IEEREMEZANENS  AREREE
VABBEXMEMETHE FAEEEEE
HREZMAE U LZER ZBRGER
MEBMARE  YRARRERERKEYE
RREREZHH -

WBE_ZE-_NER-_TE_=F+-A=+—
BIEEER - FARAGEXITEEZE) - REs
M BBERE 2 REMEAIER - REY
XzEahke&ERRAERARE - REWME
MARECEERE  MERBEMNKEAREHE
WARBREEH -

AHEZERARAT —T—NEFFR

167



168

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR SRR M aE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in

particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

Valuation
Investment properties technique
REME fh{ER

Significant
unobservable input(s)

BEAFUBEGARE

18. REWMH* »)

TRIJNZEREMELANECEETTAZE
B OCERMAERMEAREARE) -

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

TABREGABBEIAENRER

Shopping Mall located in
Jiefang Avenue, Beiguan
District, Anyang City,
Henan Province, the PRC
2024: HK$271,966,000
(2023: HK$334,400,000)

Income capitalisation
approach

L7 R B A A & 25 At B
BB B
—Z U4 : 271,966,000
BL(ZFZ=F:
334,400,000/ 7T)

WANERLE

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

Capitalisation rate, taking into account

the capitalisation of rental, income
potential, nature of property, and
prevailing market condition of 5%
(2023: 4.5%) as at 31 December
2024.

Monthly market rent of RMB51.7 per
sg.m (2023: RMB50.0 per sq.m)
taking into account the differences
in location, and individual factor,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparables and the property.

Occupancy rate: 64% (2023: 65%).

R RS ER Y  WAEN - %
BEERERTRE  BEREER
ZE-NE+ZA=+—H5%
(ZZ-=F 145%) o

AR ATELLBMERMENLE R
AR A= (MEEEEERRE) T E
WERENEATSES 87

KARBS\IT(ZE-=5: ¥

FHARARES0.0T) ©

HAER : 64%(ZT-=4F : 65%)

The higher the capitalisation rate,
the lower the fair value.

A significant increase in the market
rent used result in significant
increase in fair value, and vice
versa.

The higher the occupancy rate, the
higher the fair value.

ERNMEEEE - ARESE -

RANTISHSABZNSEHD
REREEN - RZIFA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Valuation
Investment properties technique
REME R E R

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

18. REMZE (#»)
Significant
unobservable input(s)
ERRUHEGABE

AABEZRABEEQ A ENEE

Income capitalisation
approach

Shopping Mall located in
the Portions of Jinzhou
First Tunnel Shopping
Mall, Zhongyang Avenue,
Linghe District, Jinzhou
City, Liaoning Province,
the PRC
2024: HK$518,948,000
(2023: HK$542,300,000)
(Note)

NAREEZELEMIET  WAERCE
ERR AN —K
EREDT LB 2B

ot

~Z P04 : 518,948,000
B(ZE==F:
542,300,000/ 7T) (Fif5E)

Capitalisation rate, taking into account
the capitalisation of rental, income
potential, nature of property, and
prevailing market condition of 6.0%
(2023: 5.5%) as at 31 December
2024.

Monthly market rent of RMB46.6 per
sg.m (2023: RMB46.5 per sq.m)
taking into account the differences
in location, and individual factor,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparables and the property.

Occupancy rate: 64% (2023: 66%).

A RBEERL  WAED - D%
BMERERMRE  BAMEER
“ECMFE+-A=1+—H6.0%
(ZZ-=F:55%)°

I R B BYERMEONE R
ERAR(EEEERRE) A E
MERENGATSHES  §F7
KARBA66TL(ZE=_=F : &F
TIARARE46.5TT) o

HABE : 64%(ZFB-=%F : 66%)

AMFRERAT — S _MFFR

The higher the capitalisation rate,
the lower the fair value.

A significant increase in the market
rent used result in significant
increase in fair value, and vice
versa.

The higher the occupancy rate, the
higher the fair value.

BRMERHS  RAESE -

RAMTISES KRS MBS
SERBEN - RZIFA -
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Valuation
Investment properties technique
REME R E R

Significant
unobservable input(s)

BEATUBEGAZE

18. REWMH* »)

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

AABEZRABEEQ A ENEE

Income capitalisation
approach

Shopping Mall located in
the Portions of Phase | of
Guangzhou First Tunnel
Shopping Mall, the
junction of Zhangian Road
and Zhannan Road, Yuexin
District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
2024: HK$122,694,000
(2023: HK$171,270,000)
(Note)

AR BEREEMNTHE
(& Ut A1 B ERL A R B SR PR R
Z BN — REEDH L
—EE D 2 B
—E U4 © 122,694,000
AT(ZE-=F:
171,270,00077C) (Ki3E)

WABARE
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Capitalisation rate, taking into account

the capitalisation of rental, income
potential, nature of property, and
prevailing market condition, ranging
from 4.25% (2023: 4.25%) as at

31 December 2024.

Monthly market rent of RMB130.9 per

s.m (2023: RMB130.0 per sq.m)
taking into account the differences
in location, and individual factor,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparables and the property.

Occupancy rate: 65% (2023: 64%).

KA RESERME - WAES - M

MEERERTRE  BRMEER
“EoNFE+ZAZ+—BNT
4.25%(ZFBZ=% : 425%) o

A RAELBMERNENLE R

ERIEX(ESEEERRE) A E
MEREHNSATEES 815
KARE13090(ZE==4F:
FHRARE130.00T) ©

HH%E : 65% (=T =4 : 64%)

The higher the capitalisation rate,
the lower the fair value.

A significant increase in the market
rent used result in significant
increase in fair value, and vice
versa.

The higher the occupancy rate, the
higher the fair value.

BRMERHS - RAESE -

RAMTISES KRS MBS
RERBIEN - RZIFA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Valuation
Investment properties technique
REME R E R

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

18. REMZE (#»)
Significant
unobservable input(s)
ERRUHEGABE

AABEZRABEEQ A ENEE

Shopping Mall located in
the Portions of Phase I
of Guangzhou First
Tunnel Shopping Mall, the
junction of Zhangian Road
and Zhannan Road, Yuexin
District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC
2024: HK$417,837,000
(2023: HK$690,800,000)
(Note)

Income capitalisation
approach

MRFEEREBEMNTEE
[6E A A B £ I R B SR R R
ZEM—REEDH L
ZHRE D 2 B L
—E U4 : 417,837,000
B(ZE==F:
690,800,000 7T ) (Ki7E)

WABARE

Capitalisation rate, taking into account
the capitalisation of rental, income
potential, nature of property, and
prevailing market condition, ranging
from 4.25% (2023: 4.25%) as at
31 December 2024.

Monthly market rent of RMB77.4
per sg.m (2023: RMB75.0 per sq.m)
taking into account the differences
in location, and individual factor,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparables and the property.

Occupancy rate is 59% (2023: 62%).

KA RAEERE  WAEN - WE
MEERERTRE  BRMEER
—E-NE+-A=+—BNF
4.25%(ZFBZ=% : 425%) o

I R B BYERMEONLE R
ERAR(EEEERAE) A E
MERENGATSHES  §F7
KARETT4(ZE=ZF : §F
FARARMT5.07T)

HHE%E :59%(ZFE-=4F : 62%)

AMFRERAT — S _MFFR

The higher the capitalisation rate,
the lower the fair value.

A significant increase in the market
rent used result in significant
increase in fair value, and vice
versa.

The higher the occupancy rate, the
higher the fair value.
BRMERME  AREBIE -

RAMTISES KRS MBS
RERBIEN - RZIFA -
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Valuation Significant
Investment properties technique
REME R E R

18. REWMH* »)

unobservable input(s)

BEATUBEGAZE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

AABEZRABEEQ A ENEE

Residential property units

located in the UK approach
2023: HK$536,709,000
URREZ FENEEL  THLEE

ZE =% :536,709,000

BT

Market comparable

Market unit rate, taking into account
the recent transaction prices for
similar properties adjusted for
nature, location and conditions of

A significant increase in the market
unit rate used would result in a
significant increase in fair value,
and vice versa.

the property, which ranged from
Great British Pound 2023: GBP1,489

to GBP2,529 per square foot.
AT B E TR 5B (REY
EONE - LERERETREE)

MR R ARG ERR(E
RIEE - RZ IR

% MBEBNN_ZE-=F &
FHR,489H 252 52948 -

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

Note:

As at 31 December 2024, investment properties held
by two subsidiaries, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi with carrying amounts of HK$540,531,000
(2023: HK$862,070,000) and HK$518,948,000 (2023:
HK$542,300,000) respectively were pledged to Bank
of Jinzhou Co, Limited for the bank borrowings of two
companies, which were related to Mr. Dai in aggregate
principal amount of RMB3,400,000,000 and the
unpaid interests and default interests of approximately
RMB390,026,000. These borrowings had been defaulted
since February 2023. At the prevailing time of those pledged
contracts entered into, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi
were not subsidiaries of the Company, but companies related
to Mr. Dai. The Group acquired the entire equity interests
in Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi through the
acquisitions of Superb Power Enterprises Limited and Sky Build
Limited respectively that were completed in April 2021. These
investment properties were seized by court since November
2023 and up to the date of these consolidated financial
statement are authorised to issue. Despite this, the relevant
PRC court does not have the authority to assume control over
the daily operations of these investment properties. As of the
date of this report, the Group continues to manage the day-
to-day operations of these investment properties.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

RER - E=EREETEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BLEE
Vehicle Customer
license plates relationship Total
REEE EFEBMER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FH&T FHET
(Note a) (Note b)
OEE)) (fF3EDb)
COST AR AN
At 1 January 2023 W-ZT-—=%—A—H 4,155 90,446 94,601
Exchange realignment PE A% - (2,545) (2,545)
At 31 December 2023 and A ——
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—HK
—F-mFE—H—H 4,155 87,901 92,056
Exchange realignment FE R - (2,941) (2,941)
At 31 December 2024 MZTZUE
+=—A=+—H 4,155 84,960 89,115
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Z:iti#sy
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%—A—H - 44,606 44,606
Charged for the year F R - 2,523 2,523
Exchange realignment ME 5 AR - (1,267) (1,267)
At 31 December 2023 and i ——
1 January 2024 +=ZA=+—AKk
—E-FE—H—H - 45,862 45,862
Charged for the year FRER = 2,475 2,475
Impairment loss for the year (note b) 4 AR{EE 1B (FiEb) - 11,334 11,334
Exchange realignment P i 2L - (1,557) (1,557)
At 31 December 2024 RZTZMF
+=-—A=+—H - 58,114 58,114
NET CARRYING VALUE REFE
At 31 December 2024 R=Z —pUF
+=-—HA=+—H 4,155 26,846 31,001
At 31 December 2023 RIZEZ=%F
+=—A=+—H” 4,155 42,039 46,194

AFERERDT — = —WFEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The vehicle licence plates were issued by the relevant authorities
in the PRC and Hong Kong with no expiration date.

As a result, the vehicle licence plates are considered by the
management of the Group as having indefinite useful lives.
These vehicle licence plates will not be amortised until their
useful lives are determined to be finite and they are carried at
cost less any subsequent impairment losses, if any. Instead,
they will be tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
management evaluates whether the carrying amount of the
vehicle licence plates were recoverable through observations
of selling prices in the resale market and indicate that the fair
values of these licence plates, which exceeded their carrying
amount. No impairment losses were recognised in the current
year. (2023: HK$Nil).

Customer relationship was arising from the acquisition of
Guangzhou Rongzhi during the year ended 31 December
2021. It was valued as of the date of the acquisition by an
independent qualified valuer on the basis of the excess earnings
method under the income approach, whereby the asset is
valued after deducting a fair return on all other assets that are
part of creating the related cash flows. The management of the
Group considered the customer relationship has finite useful life
and is amortised on a straight-line basis over 35 years.

Due to the continuous change of tenants during the year
ended 31 December 2024, the management reviewed the
recoverable amount of the intangible assets arising from
customer relationship with reference to the valuation carried
out by Messrs. International Valuation Limited (2023: Messrs.
Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited), an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group, who has
extensive experience in fair value assessment of intangible assets
in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of the
customer relationship was determined based on its fair value
using the income approach — excess earnings method. This
approach isolates the cash flows generated specifically by the
customer relationships, after deducting the routine earnings
attributable to other assets (e.g., working capital, fixed assets).
The valuation was based on cash flow projections from
management-approved budgets with a pre-tax discount rate of
18% (2023: 19%), reflecting the asset’s risk profile.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, an impairment loss of
HK$11,334,000 (2023: HK$Nil) was recognised for customer
relationship.
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20.

MINING RIGHTS 20. HRIERE
HK$'000
FHETT
cosT RS
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R-ZE-_=F—A—H ZT=-_=F
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 TZA=+—H - ZZE-mE—HA—H
MZZZmE+=—A=+—H 1,003,034
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 January 2023 W-ZT-=%—HF—H 984,318
Impairment losses recognised (note 21) B EEE (FisE21) 7,706
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZEBEZ=F+-A=+—HRK
—E-FE—-A—H 992,024
Impairment losses recognised BRI EEE 11,010
At 31 December 2024 R F+=—A=+—H 1,003,034
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-NF+=-A=+—H -
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H 11,010

The mining rights represent four of the rights to conduct
mining activities in the location of Ulaan Uul, Nogoonnuur
Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Ulaan Uul”), Tsunkheg,
Nogoonnuur Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Tsunkheg”) and
Khovd Gol, Tsengel Soum of Bayan-Ulgii Aimag (“Khovd
Gol"”) in Mongolia. The mining right in Tsunkheg and the
two mining rights in Ulaan Uul have remaining legal lives of
7 years (2023: 8 years) to 11 years (2023: 12 years), expiring
in July 2031, March 2033 and December 2035, respectively.
The mining right in Khovd Gol has a remaining legal life of 12
years (2023: 13 years), expiring in July 2036.

The mining licences are issued by Mineral Resources and
Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (the “Mongolia Mineral
Authority”) and may be extended for two successive
additional periods of 20 years each. The directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the application for extension
is procedural and the Group should be able to renew its
mining licences at minimal charges until all the proven
and probable minerals have been mined. No active mining
operation of the Group had been taken place yet during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

REEEIRSGEERINEEHREAAMS
WEN (TSR] REFRB(ERK]) RE
ESJEERREmmZA([RmEH |)#E
TTERBRE) 2 P ERER - ME RIS Z RIEER
E‘/\%F%‘%?Zﬁﬁ1lﬁﬁ%%ﬂ§??ii¢ﬁﬁﬁ7¢
(777_¢ BF)ENF(ZFT_=F:
F) OHIMR-_E=—FtA —T== E
AR—Z=RF+_AfEm- EAﬂ?ﬁyiTZ
REERREEFRAR/NF(ZT =5
F) RZB=R"FELAEM
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(&R DEE - TEEEITL - K
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

20. MINING RIGHTS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
received several notices from the Mongolia Mineral Authority
and requested the Group to prepare updated resource
estimation technical reports and feasibility study reports on
the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol. The
Group commenced the discussion with the Mongolia Mineral
Authority regarding the feasibility of conducting mining
activities on these mining rights. Started from 2018, the
Group is in the progress of preparing the updated resource
estimation technical reports and feasibility study reports on
these mining rights by different phases in accordance with
the Mongolia Code for the Public Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves in order to
fulfil the requests from Mongolia Mineral Authority.

Mining rights are included in the mining and exploitation
of natural resources segment which is a CGU, representing
the Group's subsidiaries — Kainarwolfram LLC and Ikh Uuliin
Erdenes LLC that hold mining rights for the purpose of
impairment testing.

As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of the
mining rights is nil as in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the value in use is not achievable due to the vast
capital outlay required and the fair value less cost of disposal
cannot be reliably measured due to insufficient market
comparable information available for directors’ assessment.
An impairment loss of HK$11,010,000 was recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2024 to fully write down the
carrying amounts of the mining rights.
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21

. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING

RIGHTS

No active mining operation of the Group had been taken
place during the year ended 31 December 2023, and
the directors of the Company conducted an impairment
assessment of the Mining CGU. For the purposes of
impairment testing, the mining rights set out in note 20 have
been allocated to the Mining CGU represented by mining and
exploitation of natural resources segment.

The recoverable amount was the higher of FVLCD and VIU.
The recoverable amount of the mining and exploitation of
natural resources segment was determined based on VIU
calculation and certain key assumptions. For the purpose
of impairment testing, the VIU calculations used cash flow
projection based on financial budgets approved by the
management of the Group covering a period of five to
twenty years. The pre-tax discount rates used for the VIU
calculations are 26.9% to 34.2%. Other key assumptions
in estimating the discounted future pre-tax cash flows are
included tungsten metal estimated selling price with nil
growth rate, estimated future costs of production, estimated
future operating costs, recoverable reserves, resources and
exploration potential and exchange rates.

In November 2018 and August 2019, the Group engaged
independent qualified mineral technical advisers to
prepare an updated resource estimation technical report
("Updated Resource Estimation Technical Report”) under
the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results,
Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves and they have conducted
the first phase and second phase of exploitation work
regarding the recoverable reserves, resources and exploration
potential for the mining rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and
Khovd Gol during the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2019. Furthermore, the third phase of exploitation work had
not been started in 2023.

21. FRIERE 2R ERR
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING

RIGHTS (Continued)

Based on the Updated Resource Estimation Technical
Report issued by the qualified mineral technical adviser with
reference to their first and second phase of exploitation
work conducted, the tungsten grades of the mining rights in
Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol are considerately lower
than the tungsten grades indicated in the previous resource
estimation technical report prepared in 2008 (“Previous
Resource Estimation Technical Report”), while the volume
of the exploration potential of the mining rights in Ulaan
Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol is higher than the volume
indicated in the Previous Resource Estimation Technical
Report. Considering the increment in the estimated volume
of recoverable reserves, resources and exploration potential
of the mining rights in the Updated Resource Estimation
Technical Report, the management of the Group expected
that longer period of lives of the mine for the overall
exploitation work and revised the financial budgets covering
a period of five to twenty years for cash flow projection in
2023.

Based on the above findings from the Updated Resource
Estimation Technical Report, the Group engaged an
independent PRC professional firm to update the feasibility
study report and also engaged Norton Appraisals Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer to perform the
valuation of mining rights at 31 December 2023 based on
the Updated Resource Estimation Technical Report and the
latest feasibility study report. With reference to the valuation
of mining rights performed by valuer and the information
available to the Group up to the report date, the directors
of the Company were of the view an impairment loss of
approximately HK$7,706,000 was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2023 as the carrying amount of the
Mining CGU was higher than its recoverable amount.
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING 21.

RIGHTS (Continued)

The directors of the Company believe that the estimate and
assumption incorporated in the impairment assessment are

reasonable.

If there are adverse changes in the key assumptions
incorporated in the impairment assessment for the mining
rights in Ulaan Uul, Tsunkheg and Khovd Gol, it would lead
to the recognition of further impairment loss against the

Mining CGU as follows:

REEZRERNR®)

ARFEERD RET P

BBATE -

WEMEH  ERERIAS
(RN E ERRTETHE

MAREET R

A SRAE R (E R
B HEHY

RERSELEMELOE - P REBRE

R WATATUR

2024 2023
—E-ME —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
5% relative increase in pre-tax Tt AR IR FAB L N5 %
discount rate N/ATE A 3,042
5% decrease in tungsten price 5B 5% N/ATE A 9,282
5% decrease in volume of recoverable ARFEE - BRI EE
reserves, resources and exploration 5%
potential N/ATE A 15
5% relative decrease in tungsten grades IS ERIBER 5% N/ATE A 9,282

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR
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22. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

22. FFEEE

Leased
properties
HEWE
HK$'000
FAT
Carrying amount BREE

As at 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+_"A=+—H 1,888
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-WFE+—A=+—H 2,547

Depreciation charge wEEA
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_E-_=F+-_A=+t—HIEE 3,805
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HLFE 3,057
2024 2023
—EmE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Expense relating to short-term leases BRARHHAE 2% 249 209
Total cash outflow for leases HEReRLET 3,881 4,270
Additions to right-of-use assets RECAEEE 3,661 -

For both years, the Group leases offices premises for its
operation. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of 1 year to 3.5 years with fixed payment for both years.
The Group does not have the option to purchase the leased
properties for a nominal amount at the end of the relevant
lease terms or any extension/termination options which are
solely at the Group’s discretion. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.
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22. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 22. EFEEE )
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for Car K%ligﬂﬂifﬁi%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ J‘E/\\\:%:E
parks. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the portfolio of FRZIZZ=F+A=1+—H EHEER
short-term leases are similar to the portfolio of short-term BEEH P ENE Hﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁfﬁ’]ﬂ
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above. BB EASEL -
Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set FHZEHEABEZHENHASMHBERY
out in notes 33 and 38(b). M5E335238(b) ©
23. INVENTORIES 23. 7€
Inventories represent finished goods held for resale. TFEEFFEE 2 Rm -
24. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 24. FERERK
2024 2023
—EoE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Accounts receivable FEUER TR 11,181 51,743
Less: allowance for credit losses A EEEERE (5,656) (10,061)
5,525 41,682
The Group allows a credit period of 0 to 90 days (2023: 0 to AEERAMEERBLRTERTFPOEIOR(Z
90 days) to its customers depending on the type of products E-=F : 0E0K)ZZEH -
sold.
The following is an ageing analysis of accounts receivable, UTRERERAH(ES B WAERBHES)
net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on the EIHENER (MR EEBERE) KRS
invoice dates which approximated to the respective revenue #r
recognition dates:
2024 2023
—E-mF I
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Within 30 days — 90 days 30BE90HA 377 22,819
Over 90 days 90H A E 5,148 18,863
5,525 41,682
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25. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

26.

25. HtEWFE - RERFANKIA

PREPAYMENTS
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Prepayment for utilities NHF I ERAERNRIE 10,960 10,581
Deposits e 2,853 1,672
Other receivables Eo A FE I GRIE 19,670 20,023
Less: allowance for credit loss of other B AN e RIS EE
receivables and deposits BB HE (18,001) (19,823)
Loan receivable (note a) FEWER(M5Ea) 11,175 11,605
Less: allowance for credit loss of loan B EREREEBERE
receivable (384) (397)
26,273 23,661
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BLE2 A BATIERI AT
Non-current assets IERBEE 363 -
Current assets MENEE 25,910 23,661
26,273 23,661
Notes: BfaE -
(@)  The loan receivable is due from an independent third party, (a) EUERABEKR—FLBEYE=-HZHE  AE

which is unsecured with interest rate of 6% per annum (2023:
6%) and was due and settled on 19 March 2025 (2023: due

on 23 February 2024).

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and

deposits are set out in note 38(b).

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

B FRER 6% (ZE_=F :6%) ' ¥
CECRF=ATHhBERBREE(ZE==

F:RZEZNF-_AZF+=BFH) -

Ft5E38(b)

26. HIEREEE

BREMBERARRS 2 BENGFBEER

2024 2023

—E-mE —EC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FHEIT

Club debenture held in Hong Kong REBRENEHES 6,000 6,000

Club debenture with indefinite useful life are stated at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

BRETRERREIT °
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27. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

The bank deposits are restricted by the court due to the
claims in relation to pledged of investment properties for
the bank borrowings of two companies related to Mr. Dai
as disclosed in note 38(b). The balance are used for the loan
payment after paying the operating expense of the shopping
mall.

28. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates
per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances and cash of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“"RMB”) amounted to
approximately HK$336,642,000 (2023: HK$63,467,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC'’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and

27. ZRFIBITHER

RITEFBOELRR S - RE R E380) TR E
HELEEBRNMRARRRITEEBAIRE
MERLRE - BHRR N EYRISHZERN
& BIEEEER -

28. RITHEBRERE
RITABMIRIRITIIS FFREE -

RZZE-ZMEF+-A=+—8 AEENUA
RE(TAREDFEZRITERLKRSN A
336,642,000 7L (= F = =% : 63,467,000/

TC) o ANREEH HHNE B 8 <7 o B O B I
Bl o

BE_ZNFR-ZT_=F+"A=+—H
ti& REBHRITERETRERHALZR

concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty REFHIRITELOMAREMEEN - #ut - WK
banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for IEEEBEIELEE -
credit losses is provided.

29. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 29. FEER

An ageing analysis of accounts payable presented based
on the delivery date at the end of the reporting period is as

IREF R BIR A B BB 2 51 A9 FE 5] BR SRAVBR
BROITANT

follows:
2024 2023
—EoF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
0-30 days 0£30H 1,289 839
31-90 days 31£290H 6,430 15,269
7,719 16,108

The credit period granted by the suppliers was 90 days (2023:
90 days) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

HE_ZT_NF+_A=+—HILFE  #HE
ERTHIEESHAEIOKR(ZZ =4 : 90K) °

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR
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wh |3

30. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER

31.

30. EstEE R HMENSKIE

PAYABLES
2024 2023
—E-ME —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Construction payable FEfTIEEEE 62,073 84,268
Accrued expenses and other payables FEST 5 2 I HoAth A~ /08 14,345 19,842
Interest payables (Note) FEATFIE (PR EE) 536,797 400,032
Receipt in advance for rental income LG AN 52,252 35,419
Deposit received from tenants WP W EE 76,781 77,322
Accrual for refurbishment works (note 44) éﬁ%ﬁlﬁ}"gﬂr OB (fisE44) 26,580
Other tax payables HAbfERTIE 1,819 1,751
770,647 618,634
Note: As at 31 December 2024, all interest payables are overdue Mz : RZZE-_WMF+_A=+—8 " fMEEMHF
(2023: same). BEHESH( =T =4 : HR) °
BORROWINGS 31. 8 &
2024 2023
—EomE —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Unsecured fixed-rate bank borrowing (note i) K iRTE SR TEE (ML) 5,316 5,377
Secured variable-rate bank borrowing (note ii) & # %2 S8R 1T E & (i %) - 188,670
Secured fixed-rate bank borrowing (note iii)y BT LRI TEE (i i) 1,430,004 1,479,499
1,435,320 1,673,546
Notes: BiSE
()  As at 31 December 2024, the unsecured fixed-rate bank () RZZE-_WOF+-_A=+—8 BEHFES

borrowing amounting to approximately HK$5,316,000 (2023:
HK$5,377,000) which is unguaranteed, carried at fixed interest
rate of 3.85% (2023: 3.85%) and is repayable within one year.

(i)  As at 31 December 2023, the secured variable-rate bank
borrowing carried interest at the London Interbank Offered
Rates (“LIBOR") plus a margin of 2.75% per annum. It contains
a repayment on demand clause and contractually repayable
within one year based on scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreement. The loan agreement was expired in
November 2022 and further extended to November 2023 and
conditionally extended to March 2024. In May 2024, the loan

was fully repaid.
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(ii)
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31. BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the secured fixed-rate bank
borrowing which is guaranteed by Mr. Dai, carried fixed interest
rate of 7%.

This secured fixed-rate bank borrowing was secured by the
investment properties and 100% equity interest of a subsidiary
established in the PRC as at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023.

At 31 December 2024, the Group's investment properties with
carrying amount of approximately HK$540,531,000 (2023:
HK$862,070,000) was pledged as security for this secured
fixed-rate bank borrowing.

This secured fixed-rate bank borrowing was expired in January
2021 and had not yet been successfully renewed nor extended
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. Accordingly, it became
overdue, repayable on demand, and was shown under current
liabilities. It has not yet been renewed, extended nor repaid
up to the date these consolidated financial statements are
authorised to issue.

32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes.

31. BE»)
MsE : (48)

(iii)

R-E-NER-_E-_=F+-A=+—H"
HEMEBRITHEEME RMER - 2E
FEFET% o

RZZE_WNF+_A=+—HRZZT=_=F

—A=1+—8 BEREEBRTEEHIKE
M EE K — BIE R B L 2 M B A B1100% HY AR
AAERSVEHRAR o

RZZE-_WMEF+_A=+—H8 A£EE
M B % 540,531,000 8 T (=& = = F :
862,070,000/ ) M BV E D EMERBIE
HE BIRITIEERIKA -

BREEERTEEER=ZE-_—F—AF
W AR E_mMER T -_=F+_H4
“t AR EERLEE - Bt - R1TE
BB RERENREE  WYEITRRRE
BEET  -HERNGRAMERRERETEA
B RITIEEMAEE  EREE -

32. BiERIEEE

HREEMBHARARAZHRENME - ETE
ERBEEENBBCDEE - U TARPBRE
B BV AR RE B AR AT

2024 2023

—E-mE —Eo=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEE 81,745 171,744

AHEZERARAT —T—NEFFR
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32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised
and movements thereon during years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023:

32. EEFIEE B 2

RBE-B - NFEFR-_B_=F+_"A=+—
HIFFEAERRBZ T ERLEHAGBEREE
BB

Revaluation

of investment
properties

and temporary
difference on

intangible

asset

EN

REMER

BREEY

RERE

HK$'000

FHT

At 1 January 2023 W-ZE-=%—F—H 380,925

Credit to profit or loss (Note 13) T AE=E(FIFE13) (198,101)

Exchange realignment M W SR (11,080)
At 31 December 2023 and B(\_v_ F+ZA=+—AK

1 January 2024 —EoF—H—H 171,744

Credited to profit or loss (Note 13) FTAB=E(FE13) (89,682)

Exchange realignment M AR (317)

At 31 December 2024 R-E-UHF+_-_A=+—H 81,745

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$947,056,000 (2023:
HK$1,312,084,000) available for offset against future profits.

Unused tax losses of approximately of HK$611,685,000
(2023: HK$427,186,000) arising in the PRC will expire in
one to five year and approximately HK$335,371,000 (2023:
HK$884,898,000) arising in other locations do not have the
expiry date.

The directors of the Company perform periodic assessment
on the probability that future taxable profits will be available
which the deferred tax assets can be realised or utilised.
In assessing the probability, both positive and negative
evidences were considered, including whether it is probable
that the operations will have sufficient future taxable profits
which the deferred tax assets can be deductible or utilised
and whether the tax losses result from identifiable causes
which are unlikely to recur.
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RBEHR AEBZRXPHHEHRBEEBEBEY
947,056,000/ 7 ( —Z = =4 : 1,312,084,000
7570 ) A] F DA S AR B F o

MBI E 4 #611,685,0008 T( - & - =
F : 427,186,00078 7T ) MY R B) A Bl T B 18 %
R—ZERFAER MRAEMHTEEND
335,371,000/ 7t (== — = 4 : 884,898,000
BT )N fEm B Ef o

ARBEEEHF G BRABELERIEE
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32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) 32. EXEBIEBEEF )

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no deferred tax
asset for tax losses was charged to profit or loss. Accordingly,
no deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences arising from impairment loss of
mining rights of approximately HK$34,603,000 (2023:
HK$23,593,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised in
foreseeable future.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable to the retained
profits earned by the subsidiaries in the PRC amounting to
approximately HK$343,088,000 (2023: HK$386,850,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

HE-Z-NF+-_A=1+—HItFE  TE
MIBEBEMEERIEEET A ABs - Bt - &
E-ZNE+-A=1+—HILtFE > Bk
FoE TR IR - WA IBEEER
EEFHIBEE o

PRERR - AEERKIBERERIEESR
B B 1 = 58 4934,603,0008 T ( — T - =
4 123,593,000 7T) o WERZEAINHY
FEZERRAELCHBEAE REAENER
AR R A A Be A Al B A TR E R M2 20 A
FERTLREF o

RIBFECEMEHE AT N\F—A—
B BiAKERENERRBRNENS
2B B BURTERS - BEZZ-_MF+=A
Z+—HIEEFE  WARGEHBREAZSP
I FfF /&8 X ) iR B 2 R BE i ) 49343,088,000/%8
TT(—Z = =4 : 386,850,000/8 7T ) FE (5 B
MEETREERIARE  REAALEEREN
RHE R MR BRI R A X R T
AR RS RGAATpE R -
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33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33.HE&8E
2023
ST =F
HK$'000
FAT
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEAE
Within one year —&R 1,532
Within a period of more than one year HABR B A — SFE N BB
but not exceeding two years 299
Within a period of more than two years HAPR AR B N BB T
but not exceeding five years -
1,831
Less: Amount due for settlement within B mEBBEE T ATREAER
12 months shown under current T+ =@ AREEE 22
liabilities EeL] (1,532)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  3ERBIEEE FATRAR+ @A
shown under non-current liabilities ZIBHEE 2 B EFE 299
Notes: PEE

(@)  The weighted average incremental interest rate applied to lease
liabilities ranged from 2.9% to 7.5% (2023: ranged from 2.5%
to 7.5%).

(b)  No lease liability is denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of relevant group entities.

(@) THEABEEANIEFEENENT2I9%E
75%(ZF==F : N F25%E7.5%) °

b) HEEEEAENERSEEZEOIREEUIN
BEHEHE -
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34, IR
Number of Share
shares capital
ROEE (&N
HK$'000
THET
Authorised ordinary shares at HK$0.05 BERO.OSETZEEEER
per share
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZEZ=F-F—H ZZ-=F
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 TZA=t—B ZZ-mE
—A—BRZZE-ME+-HA
=+—H 34,566,666,668 1,728,333
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares at BEERO.0SETZERTRACEER
HK$0.05 per share
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZZ-_=F—F—H Z%==%F
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 +-A=+—8 -ZZ-mF
—A—BRZZ-MFE+_A
=+—H 5,250,019,852 262,501
Authorised preference shares at HK$0.05 BEER0.05BTZEEBER
per share
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZZE-_=F—A—H -ZZ==%
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 +ZA=+—B8 -ZZ-mF
—A—BRZZ-NF+=A
=t+—H 5,433,333,332 271,666

Issued and fully paid preference shares at EBR.SBETZERTRAZELR
HK$0.05 per share

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZZEZ=F—-A—RB ZZ2==%
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 +TZRA=+—8 ZZ-mEF
—A—BRZZE-WmFE+=A
=+—H - -

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR 189
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35. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS  35. ®&HEZH
The Group as lessor AEBEREHEA
The investment properties held by the Group for rental REBFEFBEWRBMASE N2 IREDE - 5t
purposes on an ongoing basis. Undiscounted lease payments HERKHARMIBEENROT
receivable on leases are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-NEF —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Within one year —FR 22,159 7,503
In the second year FF 7,544 2,234
In the third year FE=4F 2,516 2,285
In the fourth year FENF 739 2,400
32,958 14,422
36. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 36. BB IR E

Except for disclosed in note 44, the Group has no other
transactions and balances with related parties during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of executive directors, being the key
management personnel, are set out in note 14, which is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.
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37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EAEKRER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders, to support the Group’s
stability and growth, and to strengthen the Group’s financial
management capability.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in
notes 31 and 33, respectively, net of bank balances and
cash and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and other reserves.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly reviews
its capital structure and make adjustments in light of changes
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payables to
shareholders, issue new shares or raise new debts and repay
existing debts. The Group's capital management objectives,
policies or processes were unchanged from previous year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
the Group’s net debts (comprising accounts payable, accrued
liabilities and other payables, borrowings, lease liabilities, tax
payables and financial guarantee contracts less bank and cash
balances) over its total equity. The Group policy is to keep the
gearing ratio at a reasonable level below 4 times. The Group's
gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 was 1.77 times (2023:
3.44 times).

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements.

AEBEREER  EEBRARENERL
& MARREERADR  FHAKENR
ENMER - AN R AR E WIS E IS

AEENEARBEEABEFE(DHIREN
A3 RIBEENEERBEEBE) - MBRIRTT
EHRMRE RARBHE ARGERZ(BED
BT R EALFEE) -

ARBERREGNEREHEERNREE - LR
BEEARNESIEL AR - RETAFEE
AL - AEBREFHEIRN TRIROBE -
BITHRRBEMEREEREER - BBE
FEUR  AEEEBERNERE - BEEE
PR e 2R o

AEEFRAEEABLRETER  EEARE
hEATNEBMOBEFHE(BEELERER B
STEEREMEMNRE B HERE K
BRBERMBERANBRITEESESR) B
DR BRE - REBNIR ABEEABLL R
BIFABUTHAEAKFE R _WF+=
A=+—H0 REENEERRELRA1.77E
(ZEZ=F : 3.4415) -

AREBNRZAEASNEP I E AR EHFTHIR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

38. £® TR
(a) EMITEMER

2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Financial assets SRIEE
Amortised cost SO RN 385,143 202,034
Financial liabilities sHasE
Amortised cost BESHR AR 2,161,434 2,263,418
Financial guarantee contracts HMIEHEREL 1,187,380 939,688
Lease liabilities MEARE 2,619 1,831

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
accounts receivable, other receivables and deposits,
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash,
accounts payable, other payables, borrowings, financial
guarantee contracts and lease liabilities. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk
Several subsidiaries of the Company have the

foreign currency bank balances, which also
exposes the Group to foreign currency risk.
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AEEMEFESMTABEREER - &
fhEWFIE RiES - RBREIRITER - R
TS EES - EAERER - AMERK
B B8 WBEREGHREEARE -
HZE e T EABNERETISER
(R - F=E kR MEERR)
FEERBRERSE SRR - BRI MEER
ZERBOBEHN T - EEEEER
EEZERRARRESE N EREE S
iz

T E ks
() EEER

RRBETHBARMNIMNERITLE
ERIMEAREAZINER L o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i

Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

5 /meE (&)
() E¥ERE)

RBEHR - NEBAINEFHER
EREEREKBENREEDT

Liabilities Assets
=R EE

2024 2023 2024 2023
—ECNFE o -F  ZEWEF T =F
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FExT FAT
us$ ETT 7,719 16,108 14,038 55,655
Renminbi (“RMB") ARBTARK]D) - - 50 52

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed currency risk related
to US$, RMB and HKS$.

For the entities of which their functional currency
is HK$ while holding assets denominated in US$,
the directors of the Company consider that as
HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group is not subject
to significant foreign currency risk from change
in foreign exchange rate of HK$ against US$ and
hence only consider the sensitivity of the change
in foreign exchange rate of HK$ against currencies
other than US$.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
monetary items which are denominated in relevant
foreign currencies and adjusts its translation at
the year end for a 5% change in relevant foreign
currencies exchange rates.

7N 45 B 3R B 3 4 A 4] 51 B 39 09 BK
R AT ARBEEEEGERSN
ERERRIENETEREBLTE
RENERB °

BRBEDN

AEBETEMHEEIT  ARER
BTN SR ER o

STHEEE RBILMFEIAET
HEMBEEZER  ARAEER
A BRETTEIITHE - AEH
NEERTTHLETINEERZEFHH
ERIMNERR - Bt - BEEETT
HETIAIZ R INEE K2 F)
M BURRE DT °

HREDITEBREAREER 2 AR
SNEEHER EHIAR - WRFRFH
BRNEEREH 75%RAEHG

s
B o
SET-
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the group entities against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2023: 5%)
is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The analysis illustrates the
impact for a 5% strengthening of the functional
currency of the relevant group entities against
the relevant currency and a positive and negative
number below indicates a decrease and an
increase in loss respectively. For a 5% weakening
of the functional currency of the relevant group
entities against the relevant currency, therefore
would be an equal and opposite impact on the
loss or profit.

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

5 /meE (&)
() E¥ERE)
BRESN(E)

TRFAVNAAEEUEEEREN
BEEBREEINEABKS%(ZF
TEF 5%) ZHERE o IRmAE
TEEBABREINIERBEER
CEHBREL R A% (T =
5%)  AEIRELHINEERSIPA
e E) 2 5TE - DT ERISE
FREMNIEEE LB E B HES%
VR E . N X IEB TSR
RSB A RIE N - B EEE
ERMNEEY L AEESEEE
5% -+ BB SCEF A EERER

2/ 488
RS & -

RMB Impact (note i)
ARBSE (M)

2024 2023

—ECE —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Increase in loss before tax BRI A TR N (3) 3)

Decrease in loss before tax KRR EER B8 3
Note: BfaE -

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure on
bank balances denominated in RMB at the end of
reporting period.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the relevant years.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank borrowing as
disclosed in note 31. The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances as disclosed in note 28 and
variable-rate borrowing as disclosed in note 31.
The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuations of LIBOR arising
from the Group’s GBP denominated borrowing.
It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings at
floating interest rate so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk. The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook.

The Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk. However, the management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

Total bank interest income from financial assets
that measured at amortised cost is as follows:

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

HEmE ()
(i) FIEmEB

REBEBGMF3TAHENTE S
TRENAAENXRERR - A&EH
IR ER M 28 P IR B A B F B4R
TSR3 ARENFEEE
RengMEEk AEENRS
MENXEREBEPRAEEIA
REHENERELNRIRITR
EFEN TR - AEBHBERS
REFEEERTBFES - AR
RAENERR&ZME - AEBE
AR & 4 o Al =8 BT E )
REPHELNBEEYEBTERAMNEK
[\ -

AEBERE L ENBEATETR
BRENEMERONXER o A
- ERERNERERE B
BEAMXRER

BEERAGEZEREEZ AR
TTMBWALT

2024 2023
—E-ME ZT=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Bank interest income RITH S UA
Financial assets at amortised cost TR SRS IR 2 @ B = 877 1,094

AMFRERAT — S _MFFR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest expense on bank borrowings:

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

B mE ()

(ii)

FIFER (&)

BRI BFIT

2024 2023

—ECMEFE —EC=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Interest expenses FEMX 162,499 172,974

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates is used. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as
the directors of the Company consider that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising
from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2023: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's pre-tax loss for
the year ended 31 December 2024 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$7,177,000 (2023:
pre-tax loss increase/decrease by approximately
HK$8,368,000).

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

BRBEDN

TY@K@E’“WEEEA%iﬂHﬂEﬁ%
MEEBRMEE ° 2 THRER R
%ﬁﬂﬂimﬁmﬂlﬂﬁé%ili&'mﬂi
EiEMARE o E NSO 50 EEE
TE=F  S0EER)AERE
S P ER A B ) IET‘@E@@?Z%
e ARARBEZERREFR
ﬁ%ﬁ%?ﬁiZﬁﬁm%ﬂ?ﬂ»ﬂ&
AAYAEKR - EEREESTLTE
FRERTTAS

A= A THRSOEER (=
—=%: 501I%E£) mET A Hib
BHREFETE  AAEEHE-T
:El¢+fﬂ_+ BIEFEE 2B
Fi AT B8 838 00, IR 497,177,000
BIL(ZZT==F : BRBIATEEE
B0 R #98,368,000/87T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
accounts receivable, other receivables and deposits,
restricted bank balances, bank balances and cash.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets and financial guarantee contracts.

The Group performed impairment assessment financial
assets under ECL model. Information about Group’s
credit risk management, maximum credit exposures and
the related impairment asses applicable, are summarised
as below:

Accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals and to
determine any debt recovery action on those delinquent
accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers. Before granting credit to these customers,
the Group reviews the credit quality and defines credit
limits by these customers. Limits attributed to these
customers are reviewed once a year and each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group maintains a
defined credit policy to assess the credit quality of these
customers and seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables so as to minimise credit risk. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Accounts receivable arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The Group had concentrated risk as 54% (2023: 63%)
of accounts receivable was due from the Group's two
(2023: seven) largest customer. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
credit-impaired accounts receivable individually. The
remaining non-credit impaired accounts receivable are
assessed collectively and grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to the Group’s past
due status of outstanding balances, nature, size and
industry of debtors and external credit ratings. Reversal
of impairment losses of approximately HK$4,405,000
(2023: impairment losses of HK$9,386,000) was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below
in this note.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The Group provided impairment based on 12 months
ECL (“12m ECL") ECL. Reversal of impairment losses of
approximately HK$1,835,000 (2023: impairment losses
of HK$19,564,000) was recognised for other receivables
and deposits during the year ended 31 December 2024.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below
in this note.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of
the Company have performed impairment assessment
and concluded that there has been a significant credit
risk and risk of default since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. During the year ended
31 December 2024, impairment losses on financial
guarantee contracts of HK$329,289,000 (2023:
HK$295,321,000) were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Details of the financial
guarantee contracts are set out in note 46.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default
of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered
to be insignificant.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. €Wt T B (@)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MEEREEEEREEK®)
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERREFE(E)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment REEZ NEMEERBIT AT EBEEAT
comprises the following categories: Rl
Internal Accounts Other financial
credit rating Description receivable assets
R EETR it FEW AR X HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
NS RSEFHENRRE LRI EEFIaE SHBEBEESE-—K 12EAEREESSE
BECERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
settle in full credit-impaired
BRLE EBABARNSBRARREN  EAREHEN 2HEHEEFE-RX 2EAEHREEESSE
BHEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk  Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL - not credit-
since initial recognition through information credit-impaired impaired
developed internally
Rk BRAIRE AR BYSRRBREE PHERMEEESE-RX 2HENEEEE-
BB A A £ BECERE REEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
&8 BERBRETEAERRAEERE ZHEBREERE-£ 2HEHEEEE-
BECERE BEEEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off  Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

T 3H EREBRRTEBARARENBERERASET MiEesE MiHE R
ETEMWEATR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. €T HE(»)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MEEREEEEREEK®)
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERREFE(E)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TEREA S EBETTIEREE BB
the Group’s financial assets and financial guarantee ZeMEERVBERE OB ZEER
contracts, which are subject to ECL assessment: %
2024 2023
—E-ME k- S
Internal/external (Gross carrying amount (Gross carrying amount
credit rating BEEE LEHE
Notes /M 12m or ifetime ECL HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wi FERA NEAR2ERERERE Tén TEn TEn T

Financial assets at amortised cost

REHHAYIR SRER
Accounts receivable 24 (Noteq) Lifetime ECL (not-credit impaired) 11181 42,038
G (Fizta) SHEBEEHR(ARELEEHE)
(Note a) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) - 11,181 9,705 51,743
(Bizta) SHEBEEHR(CREEERE)
Other receivables and deposits 25 (Noteb) 12m ECL /Lfetime ECL (non-credit-
impaired) 4,857 3,212
ARG ER RS (Hizkb) AABEEESE /2 HEERE
FR(REEREERE)
(Note'b) Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 17,666 2,523 18423 21,695
(Hizkb) FHRBEEER(EREEERE)
Loan receivable 25 (Noteq) 12m ECL (not-credit impaired) 1175 11,605
EUER (Biskc) NEARBEESR(REEEERE)
Restricted hank deposits 27 Aa3toB2 12mECL 11,444 2801
FBHFTER A23ZR) 1EARHEEEE
Bank balances 28 Aa3toB2 12m ECL 352,861 119,261
icree A23ZR) 1EARHEEEE
409,184 232,315
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

a. For accounts receivable from contracts with customers,
the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The
Group determines the ECL on these items by using a
provision matrix, grouped by internal credit rating.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to its operation. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for accounts
receivable from contracts with customers.

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)

GEE

RREEFPAROZBUERME - A&
B O e REEMBHREERFE RN Z
RN REHRBERE R EEER
B AREEBRABRBEEHEZER
BETRBEERR  WARNBEET
BAETTNIR -

ERAEEEERRERZ —8H &
SEREESERH TP EANENE
B - TERRKATPANZER
RRMEBEERRAEZER -

Gross carrying amount AERRE
2024 2023
—BomE —EC=F

Accounts ECL Accounts ECL
Internal credit rating receivable Amount receivable Amount
FEHEE TEHIEE
RS ETR FEWBRR EHiESE FEURR K [k
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TERT FAT FAT
Low risk 9N 503 183 21,333 145
Watch list BREE 92 35 10,789 73
Doubtful RER 10,586 5,438 9,916 138
Loss &8 - - 9,705 9,705
11,181 5,656 51,743 10,061

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T —F+_-A=+—HIFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

a.

(Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

38. T A%

(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)

MieE : (&)

a. (%)

TR KR RIER 2 2 BEAE

that has been recognised for accounts receivable: BEEz2
Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
provision individual
matrix assessment
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HiTEH 2HITEH
EEEE- EEFE-
BBER 1850 574
(RBE (B%E
EERE) EERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHETT
As at 1 January 2023 W_E-_=F—H—H 297 378 675
Changes due to financial RZZZ=F—A—HER
instruments recognised as at R T AR :
1 January 2023:
— Impairment losses reversed —BERIREEE (297) - (297)
New financial assets originated: EENEmMEAE
— Impairment losses recognised —BERRBEEE 356 9,327 9,683
As at 31 December 2023 and RZZE—_=F+-A=+—HK
1 January 2024 —mFE—A—H 356 9,705 10,061
Changes due to financial RZZ-_mMFE—F—A#%ER
instruments recognised as at SR ITAMBES :
1 January 2024:
— Impairment losses reversed —BEEIRERSE (356) (9,705) (10,061)
New financial assets originated: EEHeRmEE
— Impairment losses recognised —BHERREEE 218 5,438 5,656
As at 31 December 2024 MNZZ-MFE+—A=+—H 218 5,438 5,656
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
a. (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the loss allowance for accounts
receivable was influenced by two key factors. A reversal
of impairment losses amounting to HK$10,061,000
was recorded, primarily resulting from improved
collection outcomes and recoveries on previously
impaired receivables. Offsetting this, impairment losses
of HK$5,656,000 were recognized on newly originated
financial assets, reflecting updated credit risk assessments
and the incorporation of higher-risk exposures in the
current portfolio.

As at 31 December 2023, the loss allowance movement
for accounts receivables was predominantly attributable
to impairment losses of HK$9,683,000 on credit-impaired
accounts receivable. This charge was driven by specific
credit deterioration events, including payment defaults
and observable financial stress among certain debtor
groups, which necessitated increased provision levels.

The impairment for accounts receivables was estimated
based on the the expected credit losses (“ECL")
methodology. The ECL of the financial guarantee
contracts was estimated with three parameters, namely
exposure at default (“EAD"), probability of default (“PD"),
loss given default (“LGD"). It is a common and widely used
approach to estimate the expected credit losses, which
considered both the expected probability of occurrence
of loss event (i.e. PD) and the expected loss severity in the
event of default (i.e. LGD) based on the financial status of
the borrowers, historical data and market expectation.

The Group writes off accounts receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the accounts receivable are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the accounts
receivable that have been written off is subject to
enforcement activities.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

b. For the purposes of internal credit risk management
of other receivables and deposits, the Group uses
historical settlement and past event information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

The following tables show reconciliation of loss

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)
MieE : (&)
b. HAMEERREBREEMS AKEEHA

B sk H OBk F ARG B V6
REEERBZERELM -

TRIVRE R E M KRR R IR & HER

allowances that has been recognised for other receivables ZIBEBEHE
and deposits:
12m ECL/
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(Not credit- (Credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
12{8 A a8
-1V 2 HATEH
>HEHEE FEEE
BROREE (B84E
EERE) FERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F—HF—H 1,309 - 1,309
New financial assets originated: EENEemEE
— Impairment losses recognised —ERRREEE 91 18,423 18,514
As at 31 December 2023 and RZZE—_=F+-A=+—HK
1 January 2024 —ZE-pmF—A—H 1,400 18,423 19,823
Changes due to financial RIZ-_MFE—F—A%ER
instruments recognised as at SR T EFTEEE) -
1 January 2024:
— Impairment losses reversed —BEREREEE (1,066) (756) (1,822)
As at 31 December 2024 RZZE-ZOFE+-A=+—H 334 17,667 18,001

The average loss rate ranged from 16.67% to 100%
(2023: 6.34% to 100%).

As at 31 December 2024, the loss allowance movement
was predominantly attributable to reversal of impairment
losses of HK$1,822,000, primarily resulting from
improved collection outcomes and recoveries on
previously impaired receivables.

As at 31 December 2023, the loss allowance movement
of other receivables and deposits was predominantly
attributable to reversal of impairment losses of
HK$18,514,000 on credit-impaired other receivable. This
charge was driven by specific credit deterioration events,
including payment defaults and observable financial
stress among certain debtor groups, which necessitated
increased provision levels.

FHEBRENF16.67%Z2100% (=T
= 1 6.34%%F100%) °

—WE+=—/A=+—8 - BA
#E)+ B)RMEE1,822,000/8 7T
HEEEE - EXERHRERIBERK
Z AN ATHAE R A FE U AR KA e Bl FiTER

BE—_T-_=F+-A=+—8 ' &
EURIE kiR N ESEREZEHAIES
5% P B 1 {5 B Rl (B L b B Uk SR IB EE [B]
18,514,000/ LA REE 18 - & —7HiR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
b. (Continued)

The impairment for other receivables and deposits
was estimated based on the the expected credit losses
("ECL") methodology. The ECL of the financial guarantee
contracts was estimated with three parameters, namely
exposure at default (“EAD"), probability of default (“PD"),
loss given default (“LGD"). It is a common and widely used
approach to estimate the expected credit losses, which
considered both the expected probability of occurrence
of loss event (i.e. PD) and the expected loss severity in the
event of default (i.e. LGD) based on the financial status of
the borrowers, historical data and market expectation.

C. For loan receivable the Group uses historical settlement
and past event information to access shelter credit risk
has increase significantly since initial recognition.

38. T A%

(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)
fiRE : (&)
b. (#&)

HAth FEUFIR MR &R E R R IF A
EBB([EMEEER] HXRETH
it e MBERAONBHEERRRA
= A2 EEE T - BIE R R A
(TEWRARKD )  BOME(HOM
) BOBKR(TEROBR]) - &
REAEREEBREABEZER
TR REBERANSBAMR - ELE
BERTISEE  ZRBAEMHEENTE
B R (AR OB X)) LBOBER TR
HEENRERE(BEOERX) -

¢ BEWENRNE  AEEERELEE
&iﬁ&$1¢§ﬂpﬂéﬁ HERERLEER
[l 2 A IR KR ANV AROR

12m ECL
(Not credit-
impaired)
128 B EH
FEBS
(REE
EERE)
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 January 2023 RZZZ=%—H—H =
New financial assets originated: EEXNEREE
— Impairment losses recognised —BEERBEEE 397
As at 31 December 2023 and RZZE=Z=F+=-A=+—A80K
1 January 2024 ToFE—H—H 397
Changes due to finandial EA_;_IT_EIi A—B#R
instruments recognised as at &t T EFTBU#
1 January 2024:
— Impairment losses reversed —BEEIRERE (397)
New financial assets originated: EEFemEE
— Impairment losses recognised — B HERREEE 384
As at 31 December 2024 RZZE_WFE+_A=+—H 384

No material changes in the loss allowance for loan
receivable as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

d.  The impairment for financial guarantee contracts was
estimated based on the the expected credit losses
("ECL") of the financial guarantee contracts.. The ECL
of the financial guarantee contracts was estimated with
three parameters, namely exposure at default (“EAD"),
probability of default (“PD"), loss given default (“LGD").
It is a common and widely used approach to estimate
the expected credit losses, which considered both the
expected probability of occurrence of loss event (i.e. PD)
and the expected loss severity in the event of default
(i.e. LGD) based on the financial status of the borrowers,
historical data and market expectation.

The PD is considered to be 100%, as the borrowings
in relation to the financial guarantee contracts have
been all matured and defaulted by the borrowers as of
the balance sheet date. LGD is calculated by one minus
recovery rate. The recovery rate of 33.9% adopted was
based on the annual default research paper. Discount
factor is considered to be 1 (i.e. no discounting) as the
financial guarantee contracts was considered overdue
already as of the balance sheet date.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of bank balances and cash
deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

In addition, as disclosed in Note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group might be required to
make payments in respect of the financial guarantee
contracts entered into by Guangzhou Rongzhi and
Jinzhou Jiachi. The maximum liabilities guaranteed
by Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi were
principal amounts plus interests and default interests of
RMB980,697,000 and RMB4,869,494,000 respectively.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from weighted
average interest rate at the end of reporting period.

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

EEmERRAETE(E)
MieE : (&)

d HBERAORESREMBERAD
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xR  BHBEK(TEMEX]D - %
ARG EREEERERARZE
REITE - RBERANE AR - E
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity table

As at 31 December 2024

38. €@t T R
(b) BIEREEEEREE &)

mBELmE(E)

R-E-_NF+=-—A=+—H

Weighted On demand Total
average or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1-5 years cash flows amount
g RERY, RERRE
FHHE FR-F -Enf REAR RAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TAT TAR TAR TAR
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3674 S MAE
Accounts payable ERER N/ATER 7,719 - 7,719 7,719
Accrued liabilities and other payables  [ExtE B R Ef e
B N/ATER 718,395 - 718,395 718,395
Borrowings fBE 6.99 1,435,320 - 1,435,320 1,435,320
Lease liabilities HEBR 6.02 1,216 1,568 2,784 2,619
Financial quarantee contracts HBERAN N/ATE R 5,850,191 - 5,850,191 1,187,380
8,012,841 1,568 8,014,409 3,351,433
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-A=+—H
Weighted On demand Total
average or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-5 years cash flows amount
ik RERH REGRE
TR TR—fEA —E0F mELHE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TAT TEL TATL TR
Non-derivative financial liabilities  Jf74 & REAE
Accounts payable R NATER 16,108 - 16,108 16,108
Accrued liabilities and other payables st & R ft e
W NATER 583,215 = 583,215 583,215
Borrowings 1 6.23 1,679,335 - 1,679,335 1,673,546
Lease liabilties HERRE 6.12 1,570 29 1,869 1831
Financial guarantee contracts HBRRAL NATER 5,923,199 - 5,923,199 939,688
8,203,427 299 8,203,726 3,214,388
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 38. T A%
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) MEEREEEEREEK®)

and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Borrowing with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 month”
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31
December 2024, the aggregate principal amount of
this borrowing amounted to approximately HK$nil
(2023: HK$188,670,000). The directors of the Company
believe that this borrowing will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment date set out in the loan
agreement, details of which are set out in the table

mBELmE(E)

Wﬁ/ﬁ&%x [ER = = R b 2
DI AMRERS T2 —EA |2
IW RZEZMF+=-_A=+—H "
321%EZ$$%@EQZ%%77,%E( ==
1 188,670,000/87C) - KRR EER
B ZEERBRIBEESGEEHETER
HEAERE HFBERTER -

below.
Maturity Analysis -
Borrowing with a repayment on demand clause
hased on the scheduled repayment
N - WERET HERRE
ARERRERAZEE
Total
Less than 1-3  Over 3 months undiscounted Carrying
1 month months to 1 year 1-2 years cash flows amount
RER
B BERE
SW-BR  -E=f8f =@AZ-% -EfE b il
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
Thn TR TEn TiER TiEn TiEn
As at 31 December 2024 RoZ-mET-A=1-H - - - - - -
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=FtZA=1-A E = 194,459 = 194,459 188,670

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

% B HIR 2 BBA IR E PRAE
ZIERER - ERZR I,E\%U\Ziﬁﬁm
TR -

AHEZERARAT —T—NEFFR
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

The Group's investment properties are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The directors
of the Company are responsible to determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. For
instruments with significant unobservable inputs under
Level 3, where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The directors of the Company works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model. The management reports the valuation
committee’s findings to the directors of the Company to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.

Tai United Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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39. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 39. RIKERIFHE

The Group has retirement plans covering a substantial portion
of its employees. The principal plans are defined contribution
plans.

The Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong participate the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The Group’s employees are required to join the
scheme. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirement of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregated
income with a cap of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and the UK, in
compliance with the applicable regulations of respective
jurisdictions, participated in various pension schemes operated
by the relevant municipal and provincial governments. These
subsidiaries are required to make defined contributions to
these schemes at a fixed percentage of their covered payroll.
The Group has no other obligations for the payment of its
staff’s retirement and other post-retirement benefits other
than the contributions described above.

The total contributions in respect of the year ended 31
December 2024 charged to consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income amount to
approximately HK$3,916,000 (2023: HK$4,095,000).

AEBRE —HERREARD R E ZRIKGH
2 - TRFBRFREMHKEE

ARBNELBME R RRBRFMERESFE
EEBNRAERELERH LTSS -
AEERBHASMUEE - SHEINEERK
SEMNEESFRRKA  AXTAZHES - K
SEEETEERBERRIRERAERER
BEABKABS%HT - TRATHEETA
1,500 7T °

REBTEBVEERBERABRL - AABRFRER
HREMBARY2ESHAMARE TN EE
ZEERREFE - ZEWBARAR Liltct
MREF S ZEE B O MRS EERE
B - R B RSN REEEE AR
B TRRMEMBRRRBNNERT -

BE-_Z-_NF+_-_A=+—HI-FEBE&K
AEXZREMEZERERNG Z2RERAED
3,916,000/ ( = Z == : 4,095,000/ 7T) °
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40. CHARGES ON ASSETS

The Group has the following charges on assets at the end of
the reporting period:

40. EEIKH
A BRI R A T B A -

2024 2023
—EE —E - =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Investment properties BEYE
— Residential property units located in the — R ERE 2 M EER
UK (note (a)) (M¥5E(@)) - 536,709
— Shopping malls located in the PRC — (IR BRI RE DL
(note (b) and (c)) (HF5E(b) B () 1,059,479 1,404,370
Notes: PisE

(@  Asat 31 December 2023, the investment properties, insurance
proceeds and together with a floating charge over all the assets
of certain subsidiaries of the Group were pledged to a bank to
secure for a bank borrowings with an outstanding amount of
approximately HK$188,670,000. In May 2024, the bank loan
was fully repaid.

(b)  As at 31 December 2024, investment properties held by two
subsidiaries, Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou Jiachi with
carrying amounts of HK$540,531,000 (2023: HK$862,070,000)
and HK$518,948,000 (2023: HK$542,300,000) respectively
were pledged to Bank of Jinzhou Co, Limited for the non-
group companies which were related to Mr. Dai in respect of
their certain bank borrowings in aggregate principal amount of
RMB3,400,000,000. These borrowings were defaulted.

() As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the secured
fixed-rate bank borrowing were secured by the investment
properties with carrying amounts HK$540,531,000 and 100%
equity interest of a Guangzhou Rongzhi established in the PRC.
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the
directors of the Company to grant options to selected
employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part
time employee, including any director) of any member of
the Group or any invested entity, any supplier of goods or
services, any customer, any person or entity that provide
research, development or other technological support, any
shareholders or any participants who contribute to the
development and growth of the Group or any invested entity
(the “Eligible Participants”) as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group and/or
to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible Participants and to
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders
on 17 September 2015, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) on 17
September 2015 and shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on the date of adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme (i.e. 16 September 2025) unless
terminated earlier by shareholders in general meeting. The
number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total shares in issue on the date of approval of the New Share
Option Scheme by the shareholders at the annual general
meeting (i.e. 125,091,243 shares) (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from
shareholders to renew the Scheme Mandate Limit on the
basis that the maximum number of shares in respect of which
any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the
New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

41. B ESHE

FBAEST 8B M RBEARRER A MATEER
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Scheme Mandate Limit was changed to 525,001,985
as at the date of passing of the ordinary resolution granted
the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit (i.e. 5 June
2017). The refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit represents 10%
of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue amounted to 5,250,019,852 shares as at 5 June 2017.
The options may be granted under the refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit do not include options that are outstanding,
cancelled or lapsed as at 5 June 2017.

The terms of the New Share Option Scheme provide that
in granting options under the New Share Option Scheme,
the directors of the Company may offer to grant any
options subject to such terms and conditions in relation to
the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance criteria to be satisfied before such options
can be exercised and/or any other terms as the directors of
the Company may determine in its absolute discretion. The
directors of the Company will also have the discretion in
determining the subscription price in respect of any options,
provided that the relevant requirements in the Listing Rules
are complied with.

The exercise price of the option is to be determined by the
directors of the Company provided always that it shall be at
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer for the grant of the option (which is
deemed to be the date of grant if the offer for the grant of
the option is accepted by the Eligible Participant), which must
be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant, provided that the exercise price of the
option shall in no event be less than the nominal amount of
one share; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
twenty one days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made. The amount payable to the Company on acceptance
of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The
maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted and to be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company to any Eligible Participant (including cancelled,
exercised and outstanding options), in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
in issue from time to time. Any further grant of options
in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
shareholders with such Eligible Participant and his close
associates abstaining from voting.

No share options were granted under the New Share Option
Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

41, B RERH 82
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,

42. REFHEENEBNHER

TREIAEERELTHELNREEH (R

MBENERSRESIRKRERENAEE
MEARSRERT O RARETHRERE

classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows ZBfE-
from financing activities.
Interest Lease
payable Borrowings liabilities Total
BAFE BE HEaE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FAET FAT
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=F—H—H 249,920 1,741,486 6,385 1,997,791
Financing cash flows (Note) @& R & RE (FisE) (15,082) (35,648) (4,270) (55,000)
Non-cash transactions: FRERH :
Exchange realignment M 5 AR (7,780) (32,292) (440) (40,512)
Finance costs P TN 172,974 - 156 173,130
At 31 December 2023and R -ZT =%
1 January 2024 +—A=+—Ak
—ZE-mF—HA—H 400,032 1,673,546 1,831 2,075,409
Financing cash flows (Note) @& R &R E (FisE) (8,132) (188,670) (3,881) (200,683)
Non-cash transactions: FEERFH :
New leases entered FElE - - 3,661 3,661
Exchange realignment b H R B (17.602) (49,556) 45 (67,113)
Finance costs B TSR AR 162,499 - 963 163,462
At 31 December 2024 RZZTZF
+=-—A=+—H 536,797 1,435,320 2,619 1,974,736

Note: The financing cash flows mainly represent rental payment,

repayment of bank borrowings and interest paid.
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. X PR ETEMB L RNFE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and RZEBEZMFER T =F+=_A=+—8H -
2023 are as follows: FEMBARMFERAT -

Issued and fully

Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
Bl BRITRBRRE/ RRARENERE
MWEBLREE EENY AR ARES RRZEESL TEEH
2024 2023
SBomE . CTOCF
Directly held subsidiaries
EREEHNELA
Bestway Group International Limited BVI US$1,100 100% 100% Investment holding
HERAES 1,100%7T REER
Tectron Pacific Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
RERAES 1% REER
Wide Flourish Investments Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEREERAT ABRETANE 1% REER
Indirectly held subsidiaries
BREEHNELA
Prolific Rich Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
LHER R EERAES 1% RESR
Grand Shining Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
WERRAR EERAES 1% REAER
Giant Silver Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
FRARLA B 1% REER
RRREARRORINERAA The PRC HK$400,000,000 100% 100% Financial services and assets
management
G 400,000,000/7C SRRBRAEER
I RERRER AR The PRC RMB10,000,000 75% 75% Sales of medical equipment
E AR#10,000,0007 HERRR
Kainarwolfram LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100% Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
e 100,000 70 RERMEARER
lkh Uuliin Erdenes LLC Mongolia US$100,000 100% 100% Mining and exploitation of
natural resources
e 100,000 70 REROERRER
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43. XARIEENBARNFE @)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and  interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
FMRLRAL BRAIRMERE/ RARGENERE
MEBAREE EENY AMRARER RRZERDL TEER
2024 2023
SECME C2oCF
Indirectly held subsidiaries (Continued)
BREEHNELH(E)
Tai United Management Company Limited ~ The UK GBP1 = 100%  Investment holding
£ £S5 REER
RCBG Residential (UK) Limited The UK GBP0.01 - 100%  Property Investment
#E 0.018 MERE
MRB Residential Limited The UK BP1 = 100%  Property Investment
B S NERE
MRB Residential Partners LLP The UK - = 100%  Property Investment
(Note
it - nERE
(First)
Superb Power Enterprises Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
FNREERAT ERARES 1% REEKR
Longain Park Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
REBRAT X 18T REER
Guangzhou Rongzi The PRC RMB335,000,000 100% 100% Development, lease
and management of
underground shopping mall
BMBE e AR335,000,0007T BR HEREBMTEY
)
Sky Build Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
RERBRAT ERENES 1% REEKR
New Full Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
BFARRA BB 18T RERR
Jinzhou Jiachi The PRC US$49,800,000 100% 100% Development, lease
and management of
underground shopping mall
e e 49,800,000% 7 ¥R HERERLTHEY
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 43.
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Issued and fully

ARABEEMBATNFE &

Place of incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion ownership
or establishment/ registered and  interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
FMRLRAL BRARARRE/ RARRENESE
HEAREH EEBE AMRBRES REREEBD TEEH
2024 2023
“E-ME  -ZC=F
Indirectly held subsidiaries (Continued)
BREEHNELH(E)
Asian Leader Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
FEREERAT &k 1T REER
Anyang Jiangchuan Public Facilities Co., Ltd.* The PRC US$15,000,000 100% 100% Development, lease
(formerly known as: Anyang Renhe New and management of
World Public Facilities Co., Ltd.*) underground shopping mall
2B IR &R EERA R Gl 15,000,000% 7 ¥R HEREROTEY
(38 : ZBARMF R R ERIEER il
RE)
Full View Trading United Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Sales of flooring materials
BREHERAT &k 17T HEmIRIRL
Notes: P%E
This entity is a partnership established in the UK. No registered share ZEBRANEBIK MG ZAE - WEAAZMR
capital available. ¥

* Established as a wholly foreign owned enterprise in the PRC.

# Established as a limited liability company in the PRC.

All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in their
respective places of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the
reporting period.

* RRBRZAINEEERHE -

’ RRBKRZAERATE -

FrE T EMB R RSN EER 2 M K
NI RRE R FRER

ARBEERB/LERINEAKE ZHBEAR
HBAKREZRENBEEFERERYE - AR
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44. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 April 2024, the Group entered into a sale agreement
(“SPA") to dispose of a subsidiary, Wide Flourish Investments
Limited, together with its subsidiaries which primarily hold
and manage the properties located in London, the United
Kingdom for rental income. The Group has used the proceeds
from the disposal to repay the secured variable-rate bank
borrowing of approximately HK$188,670,000, and the
Group intended to apply the remaining balance as working
capital to support the Group’s ongoing businesses primarily in
trading of flooring material and the leasing and management
of shopping mall business in the PRC and as strategic reserves
to cater for contingent liabilities of the Group. Subsequent
to the reporting period, the Group made payment of
RMB236,000,000 in respect to the guarantee liabilities using
the part of the remaining proceeds which is used as intended.

The disposal was completed on 27 December 2024.
The purchaser, C&E Flooring Supply Limited, a company
incorporated in the United Kingdom with limited liability,
is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Pang Da Yong, who is a
director of the subsidiaries of the Wide Flourish Investments
Limited. As such, the purchaser is an associate of Mr. Pang
Da Yong under the Listing Rules and hence resulting in a
connected party transaction.
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44. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 44. HEMB AT #)

Details of the disposals are as follows: FHEEENFBEOT :
HK$'000
TERT
Consideration RIE 487,000
Property, plant and equipment W - WE K&iEE 50
Investment properties TEME 524,969
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e - BAREREAERGIE 805
Pledged and restricted deposit BT R Z R HITFR 1,021
Cash and bank balances R& RIRITHESS 2,381
Accrued expenses and other payable FEE 5 =2 e EAth FE AT 08 (3.572)
Tax payable JERTRIE (17,935)
Total net assets disposed of EHEFEEMLRE 507,719
Reclassification of exchange reserve to profit or loss BENOoBELFERER 20,621
Less: expenses directly attributable to the disposal W HEBEEEGRX
—legal and professional fee —EEREXER (3,575)
— refurbishment fee (note) — B E A () (26,580)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries BT 8 A Rl S8 (30,253)
Net cash inflow arising from disposal: PEEERBSRAFE
Cash consideration HeRE 487,000
Less: cash and bank balances disposed of W BHERS RIBTER (2,381)
484,619
Note: Pursuant to certain warranties given by the Company under MiE : REBEARANHEEHEAELEE TRE -

the SPA, the Company is under an obligation to maintain the
properties in good condition and working order. However,
certain parts of the properties were found to be dilapidated
and refurbishment work is required to restore the Properties
into good condition (the “Refurbishment Works”). As a result,
the Company agreed to indemnify the purchaser pursuant
to the terms of the SPA for the costs and expenses of the

Refurbishment Works, which is expected to be approximately
GBP3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$26,580,000).
The amount is included in accrued liabilities and other payables

in note 30.

ARNABEBERFZEVENRIT KRR RE
{EIE® - R - ZEMEEETHIEER
EBR  SZPFIRMERSRR((E8FT
1) o Filt - AR BRREREEE B ER
HE A BERFT LROKARAY - BitHA
3E B EEE(HHE R #26,580,00087T) ° Z&
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

45. 21 T B AR R R Ak

2024 2023
—E-mE B4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Non-current assets kREBEE
Interest in subsidiaries RHB AT 2R = -
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R 855 2,417
Right-of-use assets EREEE 2,110 1,067
Other non-current deposits Hib3EmeEiEe 363 -
Other non-current assets HIEmE&EE 6,000 6,000
9,328 9,484
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments  Efth EUFIE ~ 14 M BT ZE 2,581 2,186
Bank balances and cash WITHERNIRS 7,517 3,007
10,098 5,193

Current liabilities b=k
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEFH B & R A A RN FIE 2,629 4,206
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHTB A RIFIA 1,567,684 1,571,112
Lease liabilities HEaE 739 970

1,571,052 1,576,288
Net current liabilities REBAEEFEE (1,560,954) (1,571,095)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABASE (1,551,626) (1,561,611)
Non-current liability FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,506 -
Net liabilities BEFE (1,553,132) (1,561,611)
Capital and reserves BEARRHE
Share capital f& 7 262,501 262,501
Reserves f#E (1,815,633) (1,824,112)
Total deficit B AR (1,553,132) (1,561,611)
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

45, AN B BRI R R e

(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves ERRREEE
Other
Contributed capital
surplus contribution  Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
EfRH HitrE
e it RiER Eak ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TET THL THEL
(Note)
(F3E)
At 1 January 2023 RZZTZ=F—H—H 2,440,726 335,536 (3,237,757) (461,495)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FEEER 2 AR AE
for the year - - (1,362,617) (1,362,617)
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+=f=+—H
1 January 2024 k=—Z-m&—-A—H 2,440,726 335,536 (4,600,374) (1,824,112)
Profit and total comprehensive income  EEFIER 2 ER AL E
for the year - - 8,479 8,479
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mF+=A=1+—A 2,440,726 335,536 (4,591,895) (1,815,633)
Note: The contributed surplus reserve of the Company arose as a MisE : AARERZ BSHEBIEAEE 2 AREHR

result of the same Group reorganisation scheme and represents
the excess of the then combined net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired, over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefor.

sHEImES MIEFMKBRB AR ERZ &%
BEBHARAEAZRMBTHRAZEE

BVERE o

AFZRERAE —T _MFFR
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46. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

During the period from November 2018 to July 2019, two
of the Group’s subsidiaries, namely Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou lJiachi entered into various financial guarantee
contracts with Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd and Bank of Jinzhou
Co, Limited respectively for the bank borrowings of seven
companies which were related to Mr. Dai. The maximum
liabilities guaranteed by Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi as at 31 December 2024 were in aggregate of principal
amounts and interests and default interests of approximately
RMB980,697,000 and approximately RMB4,929,476,000
respectively. At the prevailing time of those financial
guarantee contracts entered into, Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou Jiachi were not subsidiaries of the Company,
but companies indirectly controlled by Mr. Dai. The Group
acquired the entire equity interests in Guangzhou Rongzhi
and Jinzhou Jiachi through the acquisitions of Superb
Power Enterprises Limited and Sky Build Limited respectively
that were completed in April 2021. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the Group became aware of these
financial guarantee contracts when the Group received the
PRC court notices about legal claims during the year ended
31 December 2023. In April and May 2024, the courts had
judged on the claims that Guangzhou Rongzhi and Jinzhou
Jiachi were liable for the loans guaranteed by the Group with
the other guarantors. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised RMB1,116,798,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,187,380,000) (2023: RMB854,262,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$939,688,000)) allowance for impairment
losses on these financial guarantee contracts was based on
the valuation prepared by Messer. International Valuation
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group, which was engaged by the
Company for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
Details of impairment assessment of financial guarantee
contracts are set out in note 38(b).
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46. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

47.

(Continued)

During the course of the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the directors remeasured the expected payments to reimburse
the holder of the guarantees which were not expected to be
recoverable from the borrowers and therefore recorded a loss
of RMB303,744,000 (equivalent to HK$329,289,000) (2023:
RMB267,264,000 (equivalent to HK$295,321,000)) in the
profit or loss.

46. IEIEREN )

EREEE_T_NF+_A=1T—HLFE
MERAMEHRERBEY  EFENIERZLN

fERAME TR AT

BiE R

IR IB IR P B8RS 518 A R #5303,744,0007T (48
E10329,289,0008 ) (ZE==F : AR¥
267,264,0007C (FHE #2295,321,000/87T) ) °

2024 2023

—E-ME —ECF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At 1 January K—H—H 939,688 664,394
Add: impairment recognised for the year e FARRRORIE 329,289 295,321
Less: repayment B (44,674) -
Exchange realignment PE 3 AR (36,923) (20,027)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 1,187,380 939,688

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
to the current year's presentation.

47. Lk BE E
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48. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In January 2025, the Group through a subsidiary, Hongrong
Investment Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., made payment
of RMB236,200,000 (the “Payment”) in response to the
enforcement notice and/or judgment orders granted by
the PRC courts in respect of the guarantee liabilities of
Guangzhou Rongzhi with respect to the loans of Shenyang
Ruifan Public Facilities Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenyang
Ruifan”) and Shenyang Shenghe Public Facilities Management
Co., Ltd. ("Shenyang Shenghe"”) under the abovementioned
litigation claims by Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. as disclosed in
the announcements dated 14 July 2023, 26 July 2023, 20
March 2024, 30 April 2024, 30 July 2024 and 16 August
2024.

The Payment was made by the Group taking into account (i)
that Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. has issued letters of chasers
to Guangzhou Rongzhi on fulfilment of its guarantee
obligations; (ii) the advice from the PRC counsel about
the potential risks that the Company might be exposed to
(including potential enforcement actions such as freezing
orders on the operating rights of the shopping malls owned
by Guangzhou Rongzhi) if it fails to comply with the letters of
chasers, enforcement notices and/or judgment orders in time;
and (iii) a consensus with the other five borrowers, namely
Liaoning Renhe Xintiandi Public Facilities Management
Co., Ltd., Shenyang Shenghe, Shenyang Ruifan, Shenyang
Huangchang Diyi Dadao Public Facilities Management Co.,
Ltd. and Shenyang Fandeng Diyi Dadao Public Facilities
Management Co., Ltd., that Guangzhou Rongzhi will be
relieved of any remaining debt responsibilities after the
Payment.

The Company and Guangzhou Rongzhi are in the process of
negotiating with relevant parties on potential settlement of
the Group’s contingent liabilities arising from its guarantee
obligations and the actual damage(s) that it has suffered or
will suffer as a result of the Payment. In case the parties fail
to reach any form of agreement, the Company will consider
taking actions, including legal actions against any of the Five
Borrowers, Mr. Dai and other relevant parties as appropriate.
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Five-year Financial Summary

IFHHHME

The consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the ~ AEEBEA RAETKEHREHRECGEEE - EEN
last five financial reporting periods as extracted from the audited — Bf{& (it A A EBLCEZLR A BEHER) BT
consolidated financial statements of the Group are summarised

below:
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=+—HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EoNE —T-o=F T -F T —F ZZTTF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHT FT FHT
RESULTS E
Revenue and net investment  URzs M & U zS,”
gains/(losses) (E518)F8 120,548 211,786 159,227 310,066 18,754
Loss for the year FEEIE (759,743) (1,169,257) (1,455,401) (441,377) (27,234)
Attributable to: AR AT FE(S -
Owners of the Company EAN/NSIETZS DN (760,267) (1,167,985) (1,454,890)  (440,801) (26,782)
Non-controlling interests FEIER = 524 (1,272) (511) (576) (452)
(759,743) (1,169,257) (1,455,401)  (441,377) (27,234)
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EoNE —To=F T -F ZT-—F ZTFTF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHT FT FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets BEE 1,770,489 2,556,797 3,610,617 4,682,783 2,493,696
Total liabilities wmaE (3.506,921) (3,523,596) (3,388,049) (2,969,593)  (386,947)
Net (liabilities)/assets F(ak) EE (1.736,432)  (966,799) 222,568 1,713,190 2,106,749
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Particulars of Properties

Al AN/
MEFIE
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Attributable interest of
Location Usage Tenure the Group
o3k Rz FH AEBAELERS
2024 2023
—EoNE —EC=F
The Anyang Shopping Mall Shopping Mall for rental and/ The operation rights 100% 100%
located in Jiefang Avenue, or property management are held for a term of
Beiguan District, Anyang City, services income 40 years.
Henan Province, the PRC
SRR B A 5 h REKERIES R IWEEE  ZSERERIOF -
HERBRREZ ZEEYTL BREWARNEYS L
Portions of Jinzhou First Tunnel  Shopping Mall for rental and/ The operation rights 100% 100%
Shopping Mall, Zhongyang or property management are held for 40 years.
Avenue, Linghe District, Jinzhou services income
City, Liaoning Province, the PRC
MRPEEERRMTETE  AERRES R IEER LR R0F -
HR KT 2 81 3 — K38 PR AH BB B 0
BT LA
Portions of Phase | of Guangzhou Shopping Mall for rental and/ The land use rights 100% 100%
First Tunnel Shopping Mall located  or property management have been granted
at the junction of Zhangian Road services income for a term of 40
and Zhannan Road, Yuexiu District, years expiring on 11
Guangzhou City, Guangdong December 2046 for
Province, the PRC commercial/services
and special uses.
MRPEEREEMNTESE  ABERDRES R IWEEE EEOTERERL
A BK ER AR R AN BB 2 PR AH BB P 0 F - BRZZHREF
BNt —ARE B 0 —HED T-At+—REW -
FRREE /RS &
FrIR R
Portions of Phase Il of Guangzhou Shopping Mall for rental and/ The operation rights 100% 100%
First Tunnel Shopping Mall located  or property management are held for a term of
at the junction of Zhangian Road services income not less than 40 years.
and Zhannan Road, Yuexiu District,
Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
URFEEREENTEER AERRESR IDEERE ZEERATORME -
S0t i S B e B AR B PR AHIEE PR
BN —RERE YO S
6 Buckingham Gate & Residential premises for rental ~ Freehold interest = 100%
Flats 1,2, 3 &5 at and/or capital appreciation

7-9 Buckingham Gate, London,
United Kingdom
REREES &, ERIEE
MEEZE
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